
 

 

 

 

 

March 14, 2018 

 

Ms. Kirsten Walli 
Ontario Energy Board 
P.O. Box 2319 
2300 Yonge Street, 27th Floor 
Toronto, Ontario 
M4P 1E4 
 
RE:   Application under section 86 of the OEB Act, 1998 to amalgamate WCHEI and ETPL  
 Board File No:  EB-2018-0082 
 
Dear Ms. Walli, 
 
Please find enclosed two copies of an application of Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation (“ETPL”) and 
West Coast Huron Energy Inc. (“WCHEI”) seeking leave to amalgamate WHCHI into ETPL under section 
86 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998 (Ontario) and related relief. 
 
As the Board is aware, we submitted an original application on January 23 and subsequent amendments 
on February 8 which were intended to request the consolidation of ETPL and WCHEI via an 
amalgamation of WCHEI into ETPL.  After receiving feedback from Board staff, we wish to submit a 
complete new application to clarify the relief being requested.  In particular, we have removed all 
references to “LDC Co” to avoid confusion that a new legal entity was required in respect of this 
application.  As reflected in the attached application, the parties are requesting that the Board approve 
the amalgamation of WCHEI into ETPL and the subsequent amendment of ETPL’s distribution license to 
include WCHEI’s service territory. 
 
The complete application will be submitted electronically today via the Board’s web portal. Two hard 
copies of this submission are being sent to the Board via courier. 
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If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact us. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
______________________________    ______________________________ 
 
Graig Pettit       Larry McCabe 
Director, Regulatory – Finance & Customer Relations  President 
Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation    West Coast Huron Energy Inc. 
Phone:  (519) 485-1820 Ext 254     Phone:  (519) 524-8344 
Email:  oeb@eriethamespower.com    lmccabe@goderich.ca 
 
 
cc: Chris White, President – Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation 
 Tyler Moore, Legal Counsel to the Parties  

mailto:oeb@eriethamespower.com
mailto:lmccabe@goderich.ca
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EB-2018-0082 

REVISED 

 

IN THE MATTER OF Sections 86 and 18 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, 
S.O. 1998, c.15, Sched. B, as amended; and  

AND IN THE MATTER OF an application for the relief necessary to effect the 
amalgamation of West Coast Huron Energy Inc. into Erie Thames Powerlines 
Corporation in the manner set out in this Application.  

 

APPLICATION FILED:  

March 14, 2018  

 

Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation  West Coast Huron Energy Inc. 
143 Bell Street, Ingersoll, ON    57 West Street, Goderich ON 
N5C 3K5       N7A 2K5 

Chris White      Larry McCabe 
President & CEO     President 

Tel.: 519-485-1820 Ext:235    Tel: 519-524-8344 
chris.white@erthcorp.com    lmccabe@goderich.ca 

Tyler J. Moore, LL.B. 
486 Princess Avenue, London, ON 
N6B 2B6  

Tyler Moore 
Counsel to the Applicants 

Tel: 226-926-8654 
tyler.moore@erthcorp.com 
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MAPPING OF APPLICATION TO HANDBOOK FILING REQUIREMENTS 

*Handbook refers to the Handbook to Electricity Distributor and Transmitter Consolidations, 
January 19, 2016.  

  Filing Requirements Reference 

2.1 Index Index Exhibit A, Tab 1, 
Schedule 1 

2.2 Application    Exhibit B 
2.2.1 
Administrative     

  Certification of the Evidence  Exhibit B, Tab 1, 
Schedule 1 

  Details of the authorized representative of the applicant/s, including the 
name, phone and fax numbers, and email and delivery addresses  

Exhibit B, Tab 3, 
Schedule 1, 
Attachment 1 

  Legal name of the other party or parties to the transaction, if not an 
applicant  

Exhibit B, Tab 3, 
Schedule 1, 
Attachment 1 

  
Details of the authorized representative of the other party or parties to 
the transaction, including the name, phone and fax numbers, and email 
and delivery addresses  

Exhibit B, Tab 3, 
Schedule 1, 
Attachment 1 

  Brief description of the nature of the transaction for which approval of 
the OEB is sought by the applicant or applicants  

Exhibit B, Tab 2, 
Schedule 1 

2.2.2 Description 
of the Business 
of the Parties to 
the Transaction  

    

  

Describe the business of each of the parties to the proposed 
transaction, including each of their electricity sector affiliates engaged 
in, or providing goods or services to anyone engaged in, the generation, 
transmission, distribution or retailing of electricity.  

Exhibit B, Tab 3, 
Schedule 2;   

  

Describe the geographic territory served by each of the parties to the 
proposed transaction, including each of their affiliates, if applicable, 
noting whether service area boundaries are contiguous or if not the 
relative distance between service boundaries.  

Exhibit B, Tab 3, 
Schedule 3, 
Attachments 2-3  

  Describe the customers, including the number of customers in each 
class, served by each of the parties to the proposed transaction.  

Exhibit B, Tab 3, 
Schedule 4  

  Describe the proposed geographic service area of each of the parties 
after completion of the proposed transaction.  

Exhibit B, Tab 3, 
Schedule 5, 
Attachments 4 

  
Provide a corporate chart describing the relationship between each of 
the parties to the proposed transaction and each of their respective 
affiliates.  

Exhibit B, Tab 3, 
Schedule 2 
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  Filing Requirements Reference 
   

If the proposed transaction involves the consolidation of two or more 
distributors, please indicate the current net metering thresholds of the 
utilities involved in the proposed transaction. The OEB will, in the absence 
of exceptional circumstances, add together the kW threshold amounts 
allocated to the individual utilities and assign the sum to the new or 
remaining utility. Applicants must indicate if there are any special 
circumstances that may warrant the OEB using a different methodology to 
determine the net metering threshold for the new or remaining utility.  

 
Exhibit B, Tab 3, 
Schedule 6 

2.2.3 Description 
of the Proposed 
Transaction  

    

  Provide a detailed description of the proposed transaction.  Exhibit B, Tab 4, 
Schedule 1  

  
Provide a clear statement on the leave being sought by the applicant, 
referencing the particular section or sections of the Ontario Energy Board 
Act, 1998.  

Exhibit B, Tab 2, 
Schedule 1  

  Provide details of the consideration (e.g. cash, assets, shares) to be given 
and received by each of the parties to the proposed transaction.  

Exhibit B, Tab 4, 
Schedule 2 

  Provide all final legal documents to be used to implement the proposed 
transaction.  

Exhibit B, Tab 4, 
Schedule 3 

  

Provide a copy of appropriate resolutions by parties such as parent 
companies, municipal council/s, or any other entities that are required to 
approve a proposed transaction confirming that all these parties have 
approved the proposed transaction.  

Exhibit B, Tab 4, 
Schedule 4, 
Attachment 6 

2.2.4 Impact of 
the Proposed 
Transaction  

    

Objective 1 - 
Protect 
consumers with 
respect to prices 
and the adequacy, 
reliability and 
quality of 
electricity service  

    

  
Indicate the impact the proposed transaction will have on consumers with 
respect to prices and the adequacy, reliability and quality of electricity 
service.  

Exhibit B, Tab 5, 
Schedule 1  

  
Provide a year over year comparative cost structure analysis for the 
proposed transaction, comparing the costs of the utilities post transaction 
and in the absence of the transaction.  

Exhibit B, Tab 5, 
Schedule 2  

  Provide a comparison of the OM&A cost per customer per year between 
the consolidating distributors.  

Exhibit B, Tab 5, 
Schedule 3  

  
Confirm whether the proposed transaction will cause a change of control 
of any of the transmission or distribution system assets, at any time, 
during or by the end of the transaction.  

Exhibit B, Tab 5, 
Schedule 4  

  Describe how the distribution or transmission systems within the service 
areas will be operated.  

Exhibit B, Tab 5, 
Schedule 5 
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  Filing Requirements Reference 
Objective 2 - 
Promote 
economic 
efficiency and cost 
effectiveness and 
to facilitate the 
maintenance of a 
financially viable 
electricity industry  

    

  Indicate the impact that the proposed transaction will have on economic 
efficiency and cost effectiveness (in the distribution or transmission of 
electricity), identifying the various aspects of utility operations where the 
applicant expects sustained operational efficiencies (both quantitative and 
qualitative).  

Exhibit B, Tab 6, 
Schedule 1  

  Identify all incremental costs that the parties to the proposed transaction 
expect to incur which may include incremental transaction costs (e.g. 
legal, regulatory), incremental merged costs (e.g. employee severances), 
and incremental on-going costs (e.g. purchase and maintenance of new 
IT systems). Explain how the consolidated entity intends to finance these 
costs.  

Exhibit B, Tab 6, 
Schedule 2 

  Provide a valuation of any assets or shares that will be transferred in the 
proposed transaction. Describe how this value was determined.  

Exhibit B, Tab 6, 
Schedule 3  

  If the price paid as part of the proposed transaction is more than the book 
value of the assets of the selling utility, provide details as to why this price 
will not have an adverse effect on the financial viability of the acquiring 
utility.  

Not Applicable  

  Provide details of the financing of the proposed transaction.  Exhibit B, Tab 6, 
Schedule 4  

  Provide financial statements (including balance sheet, income statement, 
and cash flow statement) of the parties to the proposed transaction for the 
past two most recent years.  

Exhibit B, Tab 6, 
Schedule 5, 
Attachments 7-
10  

  Provide pro forma financial statements for each of the parties (or if an 
amalgamation, the consolidated entity) for the first full year following the 
completion of the proposed transaction.  

Exhibit B, Tab 6, 
Schedule 6, 
Attachment 11 

2.2.5 Description 
of the Proposed 
Transaction  

    

  Indicate a specific deferred rate rebasing period that has been chosen.  Exhibit B, Tab 7, 
Schedule 1  

  For deferred rebasing periods greater than five years, confirm that the 
ESM will be as required by the 2015 Report and the Handbook  

Exhibit B, Tab 7, 
Schedule 2  

  If the applicant’s proposed ESM is different from the ESM set out in the 
2015 Report, the applicant must provide evidence to demonstrate the 
benefit to the customers of the acquired distributor  

Not Applicable  
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  Filing Requirements Reference 
2.2.6 Other 
Related Matters  

    

  a) Implementation of new or the extension of existing rate orders  Exhibit B, Tab 8, 
Schedule 1  

  b) Transfer of rate order and licence  Exhibit B, Tab 8, 
Schedule 1  

  c) Licence amendment and cancellation  Exhibit B, Tab 8, 
Schedule 1  

  d) Approval to continue to track costs to the deferral and variance 
accounts currently approved by the OEB  

Exhibit B, Tab 8, 
Schedule 1  

  e) Approval to use different accounting standards for financial reporting 
following the closing of the proposed transaction  

Exhibit B, Tab 8, 
Schedule 1  
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CERTIFICATION OF EVIDENCE 

The undersigned, the President and CEO of Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation, in my 
capacity as an officer of that corporation and without personal liability, hereby certify, to the best 
of my knowledge, as at the date of certification, that the evidence in this Application is accurate, 
consistent and complete.  

 

_____________________________ 

Chris White, President & CEO 
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CERTIFICATION OF EVIDENCE 

The undersigned, the President and CEO of West Coast Huron Energy Inc., in my capacity as 
an officer of that corporation and without personal liability, hereby certify, to the best of my 
knowledge, as at the date of certification, that the evidence in this Application is accurate, 
consistent and complete.  

 

_____________________________ 

Larry McCabe, President 
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APPLICATION 

1.0 INTRODUCTION  

This is an application (“Application”) to the Ontario Energy Board (“OEB” or the “Board”) for the 
relief necessary to effect the amalgamation of West Coast Huron Energy Inc. (“WCHEI”) into 
Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation (“ETPL”) to create a single local distribution company.  It is 
the Parties’ intention that WCHEI will be merged into ETPL in that (i) the articles of amalgama-
tion for LDC Co will in substance contain the provisions of the articles of incorporation of ETPL 
and (ii) WCHEI’s distribution license will be transferred to ETPL and subsequently merged with 
ETPL’s distribution license no later than one hundred and twenty (120) days following approval 
of this Application.   

This Application is the culmination of a long-standing relationship and shared service arrange-
ments between the Applicants.  In particular, ETPL and its holding company, ERTH Corporation 
(“ERTH”) and its competitive affiliates have provided a variety of services to WCHEI since 2002.  

The specific items of relief are discussed in Section 3.0 of this schedule below. 

The Application follows the Filing Requirements contained in the Board’s January 19, 2016 
Handbook to Electricity Distributor and Transmitter Consolidations (the “Handbook”). The map-
ping of the Application’s contents to the Handbook’s Filing Requirements is provided in Exhibit 
A, Tab 1, Schedule 2.  

The Application adheres to the Board’s March 26, 2015 Report on Rate-Making Associated with 
Distributor Consolidation (the “Consolidation Policy”) and to the Board’s Handbook.  

For the purposes of this Application, WCHEI and ETPL will be collectively referred to as the 
“Applicants” and the “Parties”. 

The “No Harm” Test  

The Applicants had prime consideration for the “no harm” test used by the OEB in adjudicating 
Mergers, Acquisitions, Amalgamations and Divestitures (“MAADs”) applications made under 
Section 86 of the OEB Act to ensure that the proposed transaction would not have an adverse 
effect relative to the status quo of each of the Parties and their customers in keeping with the 
OEB’s statutory objectives. In fact, as demonstrated by this Application, it is the intention of the 
Applicants that the proposed amalgamation of WCHEI and ETPL provide a material benefit to 
their customers. The Applicants submit that the proposed amalgamation will not have an ad-
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verse effect in terms of the factors identified in the Board’s objectives in section 1 of the OEB 
Act. Rather, as can be seen in Exhibit B, Tab 5, Schedule 2 (in which the Applicants have pro-
vided a comparison of the cost structure among the Parties, status quo versus post consolida-
tion), it is anticipated that customers will benefit from the proposed transaction. Accordingly, the 
Applicants submit that the proposed consolidation meets the OEB’s “no harm” test.  

In particular, as will be seen from the evidence in the Application:  

• The proposed transaction will positively impact the customers of the Parties with respect to 
price and the adequacy, reliability, and quality of electricity service. Over the course of the 
nine year rebasing deferral period, customers will benefit from distribution rates that are lower 
than they would have been had the status quo of two independent LDCs been maintained;  

• ETPL will continue to promote electricity conservation and demand management; 

• ETPL will continue to facilitate the implementation of a smart grid in Ontario; 

• ETPL will continue to promote the use and generation of electricity from renewable sources 
and will continue to reinforce the distribution systems throughout its service territories in order 
to accommodate the connection of renewable energy generation facilities; 

• Once the consolidation is completed and the businesses are integrated, ETPL expects to be 
compliant with all OEB Codes, Distribution Licences, IESO Market Rules and statutes and 
regulations; 

• The Parties have willingly come together to consolidate ETPL and WCHEI. The transactions 
demonstrate the benefits contemplated by voluntary consolidation within the electricity sector 
in Ontario. Although these transactions will result in some transaction and transition costs, the 
Applicants anticipate realizing real cost synergies and operational efficiencies, as well as 
benefits from economies of scale;  

• The Board has acknowledged that “consolidation also enables distributors to address chal-
lenges in an evolving electricity industry.” The proposed consolidation will also promote the 
objectives of the OEB’s Renewed Regulatory Framework for Electricity Distributors – A Per-
formance Based Approach.  

• ETPL, ERTH and its competitive affiliates have been assisting WCHEI for over 15 years by 
providing a variety of services and support (including Billing, Hosting, Engineering, Manage-
ment, and Consulting services).  The proposed consolidation of WCHEI and ETPL is there-
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fore a natural progression of the Parties close relationship, and WCHEI’s customers will ben-
efit from the new care and control relationship with ERTH and the additional resources able 
to service WCHEI’s distribution system.  

It is therefore the Applicants’ respectful submission that the amalgamation proposed in this Ap-
plication clearly meets the Board’s “no harm” test.  

LDC Profiles 

WCHEI is an electricity distribution company, regulated by the OEB. It provides electricity to ap-
proximately 3,745 residential, commercial and industrial customers in the Town of Goderich.  
WCHEI is wholly-owned by the Town of Goderich.  WCHEI has no affiliates.  A more detailed 
description of WCHEI’s service territory and customer base is set out Exhibit B, Tab 3, Sched-
ules 2-4. 

ETPL is an electricity distribution company, regulated by the OEB. It provides electricity to ap-
proximately 19,156 residential, commercial and industrial customers in the communities of Port 
Stanley, Aylmer, Belmont, Ingersoll, Thamesford, Otterville, Norwich, Burgessville, Beachville, 
Embro, Tavistock, Mitchell, Dublin and Clinton.  

ETPL is wholly-owned by ERTH, a municipal holding company which is wholly-owned by eight 
municipalities, including: Town of Ingersoll, Township of East Zorra – Tavistock, Township of 
Zorra, Municipality of Central Elgin, Township of South-West Oxford, Town of Aylmer, Munici-
pality of West Perth, and Township of Norwich. ERTH’s businesses and corporate structure, in-
cluding ETPL’s service territory, customers and non-regulated affiliates are described in greater 
detail in Exhibit B, Tab 3, Schedules 2-4.  

2.0 OVERVIEW OF THE APPLICATION  

Subject to approval, the consolidation proposed in this Application will be implemented by way 
of two transactions that will occur sequentially but one right after the other and will culminate in 
a single distributor carrying on business as a single corporation. In particular, the consolidation 
will involve a two-part transaction:  

1. ERTH and the Town of Goderich have executed a share purchase agreement pursuant to 
which ERTH will acquire all of the shares of WCHEI.  In return, the Town of Goderich will re-
ceive shares in ERTH; and 
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2. Immediately upon the closing of the transaction above, WCHEI and ETPL will be amalga-

mated via a short-form amalgamation under section 177(2) of the Business Corporations Act 
(Ontario). The articles of amalgamation for the merged entity will in substance contain the 
provisions of the articles of incorporation of ETPL. 

The legal agreements implementing the proposed transaction (described in Exhibit B, Tab 4, 
Schedule 3) contemplates the transaction closing to occur within 30 days following the date on 
which OEB approval is obtained and other closing conditions have been satisfied or waived.  

The consolidation proposed in this Application also involves: 

1. the transfer of WCHEI’s Electricity Distribution Licence to ETPL upon approval of this Applica-
tion, and 

2. no later than 120 days following such approval, the amendment of ETPL’s Electricity Distribu-
tion Licence to include the WCHEI service area (and the cancellation of the license of 
WCHEI.) 

3. Rates within the historical ETPL area will continue until a decision in EB-2018-0082.  ETPL 
will continue the current rates for the customers of WCHEI. 

Other Matters  

ETPL‘s rebasing will be deferred for a period of nine years following the completion of the con-
solidation. The Applicants intend for ETPL to integrate the distribution systems of the predeces-
sor distributors following the completion of the consolidation, and during the rebasing deferral 
period.  

3.0 OEB APPROVALS SOUGHT  

The relief requested by the Applicants is the following:  

1. Proposed Transactions:  

(a) leave for WCHEI and ETPL to amalgamate and continue as a corporation, pursuant to 
Section 86(1)(c) of the OEB Act;  

(b) leave for WCHEI to transfer its distribution systems to ETPL pursuant to Section 86(1)(a) 
of the OEB Act;  
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(c) leave for WCHEI to transfer its distribution licenses and rate orders to ETPL, pursuant to 
Section 18 of the OEB Act; and 

(d) the amendment of the distribution licence for ETPL under Section 18 of the OEB Act to 
include the service area of WCHEI no later than 120 days after the approval of this Ap-
plication (to be followed immediately by the cancellation of the distribution licence of 
WCHEI.) 

(e) Such necessary rate orders to transfer the existing WCHEI rate orders to ETPL.   

The Applicants intend to maintain all distribution activities, including applicable licences and 
rate orders in ETPL.  

2. Deferred Rebasing:  

(a) The Applicants confirm that they have chosen to defer ETPL’s rebasing for nine years from 
the date of closing the last of the proposed transactions, consistent with the Board’s March 
26, 2015 Report on Rate- Making Associated with Distributor Consolidation (the “Consolida-
tion Policy”) and with the Handbook.  

(b) The Applicants have relied upon the guidance in the Consolidation Policy and in the Hand-
book in the structuring of the transaction. The Handbook states that “Consolidating entities 
that propose to defer rebasing beyond five years, must implement an [Earnings Sharing 
Mechanism (“ESM”)] for the period beyond five years.” (Handbook, p.16)  

(c) The ESM proposed by the Applicants for years six to nine of the rebasing deferral period in 
this Application is consistent with the Consolidation Policy which states that the ESM:  

“would be implemented if the consolidated entity’s ROE was greater than 300 bps above 
the allowed ROE as set out under the incentive regulation policy. The ESM will be based 
on a 50:50 sharing of excess earnings with consumers.” (Consolidation Policy, p. 12)  

(d) The regulatory net income will be calculated, for the purpose of earnings sharing, in the 
same manner as net income for regulatory purposes under the Board’s Reporting and Rec-
ord Keeping Requirements (“RRRs”). The Applicants expect that the computation of the 
ROE will exclude revenue and expenses that are not otherwise included for regulatory pur-
poses.  
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Pursuant to the Handbook, issues related to rate making for ETPL’s service areas, including the 
treatment of any ESM, Capital Variance and/or Efficiency Adjustments, are matters for future 
rate applications and are not in scope for this Application, subject to the comments below re-
garding the treatment of existing rate orders and rate riders.  

3. Post-Closing Distribution Rate Issues:  

As identified above, the Applicants are requesting that the rate orders of WCHEI be transferred 
to ETPL following the completion of the consolidation. Both of WCHEI and ETPL have a rate 
order that contains a number of rate riders established in order to dispose of balances in speci-
fied deferral and variance accounts. Certain riders will expire on dates determined in the Or-
der(s) of the Board by which the riders were established. Others will be in place until the appli-
cable distributor’s next rebasing;   

The Applicants provide in Attachment 12 their OEB approved and proposed rate orders. 

The Applicants are requesting approval to continue to track costs to the regulatory asset ac-
counts currently approved by the Board for each of ETPL and WCHEI and to seek disposition of 
their balances at a future date.  

For the Board’s information, each of ETPL and WCHEI has transitioned to IFRS for financial ac-
counting purposes, and ETPL, following amalgamation, will also be using IFRS.  

4.0 FORM OF HEARING  

Under the Board’s Rules of Practice and Procedure, the Board may hold an oral, electronic or 
written hearing. ETPL applied to the Board with respect to the similar transactions effecting the 
consolidation of ETPL with West Perth Power Inc. and Clinton Power Corporation (EB-2009-
0156, EB-2009-0157 and EB-2010-0386).  In each case, these applications were approved by 
the OEB via a written hearing.  The Applicants hereby request that this Application also be 
heard by way of a written hearing.  
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ADMINISTRATIVE - IDENTIFICATION OF THE PARTIES 

Please see Attachment 1 which sets out the following information, as provided in Section 2.2.1 
of the OEB’s Filing Requirements for Consolidation Applications:  
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DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS OF THE PARTIES TO THE TRANSACTION 

This schedule provides a detailed description of each of the Parties to the transaction including 
a discussion of the electricity distribution operations and the activities of their affiliates.  

West Coast Huron Energy Inc. 

West Coast Huron Energy Inc. (“WCHEI”) owns and is responsible for the operation, 
maintenance and management of the assets associated with the distribution of electrical power 
in the Town of Goderich.  Its service territory is specified in Distribution Licence ED-2001-0510, 
a copy of which is available on the Board’s website. West Coast Huron Energy Inc. serves 
approximately 3,745 customers.  

Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation 

Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation (“ETPL”) owns and is responsible for the operation, 
maintenance and management of the assets associated with the distribution of electrical power 
in the communities of Aylmer, Port Stanley, Belmont, Ingersoll, Thamesford, Otterville, Norwich, 
Burgessville, Beachville, Embro, Tavistock, Clinton, Mitchell, and Dublin.  Its service territory is 
specified in Distribution Licence ED-2002-0516, a copy of which is available on the Board’s 
website. Erie Thames Power Corp. serves approximately 19,156 customers.  

ERTH Corporation 

ETPL is a wholly-owned subsidiary of ERTH Corporation (“ERTH), a holding company owned 
by eight Ontario municipalities.  ERTH is responsible for the oversight of ETPL and competitive 
subsidiaries. The Applicant also provides shared corporate services to ETPL and its electricity 
sector affiliates, which include the following:  

ERTH Inc. 

ERTH Inc. is a wholly-owned non-regulated holding company that does not conduct 
business but is the sole owner of ERTH’s operating competitive businesses, including 
ERTH (Holdings) Inc. and ERTH Business Technologies Inc. 

ERTH (Holdings) Inc.  

ERTH (Holdings) Inc. (“EHI”) provides the following competitive services to the utility and 
municipal sectors within Ontario: 
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• Utility and power line construction and maintenance for utilities, generators, 
municipalities, developers and other electricity customers 

• Traffic and street lighting services for municipalities and developers 

• High voltage and low voltage services, including substation inspection, maintenance 
and repair, for utilities, generators and large customers.  

• Meter Service Provider (MSP) services for wholesale market participants, including 
utilities, generators and large end user; 

• Testing, verification and sealing of electricity meters for utilities and sub-metering 
providers; 

• Electricity, water and sewer billing for utilities and municipalities, including billing 
software implementation and hosting services, bill print and stuffing services, and 
customer information system support.  

EHI has also internally developed and commercialized an estimating and job 
management software tool, Quadra, which has utility and other customers in Ontario 
California, Illinois, North Dakota, Washington, Colorado, Michigan, New Hampshire, New 
York, Pennsylvania, Maryland, Ohio, Kentucky, North Carolina, Louisiana, British Virgin 
Islands, and Australia. 

 ERTH Business Technologies Inc.  

ERTH Business Technologies Inc. (“EBT”) provides the hub and spoke and electronic 
business transaction services to electricity utilities and retailers in Ontario.  EBT also 
provides retail billing services to gas and electricity customers in Ontario and various  
U.S. states, including New York, New jersey, Ohio, Pennsylvania, Maryland, 
Massachusetts, and Illinois. 

Figure 1 below shows the corporate chart for ERTH and ETPL.  
Figure 1 
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GEOGRAPHIC TERRITORY SERVED BY THE PARTIES TO THE TRANSACTION 

The geographic territory for each of the Parties is described in detail in the distribution licences  
referenced in Exhibit B, Tab 3, Schedule 2.   

A map of WCHEI’s service area is provided as Attachment 2.  WCHEI’s service area is 
generally contiguous within the Town of Goderich and serviced by its operations centre located 
at 240 Huckins Street in the town of Goderich. 

A map of ETPL’s service area is provided as Attachment 3.  The 14 communities within ETPL’s 
service territory are non-contiguous. The boundaries for each of ETPL’s 14 communities served 
are generally coincident to the town boundaries themselves.  ETPL’s service territory is 
currently served by 3 regional service centres.  

•  North – 3276 Perth County Rd 180, Staffa,  west of Mitchell; 

• Central - 143 Bell Street, Ingersoll; and 

• South - 280 Elm Street, Aylmer. 

Despite the non-contiguous nature of ETPL’s service territory, these communities have always 
been effectively served by ETPL. 
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DESCRIPTION OF THE CUSTOMERS 

Figure 2 provides the number of customers by customer class for each of the Parties: 
 

 
  

 

ETPL WCHE Total
Residential 16,987         3,234            20,221          
GS<50 2,006            461                2,467            
GS>50 162               49                  211               
Large Use 1                   1                    2                    
Unmetered Scattered Load 128               4                    132               
Sentinel Lighting 243               8                    251               
Street Lighting 5,998            1,298            7,296            
Embedded Distributor 4                   -                4                    
Total 25,529         5,055            30,584          

Number of Customers/ConnectionsCustomer Class
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GEOGRAPHIC SERVICE AREA - POST TRANSACTION 

Attachment 4 shows a map of the proposed service area for ETPL following consolidation.  In 
addition, Attachment 4 shows the distances and drive times to each community served by the 
proposed service centres in the North, Central and South regions between the non-contiguous 
service boundaries served by ETPL following the amalgamation with WCHEI..  

Consistent with the nature of ETPL’s existing service territory, the new amalgamated service 
territory will also be non-contiguous. WCHEI’s service area is approximately 20 kilometres from 
the northernmost point of ETPL’s service territory (Clinton). While there is some geographic 
advantage as a result of contiguity, the Applicants expect to leverage operational efficiencies 
across the entire service area by utilizing the following three service centres to service the area 
of ETPL post-amalgamation as divided into three regions:  

• North - 240 Huckins Street, Goderich; 

• Central - 143 Bell Street, Ingersoll; and 

• South - 280 Elm Street, Aylmer. 
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NET METERING THRESHOLDS 

The current net metering thresholds (“NMT”) of WCHEI and ETPL are set out in Figure 3 below.  
Also set out below is the summation of the NMT for ETPL following the amalgamation.  There 
are no special circumstances to the Applicants’ knowledge that would warrant the OEB using a 
different methodology to determine the net metering threshold for each utility.  

It is noted that the Ontario’s new net metering regulation, Ontario Regulation 541/05 – Net 
Metering came into force effective July 1, 2017.  The Applicants recognize that the applicability 
of the noted total net metering threshold may be impacted by this new regulation. 

 

 

Figure 3 

 

LDC kW 
Threshold 

ETPL 827 
WCHEI 267 
Total 1094 

 

 



  EB-2018-0082 
 Erie Thames Powerlines and West Coast Huron Energy - s.86 (MAADs) Application 

  Exhibit B 
  Tab 4 
  Schedule 1 
  Filed: March 14, 2018 
  Page 1 of 1 
DESCRIPTION OF THE TRANSACTION 

The Applicants are proposing a series of transactions that will result in the amalgamation of 
WCHEI and ETPL and the consolidation of their respective businesses into a single distributor. 

Subject to Board approval, the consolidation proposed in this Application will be implemented by 
way of a two transactions that will culminate in a single distributor carrying on business as a 
single corporation. In particular, the consolidation will involve a two-part transaction:  

1. ERTH and the Town of Goderich have executed a share purchase agreement (Attachment 
5) pursuant to which ERTH will acquire all of the shares of WCHEI.  In return, the Town of 
Goderich will receive shares in ERTH; and 

Immediately upon the closing of the transaction above, WCHEI and ETPL will be amalgamated 
via a short-form amalgamation under section 177(2) of the Business Corporations Act (Ontario).  
The articles of amalgamation for the amalgamated entity will in substance contain the provisions 
of the articles of incorporation of ETPL.   

The legal agreements implementing the proposed transaction (described in Exhibit B, Tab 4, 
Schedule 3) contemplates the transaction closing to occur within 30 days following the date on 
which OEB approval is obtained and other closing conditions have been satisfied or waived. 

The consolidation proposed in this Application also involves (i) the transfer of WCHEI’s 
Electricity Distribution Licence to ETPL upon approval of this Application, and (ii) no later than 
120 days following such approval, the amendment of ETPL’s Electricity Distribution Licence to 
include the WCHEI service area (and the cancellation of the license of WCHEI.)  
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DETAILS OF CONSIDERATION 

As consideration for the shares of WCHEI, the Town of Goderich will receive one equal voting 
share and 6,095,924 non-voting common shares in the Applicant (representing a relative 
economic ownership position in the Applicant of 22.5%).  

Upon completion of the proposed transaction, the share ownership percentage of ERTH will be 
as follows (notwithstanding and required adjustments); 

• Town of Ingersoll       30.2% 

• Town of Goderich    22.5% 

• Town of Aylmer    15.0% 

• Municipality of West Perth   6.2% 

• Municipality of Central Elgin  7.2% 

• Township of Norwich   6.8% 

• Township of East Zorra Tavistock  5.0% 

• Township of Southwest Oxford  1.7% 

• Township of Zorra    5.4% 

ERTH will in turn own 100% of LDC Co. 
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LEGAL AGREEMENTS TO IMPLEMENT THE TRANSACTION  

The terms and conditions under which the Applicants will achieve the amalgamation of WCHEI 
and ETPL are set out in the following agreements: 

• A Share Purchase Agreement (“SPA”) sets out the terms and conditions under which the 
shares of WCHEI will be acquired by ERTH. The SPA is provided as Attachment 5. The SPA 
has been redacted to remove any “personal information” within the meaning of the Freedom 
of Information and Protection of Privacy Act (Ontario) (“FIPPA”) and pursuant to Section 42 of 
that Act such information should not be released publicly.  
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RESOLUTIONS APPROVING THE TRANSACTION  

Copies of the Resolutions of the Town of Goderich and the eight municipal shareholders of 
ERTH approving the proposed transaction are provided in Attachment 6. 
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OVERALL IMPACT OF THE TRANSACTION  

The Applicant submits that the proposed transaction will result in ratepayers experiencing bene-
ficial impacts with respect to prices and the adequacy, reliability and quality of electricity service.  
ETPL, ERTH and its electricity sector affiliates already provide a extensive amount of services 
to WCHEI and accordingly, it is expected that the transition of ownership will be relatively seam-
less from the perspective of the customer and constitute an enhancement of services currently 
provided.  Furthermore, the proposed transaction will result in savings and operational efficien-
cies due to a reduction in administrative burdens associated with moving to one legal entity un-
der a single license. For example, the amalgamation into one legal entity under a single license 
will result in reduced administrative, governance, audit and regulatory costs and related re-
sources required.  

The impact of the proposed transaction on consumers with respect to the price, adequa-
cy, reliability and quality of distribution service is addressed in more detail below.  

Price 

The proposed consolidation is expected to deliver material electricity ratepayer savings relative 
to the status quo, i.e., in the absence of a consolidation. Ratepayers of ETPL after the merger 
are expected to enjoy lower rates through the nine year rebasing deferral period in comparison 
to the status quo for the reasons discussed below. Ratepayers are also expected to experience 
greater savings in comparison to the status quo from the time of the first anticipated rebasing, 
Nine years following the completion of the consolidation, due to cost savings resulting from syn-
ergies.  These benefits, cost savings and synergies are detailed in Exhibit B, Tab 6, Schedule 1. 

Rebasing Deferral Period – Nine Years from the Completion of the Consolidation:  

Each of the consolidating distributors would have filed Cost of Service or Custom IR applica-
tions during the proposed nine year rebasing deferral period in the absence of the proposed 
consolidation. The pre-existing rate plans for WCHEI filed IRM application EB-2017-0083 effec-
tive May 1st 2018 and  ETPL’s filed Cost of Service rate application EB-2017-0038 effective May 
1st, 2018 will continue until their expiry, and rate adjustments will then take place under Price 
Cap Incentive Rate Mechanism (the “Price Cap IR”) through to the first rebasing of ETPL follow-
ing the amalgamation In the absence of the proposed consolidation and rebasing deferral, re-
basing for WCHEI and ETPL would have taken place in 2019 and 2023 respectively, and pro-
jected rate increases would have been greater than under Price Cap IR.   Accordingly, the pro-
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posed transaction results in lower ETPL rates than the status quo during the rebasing deferral 
period from the time each Party’s rate plan expires.  

 

Customer Value Creation  

Following the approved merger, ETPL will be focused on reducing operating expenditures. It will 
improve productivity through better utilization of existing assets. ETPL will leverage best prac-
tices in asset management from the Parties. This includes the evaluation of long term capital 
plans, maintenance practices, design standards, and operating standards for alignment of best 
practices.   

The net cost savings discussed above would not be possible without the proposed consolida-
tion. ETPL will provide distribution rates to customers that will be lower than they otherwise 
would have been, had the Parties remained standalone entities.  

The Applicants expect that the consolidated customer base will create opportunities for ETPL  
and its electricity sector affiliates to provide additional services while adhering to applicable OEB 
Codes and related regulations.  Currently, an electricity sector affiliate of ETPL provides water 
billing services to most of its municipal shareholders on the electricity bills. This approach will be 
extended to water customers in the Town of Goderich.  Further opportunities may also present 
themselves, including in the area of CDM.  

Adequacy, reliability and quality of service  

The Applicants are committed to maintaining the quality, reliability, and adequacy of electricity 
service for its customers.  ETPL has committed to maintain the existing operations centre in the 
Town of Goderich and, as a result, it expected response times will not change for WCHEI cus-
tomers.  ETPL intends to move ETPL’s operations centre in Mitchell to Goderich to avoid dupli-
cation. However, the expected response times for customers in Mitchell will not change.  Ac-
cordingly, ETPL will have a total of three service centres across their service areas. These ser-
vice centres will continue to be used for de-centralized functions such as construction and 
maintenance, trouble response, logistics, fleet services, and metering.  Accordingly, the ade-
quacy, reliability, and quality of electricity service will be maintained. ETPL will maintain or im-
prove service levels of its predecessor utilities (for example, through implementation of new 
technologies and adoption of best work practices).  
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The Applicants’ intention is that ETPL will harmonize the engineering standards of its predeces-
sor utilities following the merge, which will enable more efficient and effective inventory man-
agement and ensure sufficient spare equipment for higher reliability. ETPL will implement a 
comprehensive review and recommend best engineering standards and practices to be fol-
lowed. The review will give due consideration to service reliability, costs, and risks.  

Customers in all affected service areas will benefit from being served by a larger utility that will 
have an expanded ability to monitor, report on and improve system reliability and power quality, 
given its greater resources.  

The Parties’ policies and practices for expansion of the distribution system will be standardized 
across the new geographic service territory. This is expected to facilitate economic growth in the 
service territory as developers will receive standard Offers to Connect and will be able to deal 
with only one distributor across these regions.  

As identified above, ETPL expects to maintain the three existing service centres after the merge 
located in: Ingersoll, Aylmer and Goderich. The Operations staff that currently responds to out-
ages and power quality issues will continue to serve the communities that they serve at present. 
The Applicants anticipate that response times will not degrade given that these staffing levels 
will not be changing. In fact, during large scale outages, ETPL will have the ability to draw upon 
a larger number of operations staff for storm restoration efforts. 

The System Average Interruption Duration Index (“SAIDI”), the average outage duration for 
each customer served, is commonly used as a reliability indicator by electricity utilities. The Sys-
tem Average Interruption Frequency Index (“SAIFI”), the average number of interruptions a cus-
tomer would experience, is also a key reliability indicator. ETPL is expected to maintain and im-
prove upon the five-year average reliability indices and the OEB Customer Service Standard 
metrics for its customers. Each operating area of ETPL post-amalgamation has 
unique distribution system characteristics; capital and maintenance plans are based on sound 
asset management strategies that address the specific needs in each of the service areas, in-
cluding addressing reliability issues.  

The five year historical reliability metrics for WHCEI and ETPL are provided in Figure 4 below. 
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Figure 4 

 

 

Following the merger, ETPL will maintain and improve service levels of its predecessor utilities 
through measures such as the implementation of new technologies and adoption of best work 
practices. ETPL will also be able to reduce duplicate CDM program administration costs. Best 
practice processes and systems (e.g., customer management functions, call centre service, and 
billing) of the two predecessor utilities will be adopted across ETPL in order to improve produc-
tivity and raise the quality of service for all customers.  

The proposed consolidation will create an entity jointly-owned by nine municipalities that will 
keep this critical public service entirely within public control.   
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YEAR OVER YEAR COMPARATIVE COST STRUCTURE ANALYSIS 

Figure 5 below provides a comparison of the OM&A cost structure among the Parties, status 
quo versus post consolidation.  

Figure 5 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Distributor OM&A 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
ETPL 6,181,909$      6,468,593$      6,597,965$         6,729,924$      6,864,523$      
WCHE 1,870,617$      1,908,029$      1,946,190$         1,985,113$      2,024,816$      
Total OM&A Status Quo 8,052,526$      8,376,622$      8,544,155$         8,715,038$      8,889,338$      
OM&A Cost Savings -$                  344,500-$          394,500-$             498,500-$          593,500-$          
Transition Costs 233,089$          101,976$             
New ETPL OM&A 8,052,526$      8,265,211$      8,251,631$         8,216,538$      8,295,838$      
Savings for Customer -$                  111,411$          292,524$             498,500$          593,500$          
Cumulative Savings 111,411$         403,935$            902,435$         1,495,935$      

Distributor OM&A 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
ETPL 7,001,813$      7,141,849$      7,284,686$         7,430,380$      7,578,988$      
WCHE 2,065,312$      2,106,618$      2,148,751$         2,191,726$      2,235,560$      
Total OM&A Status Quo 9,067,125$      9,248,468$      9,433,437$         9,622,106$      9,814,548$      
OM&A Cost Savings 668,500-$          681,870-$          695,507-$             709,418-$          723,606-$          
Transition Costs
New ETPL OM&A 8,398,625$      8,566,598$      8,737,930$         8,912,688$      9,090,942$      
Savings for Customer 668,500$          681,870$          695,507$             709,418$          723,606$          
Cumulative Savings 2,164,435$      2,846,305$      3,541,813$         4,251,230$      4,974,836$      

Distributor OM&A 2027 2028
ETPL 7,730,567$      7,885,179$      
WCHE 2,280,271$      2,325,877$      
Total OM&A Status Quo 10,010,839$    10,211,056$    
OM&A Cost Savings 738,078-$          752,840-$          
Transition Costs
New ETPL OM&A 9,272,761$      9,458,216$      
Savings for Customer 738,078$          752,840$          
Cumulative Savings 5,712,914$      6,465,754$      
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Figure 6 below provides a comparison of the capital cost structure among the Parties, status 
quo versus post consolidation.  

Figure 6 

 

 
 

Distributor Capital 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
ETPL $3,168,690 $3,613,205 $3,360,469 $3,427,678 $3,496,232
WCHE $1,025,600 $619,000 $631,380 $644,008 $656,888
Total Capital Spend Status Quo $4,194,290 $4,232,205 $3,991,849 $4,071,686 $4,153,120
Capital Spending Reduction -$300,000 -$325,000 -$165,000 -$161,700 -$158,466
Capital Transition Costs $0 $100,000
New ETPL Capital $3,894,290 $4,007,205 $3,826,849 $3,909,986 $3,994,654
Savings for Customer $300,000 $225,000 $165,000 $161,700 $158,466
Cumulative Savings $300,000 $525,000 $690,000 $851,700 $1,010,166

Distributor Capital 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
ETPL $3,566,157 $3,637,480 $3,710,229 $3,784,434 $3,860,123
WCHE $670,026 $683,426 $697,095 $711,036 $725,257
Total Capital Spend Status Quo $4,236,182 $4,320,906 $4,407,324 $4,495,470 $4,585,380
Capital Spending Reduction -$155,297 -$152,191 -$149,147 -$146,164 -$143,241
Transition Costs
New ETPL Capital $4,080,886 $4,168,715 $4,258,177 $4,349,306 $4,442,139
Savings for Customer $155,297 $152,191 $149,147 $146,164 $143,241
Cumulative Savings $1,165,463 $1,317,653 $1,466,800 $1,612,964 $1,756,205

Distributor Capital 2027 2028
ETPL $3,937,325 $4,016,072
WCHE $739,762 $754,558
Total Capital Spend Status Quo $4,677,087 $4,770,629
Capital Spending Reduction -$140,376 -$137,568
Transition Costs
New ETPL Capital $4,536,712 $4,633,061
Savings for Customer $140,376 $137,568
Cumulative Savings $1,896,581 $2,034,149
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OM&A COST PER CUSTOMER PER YEAR FOR THE CONSOLIDATING PARTIES 

Figure 7 below provides a comparison of the OM&A cost per customer per year among the 
Parties. The data supporting this comparison is based on the 2014 to 2016 OEB Yearbook of 
Electricity Distributors and 2017 projected values.  

Figure 7 

 

 
 
 

OM&A
Customer 

Count
OM&A Per 
Customer

OM&A
Customer 

Count
OM&A Per 
Customer

OM&A
Customer 

Count
OM&A Per 
Customer

2014 5,651,479.92$ 18,265       309.42$      1,709,900.00$ 3,797            450.33$           7,361,379.92$ 22,062        333.67$          
2015 5,856,835.19$ 18,434       317.72$      1,762,372.00$ 3,812            462.32$           7,619,207.19$ 22,246        342.50$          
2016 6,114,840.38$ 18,637       328.10$      1,833,938.00$ 3,829            478.96$           7,948,778.38$ 22,466        353.81$          
2017 6,181,909.05$ 19,156       322.72$      1,870,616.76$ 3,745            499.50$           8,052,525.81$ 22,901        351.63$          

ETPL WCHE Combined
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CHANGE OF CONTROL 

The Applicants are proposing a transaction whereby ERTH will acquire WCHEI, which will then 
be immediately amalgamated with ETPL into a single distributor.  Accordingly, the Applicants 
confirm that there will be a change of control of WCHEI to effect the consolidation.  
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OPERATION OF THE DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM 

The Applicants undertook a principled approach in the design of the consolidated utility. Plan-
ning for the consolidation has focused on the following key principles:  

• Management – Management will fulfill its fiduciary obligations to the corporation, including 
respecting the interests of ratepayers; 

• Customers – Customers will be the operational priority of ETPL following the merge, including 
the provision of superior customer service, ease of access, and a safe and reliable distribu-
tion system;  

• Employees – Employees will be treated in a fair and equitable manner. They will adhere to an 
established set of core values, including work place safety, high customer service standards 
and improved productivity; 

• Community – ETPL will continue to play a significant role in the communities that it serves, be 
a good corporate citizen through community engagement and facilitate economic develop-
ment;  

• Environmental Stewardship – ETPL will continue to exhibit responsible stewardship, including 
a strong commitment to energy conservation and environmental sustainability; 

• Growth – Growth opportunities will be pursued where prudent; and 

The Applicants understand that to achieve the necessary and desired customer and financial 
outcomes, effective operational processes and skilled employees must be in place to support 
and deliver on results.  

Operational Focus  

Following the merger, ETPL will implement its business mission and vision by focusing on four 
operating strategies: 

• Enhancing service delivery to customers; 

• Enhancing internal operational cost efficiencies and asset utilization; 

• Increasing shareholder value through growth and productivity improvements; and  

• Developing and maintaining highly skilled and motivated employees.  
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Employee Focus  

ETPL’s most important resource  following the amalgamation will be its employees. There will 
be human resource redundancies as a result of consolidating the two LDCs, given that each of 
the two have similar business purposes and functions. Nonetheless, ETPL will focus on four key 
areas after the amalgamation to ensure that employees are fully engaged and contributing at 
their peak:  

• Safe and healthy workplace; 

• Employee skill development; 

• Effective internal corporate communications; and  

• Performance based culture. 

There are significant employee opportunities as a result of the consolidation including:  

• Product and service innovation for employees to develop new skills and to be at the leading 
edge of technology and service innovation; 

• Access to increased training and development opportunities across the organization and the 
ability to further enhance their skills through corporate-wide training programs; 

• Continuity of the workforce, the merger will facilitate a positive transition of attrition over the 
next few years  

Distribution System Operations  

Following the merger, ETPL will initially have three distinct operating regions:  

• South Region: Aylmer, Belmont and Port Stanley served by Aylmer operations centre 

• Central Region: Ingersoll, Beachville, Thamesford, Embro, Tavistock, Norwich, Otterville and 
Burgessville served by Ingersoll operations centre; and  

• North Region: Goderich, Clinton, Mitchell and Dublin served by Goderich operations centre.  

In developing ETPL’s operational organizational structure, primary considerations were efficien-
cy, effectiveness, and service levels. Not all job functions within the utility are directly tied to the 
regions they serve. In fact, several services can be performed centrally without any degradation 
of efficiency, effectiveness, and service levels. Centralizing certain functions, such as  finance, 
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regulatory, billing, call centre control room and IT services, is expected to leverage skill sets, 
create scale and lower costs which is a fundamental objective of the consolidation.  

 

Service Centres  

Following ther amalgamation, ETPL will utilize three of the existing four service centres for de-
centralized functions such as construction and maintenance, trouble response, logistics and me-
tering. The three service centres proposed post transaction are currently located within the three 
regions:  

• South Region 
- Aylmer;  

• Central Region 
- Ingersoll; and  

• Eastern Region 
- Goderich.  

With the exception of moving ETPL’s Mitchell operations centre to Goderich, from a service 
standpoint, very little, if anything, is changing with regard to service centres and the employees 
who are located at these locations. No reduction of service levels is anticipated as a result of the 
consolidation.  

Call Centre/Control Room Consolidation  

One call centre will be designated for ETPL, located in Ingersoll.  

One control room will be designated for ETPL, located in Ingersoll.  

Office Location 

Upon the completion of the consolidation, ERTH will operate out of the following office locations: 

• The head office and control for ETPL will be located at 143 Bell Street, Ingersoll, Ontario.  
This location is central to LDC Co’s new service area, is readily accessible by multiple high-
ways, is nearly equidistant from ETPL’s two operation centres, which maximizes efficiency 
of interaction and travel.  



  EB-2018-0082 
 Erie Thames Powerlines and West Coast Huron Energy  - s.86 (MAADs) Application 

  Exhibit B 
  Tab 5 
  Schedule 5 
  Filed: March 14, 2018 
  Page 4 of 6 
• The corporate head office of ERTH will be located at 180 Whiting Street, Ingersoll, Ontario, 

providing corporate services to ETPL.  In addition, ERTH’s electricity sector affiliate busi-
nesses have office locations in London, Ontario and Toronto, Ontario.  These offices will con-
tinue to support the non-regulated business.  

 

Information Technology (“IT”)  

ETPL will set the following IT objectives for business applications:  

• Establish a stable, consolidated, secure information technology infrastructure environment to 
sustain the operations of the new company and minimize operational risk during the transition 
period following the consolidation; 

• Consolidate the Customer Information Systems (“CIS”) environment as quickly as possible 
into one common Harris Northstar system to facilitate integration of Customer Service busi-
ness functions and improve service to customers;  

• Consolidate the Geographic Information Systems (“GIS”) and Outage Management Systems 
(“OMS”) into one common Intergraph GIS and OMS environment to facilitate integration of 
the electrical Network Operations of the business and improve service to customers;  

• Consolidate the Financial System into one common environment  

• Consolidate the Advanced Metering Infrastructure (AMI) and Operational Data Store (ODS) 
into one common environment.  Both ETPL and WCHEI share a common vendor with regard 
to AMI infrastructure (Elster); and  

• Consolidate enterprise cyber security practices and technologies into a single common set of 
processes and systems that provides the protection of information and the entire information 
technology architecture to support all business and regulatory requirements of the new com-
pany.  

There are a number of less compatible systems that will need to be integrated as part of a tran-
sitional plan. Each of these systems may be run in parallel until such time as integration plans 
can be executed.  

Overall, it appears that the high level of systems compatibility between the utilities will facilitate 
a seamless transition to a common approach to delivering business applications while support-
ing continuing business operations and managing risk.   
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Customer Service  

Key elements of the consolidation will focus on customer service. Customers are the operational 
priority and will continue to receive excellent service. Following the merger, ETPL will ensure a 
highly reliable, effective, and efficient electricity distribution system as well as innovative, value-
added, energy services and solutions. Customers will have access to customer service in a 
timely, reliable and accurate manner. ETPL will be operated on customer-centric values, and it 
will undertake a principled approach in the design of an effective organization plan such that 
customer service responsiveness levels target improvement but will certainly be no less than 
service levels prior to merging in each community. Adopting best practices and finding efficien-
cies while maintaining or improving customer service will be a key priority.  

ETPL will focus on five attributes within the customer perspective. Initiatives will be identified 
and organized to target improvement in the following five areas:  

• Efficiency, i.e., distribution rates/price;  

• Electricity reliability; 

• Bill accuracy and quality;  

• Responsiveness/ease of doing business; and  

• Trust/corporate image.  

The objectives and business principles contemplate enhanced customer service delivery as a 
result of the merger transaction. As such, customer service operational plans will be close-
ly linked to the achievement of customer service satisfaction levels. In setting performance tar-
gets for customer service levels following the merger, ETPL will consider:  

• Present service levels of WCHEI and ETPL and will reconcile to the highest levels among 
them; 

• Service levels required by OEB regulation;  

• Competitive benchmarks; and  

• Results of customer surveys.  

As part of its ongoing operation, ETPL will regularly review the level of customer service support 
to ensure appropriate levels are maintained.  
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The Applicants have estimated that sustained operating, maintenance and administra-
tion (“OM&A”) savings net of transition costs will be approximately $440,000 in year five and be-
yond. The OM&A budget for ETPL after the merger is therefore anticipated to be approximately 
5% lower than the sum of the OM&A budgets for the Parties, three to five years following com-
pletion of the consolidation.  
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IMPACT OF THE TRANSACTION ON ECONOMIC EFFICIENCY AND COST EFFECTIVE 
DISTRIBUTION OF ELECTRICITY 

The Applicants have determined the cost structure of ETPL as a result of the consolidation 
based on the best information available and certain assumptions, as provided in Exhibit B, Tab 
5, Schedule 1. Realization of synergy savings will depend on a number of factors. 

Synergy Forecast  

The total anticipated savings net of transition costs over a nine year rebasing deferral 
period resulting from the merger of WCHEI and EPTL total approximately $5,700.000 in 
operating costs and approximately $1,900,000 in avoided capital costs, which represent 
$7,600,000 in total cash savings. These operating and capital savings will benefit customers 
through lower rates than the status quo, and will benefit shareholders through increased and 
more stable dividends.  

The approximately $1,900,000 in capital savings, net of any transition costs, over the nine year 
rebasing deferral period arise mainly due to WCHE avoiding a financial system conversion, 
avoidance of constructing a new service centre in Mitchell Ontario, savings due to the 
consolidation of fleet and redundancy of vehicles, and IT infrastructure savings.  

It is anticipated that ETPL will have sustained net annual operating savings associated with the 
merger, relative to the status quo, of approximately $830,000 in 2024 and beyond driven 
primarily by attrition due to retirements when consolidating operational staff.  

The synergy savings associated with the merger are summarized in Figure 8 below: 

Figure 8 

 

 

Gross Synergies 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
Operating -$          379,500$       319,500$       369,500$       379,500$       387,090$       394,832$       829,500$       846,090$       863,012$       880,272$       897,877$       
Capital 300,000$ 325,000$       165,000$       161,700$       158,466$       155,297$       152,191$       149,147$       146,164$       143,241$       140,376$       137,568$       
Total 302,017$ 706,518$       486,519$       533,220$       539,987$       544,409$       549,046$       980,671$       994,279$       1,008,279$   1,022,675$   1,037,474$   

Transition costs 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
Operating -$          233,089$       101,976$       -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               
Capital -$          100,000$       -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               
Total -$          333,089$       101,976$       -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               -$               

Net Synergies 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
Operating -$          146,411$       217,524$       369,500$       379,500$       387,090$       394,832$       829,500$       846,090$       863,012$       880,272$       897,877$       
Capital 300,000$ 225,000$       165,000$       161,700$       158,466$       155,297$       152,191$       149,147$       146,164$       143,241$       140,376$       137,568$       
Total 300,000$ 371,411$       382,524$       531,200$       537,966$       542,387$       547,023$       978,647$       992,254$       1,006,253$   1,020,648$   1,035,446$   



  EB-2018-0082 
 Erie Thames Powerlines and West Coast Huron Energy - s.86 (MAADs) Application 

  Exhibit B 
  Tab 6 
  Schedule 1 
  Filed: March 14, 2018 
  Page 2 of 5 
 
 

These savings will result in overall lower ETPL electricity distribution rates, in comparison to the 
rates of the individual LDCs absent the consolidation proposed in this Application.  Figures 9 
and 10 represent the potential change in revenue requirement to demonstrate the savings 
between a merger and status quo: 

Figure 9 

 

 
 

Figure 10  
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Benefits  

Overview  

The Applicants anticipate that as a result of the consolidation, the following material savings will 
be generated (values are pre-tax):  

• Aggregate gross OM&A savings of $6,050,000 in ETPL over the first nine years following 
consolidation, or 6,6% of total OM&A expenditures, thereafter continuing at a savings rate of 
approximately 7.4% annually, (i.e., not cumulative).  

• Aggregate gross capital expenditure (“CapEx”) savings of $2,000,000 in ETPL over the first 
nine years following consolidation, thereafter continuing at a sustained level of $140,000 
annually.  

ETPL will incur transition costs of approximately $435,000, primarily in the first two years 
following consolidation, with respect to systems and process integration and human resource 
costs.  

In total, ETPL will deliver approximately $7,600,000 of net cash savings (pre-tax) in the first nine 
years following the consolidation thereafter sustained at approximately $879,000 per year.  

The shareholder and customer benefits described herein are made available by the operating 
synergies and savings previously described and summarized in Figure 8 above.  

The annual operating and capital savings are expected to be sustainable following the nine year 
period post consolidation. ETPL customers following the merger will benefit from reduced rates 
as compared to the rates that would have existed if the merger transaction had not occurred. 
Customers also benefit from a larger and more stable utility that has significant access to 
investment capital to support sustainable investment in the reliable and safe distribution of 
electricity.  

Based on OEB policy for distributor consolidation, the cost savings and synergies resulting 
from a consolidation may be retained by shareholders and customers of LDCs as follows:  

• Savings net of transaction and transition costs may be retained by shareholders until the next 
LDC rate rebasing, which must occur no later than the beginning of the eleventh year 
following the merger. Consequently, LDC shareholders may retain merger benefits for a 
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maximum nine year period subsequent to a merger. The benefits retained in the final three 
year period are subject to an earnings sharing mechanism;  

• The merger benefits the customers in the form of lower distribution rates at the time of the 
first rebasing of ETPL after the amalgamation as well as during the deferral period through 
avoided cost of service increases for each separate entity, as demonstrated in Figures 9 and 
10 above. 

The Applicants have chosen to rebase LDC Co in the tenth year following the completion of the 
consolidation.  

Customer Benefits  

Customers generally benefit from lower rates from, or very near to, the commencement of a 
merger transaction.   

According to OEB policy with respect to rate making associated with LDC consolidations, 
the savings corresponding to LDC consolidations are transferred to customers at the first 
rebasing. The period prior to such first rebasing is defined as the Rebasing Deferral Period.  

Notwithstanding the above, customers will benefit significantly through the period leading up to 
the first rate rebasing.  

In the absence of the proposed consolidation, the Parties would continue to regularly rebase 
their rates, through successive COS applications (further described below) in order to recover 
ongoing increases in their cost structures. Under the merger, no such rebasing occurs during 
the Rebasing Deferral Period during which the savings accrue to shareholder interests. 
Consequently, as a result of the proposed consolidation (and consolidations 
generally), customers benefit from relatively lower rates during the Rebasing Deferral Period.  

The overall relative benefit to customers under the “Merged” versus “Status Quo” scenarios is 
illustrated in Figure 9 above.  

Overall, the proposed consolidation is also expected to deliver lower distribution costs to 
LDC Co customers averaging an aggregate of:  

• $647,000 per year, or 6.3%, through the entire Forecast Period. 

• $635,000 per year, or 6.2%, through the Rebasing Deferral Period. 
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• $753,000 per year, or 7.4%, following a transfer of merger benefits to customers in 2028.  
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INCREMENTAL COSTS FOR PARTIES TO THE TRANSACTION 

Incremental Consolidation Costs  

The Parties to the proposed consolidation have incurred and will incur incremental costs in 
respect of the proposed consolidation. Consolidation costs include, but are not limited to: due 
diligence on the part of all Parties; due diligence to negotiate the terms of the consolidation; 
costs associated with all regulatory, legal and statutory reviews in order to receive necessary 
regulatory approvals; integration costs of IT systems including CIS systems and other 
technology-related support systems; integration of operational systems including GIS, OMS 
and Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (“SCADA”) systems; integration of 
customers; alignment of financial and regulatory reporting processes; staff related costs and 
transition of assets and related management to one standard.  

The aggregate consolidation costs are approximately $435,000. The costs associated with the 
above-mentioned transition and consolidation requirements will be funded through 
the anticipated productivity savings expected from the consolidation during the nine year 
rebasing deferral period; they will not be included in the ratepayer funded ETPL revenue 
requirement following consolidation.  

Incremental Costs  

Transaction Development Costs  

Each of the Applicants retained its own independent legal and financial advisors. 
Additionally, the Applicants engaged joint financial advisors to facilitate the valuation of the 
Parties. Such costs are borne by each of the Applicants and do not carry into the new merged 
entity. These costs are not recoverable by the Applicants through electricity distribution rates.  

Implementation/Integration Costs  

As with the transaction development costs, these transitional costs will be financed through the 
anticipated productivity savings expected from the transaction during the rebasing deferral 
period; they will not be financed through distribution rates. The deferred rebasing of ETPL will 
allow the consolidated entity to retain synergy savings to offset consolidation costs and provide 
shareholder incentives to undertake the merger, while protecting the interests of customers 
across all of the existing service areas.  
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The following Tables 11 and 12 summarize the savings and costs for OM&A and Capital:  

Figure 11 

 

 
       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Distributor OM&A 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
ETPL 6,181,909$      6,468,593$      6,597,965$         6,729,924$      6,864,523$      
WCHE 1,870,617$      1,908,029$      1,946,190$         1,985,113$      2,024,816$      
Total OM&A Status Quo 8,052,526$      8,376,622$      8,544,155$         8,715,038$      8,889,338$      
OM&A Cost Savings -$                  344,500-$          394,500-$             498,500-$          593,500-$          
Transition Costs 233,089$          101,976$             
New ETPL OM&A 8,052,526$      8,265,211$      8,251,631$         8,216,538$      8,295,838$      
Savings for Customer -$                  111,411$          292,524$             498,500$          593,500$          
Cumulative Savings 111,411$         403,935$            902,435$         1,495,935$      

Distributor OM&A 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
ETPL 7,001,813$      7,141,849$      7,284,686$         7,430,380$      7,578,988$      
WCHE 2,065,312$      2,106,618$      2,148,751$         2,191,726$      2,235,560$      
Total OM&A Status Quo 9,067,125$      9,248,468$      9,433,437$         9,622,106$      9,814,548$      
OM&A Cost Savings 668,500-$          681,870-$          695,507-$             709,418-$          723,606-$          
Transition Costs
New ETPL OM&A 8,398,625$      8,566,598$      8,737,930$         8,912,688$      9,090,942$      
Savings for Customer 668,500$          681,870$          695,507$             709,418$          723,606$          
Cumulative Savings 2,164,435$      2,846,305$      3,541,813$         4,251,230$      4,974,836$      

Distributor OM&A 2027 2028
ETPL 7,730,567$      7,885,179$      
WCHE 2,280,271$      2,325,877$      
Total OM&A Status Quo 10,010,839$    10,211,056$    
OM&A Cost Savings 738,078-$          752,840-$          
Transition Costs
New ETPL OM&A 9,272,761$      9,458,216$      
Savings for Customer 738,078$          752,840$          
Cumulative Savings 5,712,914$      6,465,754$      
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Figure12 

 

 
 

Financing of Incremental Costs  

These costs are self-financing by the associated savings.   
 

Distributor Capital 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
ETPL $3,168,690 $3,613,205 $3,360,469 $3,427,678 $3,496,232
WCHE $1,025,600 $619,000 $631,380 $644,008 $656,888
Total Capital Spend Status Quo $4,194,290 $4,232,205 $3,991,849 $4,071,686 $4,153,120
Capital Spending Reduction -$300,000 -$325,000 -$165,000 -$161,700 -$158,466
Capital Transition Costs $0 $100,000
New ETPL Capital $3,894,290 $4,007,205 $3,826,849 $3,909,986 $3,994,654
Savings for Customer $300,000 $225,000 $165,000 $161,700 $158,466
Cumulative Savings $300,000 $525,000 $690,000 $851,700 $1,010,166

Distributor Capital 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
ETPL $3,566,157 $3,637,480 $3,710,229 $3,784,434 $3,860,123
WCHE $670,026 $683,426 $697,095 $711,036 $725,257
Total Capital Spend Status Quo $4,236,182 $4,320,906 $4,407,324 $4,495,470 $4,585,380
Capital Spending Reduction -$155,297 -$152,191 -$149,147 -$146,164 -$143,241
Transition Costs
New ETPL Capital $4,080,886 $4,168,715 $4,258,177 $4,349,306 $4,442,139
Savings for Customer $155,297 $152,191 $149,147 $146,164 $143,241
Cumulative Savings $1,165,463 $1,317,653 $1,466,800 $1,612,964 $1,756,205

Distributor Capital 2027 2028
ETPL $3,937,325 $4,016,072
WCHE $739,762 $754,558
Total Capital Spend Status Quo $4,677,087 $4,770,629
Capital Spending Reduction -$140,376 -$137,568
Transition Costs
New ETPL Capital $4,536,712 $4,633,061
Savings for Customer $140,376 $137,568
Cumulative Savings $1,896,581 $2,034,149
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VALUATION OF ASSETS AND SHARES 

BDO Canada LLP were jointly hired by the Parties to complete a valuation of the issued and 
outstanding shares of ERTH and WCHEI for purposes of merger negotiations to ensure both 
entities were valued on a fair and consistent basis. 

The value for WCHEI and ETPL was completed on a stand-alone basis using a capitalized cash 
flow approach. The remainder of ERTH’s consolidated and non-regulated entities and assets 
were valued using a discounted cash flow approach or an adjusted net cash flow approach, as 
appropriate for the nature of the entity. 
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FINANCIAL VIABILITY  

The proposed transaction is a non-cash merger and as such there is no adverse effect 

on the financial viability of the Parties. 
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FINANCING OF THE TRANSACTION  

As discussed in Exhibit B, Tab 4, Schedules 1-2, the only consideration exchanged in respect of 
the proposed transaction is the issuance of new shares in ERTH. Therefore, no financing is 
required upon closing of the consolidation proposed in this Application.  
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

Copies of the audited financial statements for the past two most recent years for each Party are 
contained in the attachments shown below.  

• Attachment 7 - ETPL 2016 Financial Statements 

• Attachment 8 - ETPL 2015 Financial Statements 

• Attachment 9 - WCHEI 2016 Financial Statements 

• Attachment 10 - WCHEI 2015 Financial Statements 

 

 



  EB-2018-0082 
 Erie Thames Powerlines and West Coast Huron Energy - s.86 (MAADs) Application 

  Exhibit B 
  Tab 6 
  Schedule 7 
  Filed: March 14, 2018 
  Page 1 of 1 
PRO FORMA FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

A copy of the pro forma financial statements of ETPL following an approved merger with WCHEI 
is included as Attachment 11.  
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DEFERRED REBASING PERIOD  

The Applicants have chosen to defer the rebasing for ETPL for Nine (9) years from the date of 
closing of the proposed transactions, consistent with the Consolidation Policy and the 
Handbook. Accordingly, the pre-existing rate plans for WCHEI Effective May 1st, 2018 (2018 
IRM application filed in November of 2017 EB-2017-0093) and ETPL Effective May 1st 2018 (as 
proposed in its current Cost of Service application, EB-2017-0038) will continue until their expiry 
and the Parties would maintain Price Cap IR until the end of the Nine year rebasing deferral 
period.  During the rebasing deferral period, ETPL may apply for rate adjustments using the 
Board’s ICM as may be necessary and in accordance with applicable Board policies with 
respect to eligibility for, and the use of, the ICM.  
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EARNINGS SHARING MECHANISM (“ESM”)  

The Applicants have identified in Exhibit B, Tab 2, Schedule 1, for years six to nine of the 
rebasing deferral period an ESM proposed by the Applicants that is consistent with the 
Consolidation Policy. Consequently, ETPL may be subject to an ESM-related rate adjustment 
after year six following the completion of the consolidation.  

Earnings in excess of 300 basis points above the Board’s established regulatory return on 
equity (“ROE”) for the consolidated entity would be divided on a 50/50 basis between merged 
ETPL and its ratepayers. The ratepayer share of earnings will be credited to a newly proposed 
deferral account, for clearance at the next applicable annual IRM application filing. For example, 
if merged ETPL over-earned in year six post consolidation, it would report the balance in the 
deferral account in the year eight IRM application which would be filed in year seven, and refund 
50% of this balance to ratepayers over the twelve months commencing May 1st of year eight.  

The regulatory net income will be calculated, for the purpose of earnings sharing, in the same 
manner as net income for regulatory purposes under the RRR filings. The Applicants expect 
that it will exclude revenue and expenses that are not otherwise included for regulatory 
purposes, such as, but not limited to:  

• The settlement of any regulatory assets/liabilities including the lost revenue adjustment 
mechanism (“LRAM”); 

• Changes in taxes/PILs to which Account 1592 applies, which will be shared through that 
account rather than through earnings sharing;  

• Revenue collected from any ICM recovery rate riders; 

• Rate of Return on Monthly Billing capital and operating implementation costs should LDCs be 
permitted to recover these costs from ratepayers; and  

• Donations.  

For the purpose of the ESM calculation, the nature and timing of revenues, expenses, and costs 
will be consistent with the regulatory rules in effect at the end of the rebasing deferral period for 
the calculation of revenue requirement on a cost of service basis.  

For clarity, merged ETPL would begin reporting on the ROE outcome for ESM purposes 
commencing in year seven post consolidation, when audited results for year six are available.  
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OTHER RELATED MATTERS 

(a)  Implementation of New or Extension of Existing Rate Orders  

Please refer to Exhibit B, Tab 2, Schedule 1 for: i) the schedules of the existing Rate Orders for 
each of the Parties; and ii) the treatment of Rate Orders for ETPL after the merger.  Copies of 
such Rate Orders are included as Attachment 12. 

(b) Transfer of Rate Orders and Licences  

Please refer to Exhibit B, Tab 2, Schedule 1, OEB Approvals Sought, for the request to 
transfer the rate orders and licence of the Parties to WCHEI to ETPL.  

(c) Licence Amendment and Cancellation  

Please refer to Exhibit B, Tab 2, Schedule 1, OEB Approvals Sought, for the request to 
cancel the existing WCHEI licence and amend the existing ETPL licence to include the former 
WCHEI service area.  

(d) Deferral and Variance Accounts  

Please refer to Exhibit B, Tab 2, Schedule 1, for the request to continue to track costs to the 
deferral and variance accounts currently approved by the OEB for the Parties.  

(e) Specification of Accounting Standards  

All of the Parities have adopted IFRS. The Parties currently prepare their financial statements 
under IFRS; merged ETPL will also be preparing its financial statements under IFRS.  

ETPL will utilize MIFRS after amalgamation for regulatory accounting purposes, consistent with 
OEB policy.  
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Chris White 

President 
Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation 
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Ingersoll, ON N5C 3K5 
Phone:  (519) 485-1820 x 235 
Email:  OEB@eriethamespower.com 
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West Coast Huron Energy Inc. 
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mailto:OEB@eriethamespower.com


  EB-2018-0082 
 Erie Thames Powerlines and West Coast Huron Energy - s.86 (MAADs) Application 

  Attachment 1 
  Filed: March 14, 2018 
  Page 2 of 2 
Authorized Representative 
 
 
Larry McCabe 

President 
West Coast Huron Energy Inc. 
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Tyler J. Moore, LL.B. 
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London, ON N6B 2B6 
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   140 Fullarton Street Suite 1400 
   London ON N6A 5P2 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Shareholder of Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation, 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Erie Thames Powerlines 
Corporation, which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2016, 
the  statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and 
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the  financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion. 



 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation as at December 31, 2016, and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

April 20, 2017 

London, Canada 



      ERIE THAMES POWERLINES CORPORATION
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2016

2016 2015

Assets
Current assets

Accounts receivable 6 $ 5,845,546 $ 4,852,917
Due from related parties 26 141,813 97,157
Materials and supplies 7 88,158 86,525
Unbilled revenue 6,817,837 5,616,740
Prepaid expenses 92,441 82,070
Payments in lieu of income taxes receivable 16,646 204,555

Total current assets 13,002,441 10,939,964

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 9 36,834,241 34,079,941
Intangible assets 10 487,595 597,850
Investments 8 25,584 21,415
Deferred tax assets 11 - 37,000

Total non-current assets 37,347,420 34,736,206
Total assets 50,349,861 45,676,170

Regulatory balances  12 7,933,983 6,154,937
Total assets and regulatory balances $58,283,844 $51,831,107
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      ERIE THAMES POWERLINES CORPORATION
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

2016 2015
Revenues

Sale of energy $60,612,620 $53,673,716
Distribution revenue 10,098,899 9,790,667
Other 18 533,497 473,117

71,245,016 63,937,500
Operating expenses

Cost of power purchased 61,006,324 54,426,015
Employee salaries and benefits 19 3,182,316 3,338,522
Operating expenses 20 3,158,049 2,852,891
Depreciation and amortization 1,741,257 1,544,499

69,087,946 62,161,927
Income from operating activities 2,157,070 1,775,573

Finance costs 21 1,559,373 1,320,728
Income before income taxes 597,697 454,845

Income tax expense 11 284,000 264,000
Net income for the year 313,697 190,845

Net movement in regulatory balances, net of tax 12 (695,837) (762,959)
Net income for the year and net movement in

regulatory balances 1,009,534 953,804

Other comprehensive income
Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss:

Change in fair value of investments 4,169 610
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

Remeasurement of post-employment benefits 16 67,800 500
Tax on remeasurements 11 (19,000) -
Net movement in regulatory balances, net of tax 12 19,000 -

Other comprehensive income 71,969 1,110

Total comprehensive income for the year $ 1,081,503 $ 954,914
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      ERIE THAMES POWERLINES CORPORATION
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

Accumulated
other 

Share Retained comprehensive
capital earnings loss Total

Balance at January 1, 2015 $10,855,585 $ 3,846,506 $ (111,916) $14,590,175
Net income and net movement in

regulatory balances - 953,804 - 953,804
Other comprehensive loss - - 1,110 1,110
Dividends - (2,000,000) - (2,000,000)
Balance at December 31, 2015  $10,855,585 $ 2,800,310 $ (110,806) $13,545,089

Balance at January 1, 2016 $10,855,585 $ 2,800,310 $ (110,806) $13,545,089
Net income and net movement in

regulatory balances - 1,009,534 - 1,009,534
Other comprehensive income - - 71,969 71,969
Balance at December 31, 2016  $10,855,585 $ 3,809,844 $ (38,837) $14,626,592
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      ERIE THAMES POWERLINES CORPORATION
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

2016 2015

Operating activities
Net income and net movement in regulatory balances $ 1,009,534 $ 953,804

Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization 1,741,257 1,544,499
Amortization of deferred revenue (28,635) (19,080)
Post-employee benefits 35,800 34,700
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment (61,534) 20,829
Finance costs 1,559,373 1,320,728
Income tax expense 284,000 264,000

4,539,795 4,119,480
Changes in non-cash operating working capital:

Accounts receivable (992,628) 203,616
Due to related parties (596,699) (82,952)
Unbilled revenue (1,201,097) (657,507)
Materials and supplies (1,633) 83,454
Prepaid expenses (10,371) 30,897
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,575,669 (979,943)
Customer deposits 191,702 7,822

(35,057) (1,394,613)

Regulatory balances (695,837) (762,959)
Income tax refund (paid) 152,909 (398,250)

Net cash from operating activities 3,961,810 1,563,658

Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (4,356,503) (5,046,077)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 61,534 21,583
Purchase of intangible assets (28,800) (168,360)
Contributions received from customers 587,128 781,458
Net cash used by investing activities (3,736,641) (4,411,396)

Financing activities
Dividends paid - (2,000,000)
Interest paid (1,559,373) (1,320,728)
Proceeds from long-term debt - 10,000,000
Proceeds from finance leases 682,061 -
Repayment of finance leases (160,332) (115,596)
Net cash from financing activities (1,037,644) 6,563,676

Change in bank indebtedness (812,475) 3,715,938
Bank indebtedness, beginning of year (1,695,391) (5,411,329)
Bank indebtedness, end of year $ (2,507,866) $ (1,695,391)

6



ERIE THAMES POWERLINES CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

1. Reporting entity

Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation ("the Corporation") is a rate regulated, municipally owned hydro
distribution company incorporated under the laws of Ontario, Canada.  The Corporation is located in the
Town of Ingersoll.  The address of the Corporation’s registered office is 143 Bell Street, PO Box 157
Ingersoll ON (Canada) N5C 3K5.

The Corporation delivers electricity and related energy services to residential and commercial customers
in Aylmer, Beachville, Belmont, Burgessville, Embro, Ingersoll, Norwich, Otterville, Port Stanley, Tavistock,
Thamesford, Clinton, Mitchell and Dublin.  The Corporation is wholly owned by the following eight
municipalities, each of whom has one voting common share: Aylmer, Central Elgin, East-Zorra Tavistock,
Ingersoll, Norwich, South-West Oxford, Zorra and West Perth.

The financial statements are for the Corporation as at and for the year ended December 31, 2016.

2. Basis of presentation

(a) Statement of compliance

The Corporation's financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS").

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on April 20, 2017.

(b) Basis of measurement

These financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, unless otherwise stated.

(c) Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Corporation's functional
currency.  All financial information presented in Canadian dollars has been rounded to the nearest
dollar.

(d) Use of estimates and judgments

(i) Assumptions and estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities.  Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the year in which the estimates are revised and in any
future years affected.
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ERIE THAMES POWERLINES CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

2. Basis of presentation (continued)

(d) Use of estimates and judgments (continued)

(i) Assumptions and estimation uncertainty (continued)

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of
resulting in material adjustment is included in the following notes: 

(i) Note 3(b) – measurement of unbilled revenue

(ii) Notes 9, 10 – estimation of useful lives of its property, plant and equipment and
estimation of fair value of goodwill and intangible assets

(iii) Note 12 – recognition and measurement of regulatory balances

(iv) Note 16 – measurement of defined benefit obligations: key actuarial assumptions

(v) Note 23 – recognition and measurement of provisions and contingencies

(ii) Judgments

Information about judgments made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant
effects on the amounts recognized in the financial statements is included in the following notes:

 Note 9 – leases: whether an arrangement contains a lease

(e) Rate regulation

The Corporation is regulated by the Ontario Energy Board (“OEB”), under the authority granted by the
Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998.  Among other things, the OEB has the power and responsibility to
approve or set rates for the transmission and distribution of electricity, providing continued rate
protection for electricity consumers in Ontario, and ensuring that transmission and distribution
companies fulfill obligations to connect and service customers. The OEB may also prescribe license
requirements and conditions of service to local distribution companies (“LDCs”), such as the
Corporation, which may include, among other things, record keeping, regulatory accounting
principles, separation of accounts for distinct businesses, and filing and process requirements for
rate setting purposes.

The Corporation is required to bill customers for the debt retirement charge set by the province.  The
Corporation may file to recover uncollected debt retirement charges from Ontario Electricity Financial
Corporation (“OEFC”) once each year.

Rate setting

Distribution revenue

For the distribution revenue included in sale of energy, the Corporation files a “Cost of Service”
(“COS”) rate application with the OEB every five years where rates are determined through a review
of the forecasted annual amounts of operating and capital expenditures, debt and shareholder’s
equity required to support the Corporation’s business.  The Corporation forecasts electricity usage
and the costs to service each customer class to determine the appropriate rates to be charged.  The
COS application is reviewed by the OEB and interveners and rates are approved based upon this
review, including any revisions resulting from that review.
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ERIE THAMES POWERLINES CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

2. Basis of presentation (continued)

(e) Rate regulation (continued)

In the intervening years an Incentive Rate Mechanism application (“IRM”) is filed.  An IRM application
results in a formulaic adjustment to distribution rates that were set under the last COS application.
The previous year’s rates are adjusted for the annual change in the Gross Domestic Product Implicit
Price Inflator for Final Domestic Demand (“GDP IPI-FDD”) net of a productivity factor and a “stretch
factor” determined by the relative efficiency of an electricity distributor.

As a licensed distributor, the Corporation is responsible for billing customers for electricity generated
by third parties and the related costs of providing electricity service, such as transmission services
and other services provided by third parties.  The Corporation is required, pursuant to regulation, to
remit such amounts to these third parties, irrespective of whether the Corporation ultimately collects
these amounts from customers.

The Corporation last filed a COS application on June 26, 2012 for rates effective January 1, 2013 to
April 30, 2013.  On October 19, 2015 an IRM application was filed with the OEB for rates effective
May 1, 2016 until April 30, 2017. Within this application the approved GDP IPI-FDD is 1.60%, the
Corporation’s productivity factor is 0.00% and the stretch factor is 0.30%, resulting in a net increase
of 1.80% to the previous year’s rates.

Electricity rates

The OEB sets electricity prices for low-volume consumers twice each year based on an estimate of
how much it will cost to supply the province with electricity for the next year.  All remaining consumers
pay the market price for electricity.  The Corporation is billed for the cost of the electricity that its
customers use and passes this cost on to the customer at cost without a mark-up. 

3. Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently in all years presented in these
financial statements.

(a) Financial instruments

All financial assets are classified as loans and receivables, except for investments which are classified
as available for sale, and all financial liabilities are classified as other liabilities. These financial
instruments are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequently, they are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method less any
impairment for the financial assets as described in note 3(f).  Available for sale assets are
subsequently measured at their fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in other
comprehensive income (“OCI”) until the asset is sold.  

The Corporation does not enter into derivative instruments.  Hedge accounting has not been used in
the preparation of these financial statements.
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ERIE THAMES POWERLINES CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Revenue recognition

Sale and distribution of electricity

Revenue from the sale and distribution of electricity is recognized as the electricity is delivered to
customers on the basis of cyclical meter readings and estimated customer usage since the last meter
reading date to the end of the year.  Revenue includes the cost of electricity supplied, distribution, and
any other regulatory charges. The related cost of power is recorded on the basis of power used.

For customer billings related to electricity generated by third parties and the related costs of providing
electricity service, such as transmission services and other services provided by third parties, the
Corporation has determined that it is acting as a principal for these electricity charges and, therefore,
has presented electricity revenue on a gross basis.

Customer billings for debt retirement charges are recorded on a net basis as the Corporation is acting
as an agent for this billing stream. 

Other revenue

Revenue earned from the provision of services is recognized as the service is rendered.

Certain customers and developers are required to contribute towards the capital cost of construction of
distribution assets in order to provide ongoing service. Cash contributions are recorded as deferred
revenue. When an asset other than cash is received as a capital contribution, the asset is initially
recognized at its fair value, with a corresponding amount recognized as deferred revenue. The
deferred revenue, which represents the Corporation's obligation to continue to provide the customers
access to the supply of electricity, is amortized to income on a straight-line basis over the useful life of
the related asset.

Government grants and the related performance incentive payments under CDM programs are
recognized as revenue in the year when there is reasonable assurance that the program conditions
have been satisfied and the payment will be received.

(c) Materials and supplies

Materials and supplies, the majority of which is consumed by the Corporation in the provision of its
services, is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value, with cost being determined on an
average cost basis, and includes expenditures incurred in acquiring the materials and supplies and
other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition. 
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ERIE THAMES POWERLINES CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

  (d) Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) used in rate-regulated activities and acquired prior to
January 1, 2014 are measured at deemed cost, less accumulated depreciation. All other items of
PP&E are measured at cost, or, where the item is contributed by customers, its fair value, less
accumulated depreciation. 

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  The cost of self-
constructed assets includes contracted services, materials and transportation costs, direct labour,
overhead costs, borrowing costs and any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a
working condition for its intended use.

Borrowing costs on qualifying assets are capitalized as part of the cost of the asset based upon the
weighted average cost of debt incurred on the Corporation’s borrowings. Qualifying assets are
considered to be those that take in excess of 12 months to construct. 

When parts of an item of PP&E have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items
(major components) of PP&E.

When items of PP&E are retired or otherwise disposed of, a gain or loss on disposal is determined by
comparing the proceeds from disposal, if any, with the carrying amount of the item and is included in
profit or loss.

Major spare parts and standby equipment are recognized as items of PP&E. 

The cost of replacing a part of an item of PP&E is recognized in the net book value of the item if it is
probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Corporation and its
cost can be measured reliably.  In this event, the replaced part of PP&E is written off, and the related
gain or loss is included in profit or loss. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of PP&E are recognized
in profit or loss as incurred.

The need to estimate the decommissioning costs at the end of the useful lives of certain assets is
reviewed periodically.  The Corporation has concluded it does not have any legal or constructive
obligation to remove PP&E.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of PP&E using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognized in profit or loss.  Depreciation methods, useful
lives, and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted prospectively if
appropriate.  Land is not depreciated.  Construction-in-progress assets are not depreciated until the
project is complete and the asset is available for use.  

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Years
Buildings 55 - 60
Automotive equipment 8 - 10
Computer equipment 5 - 15
Services, office and other equipment 5 - 8
Transmission and distribution system 12 - 60
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ERIE THAMES POWERLINES CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Intangible assets 

Intangible assets used in rate-regulated activities and acquired prior to January 1, 2014 are measured
at deemed cost, less accumulated amortization.  All other intangible assets are measured at cost.

Computer software that is acquired or developed by the Corporation after January 1, 2014, including
software that is not integral to the functionality of equipment purchased which has finite useful lives, is
measured at cost less accumulated amortization.

Payments to obtain rights to access land ("land rights") are classified as intangible assets.  These
include payments made for easements, right of access and right of use over land for which the
Corporation does not hold title.  Land rights are measured at cost less accumulated amortization.

Goodwill represents the excess of cost over fair value of net assets of businesses acquired.  Goodwill
is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of
intangible assets, from the date that they are available for use.  Amortization methods and useful lives
of all intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted prospectively if appropriate.  

The estimated useful lives are:

Years
Computer software 5 - 10
Goodwill indefinite life
Land rights indefinite life

(f) Impairment

(i) Financial assets measured at amortized cost

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective
evidence that it is impaired.  A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence
indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of
that asset.

An impairment loss is calculated as the difference between an asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.
Interest on the impaired assets continues to be recognized through the unwinding of the discount.
Losses are recognized in profit or loss.  An impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss if the
reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized.
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ERIE THAMES POWERLINES CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(f) Impairment (continued)

(ii) Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Corporation's non-financial assets, other than materials and supplies
and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any
indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, then the asset's recoverable amount is
estimated.

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of
assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash
inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the "cash-generating unit" or “CGU”). The recoverable
amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell.  In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. 

The goodwill acquired in a business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is
allocated to CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its
estimated recoverable amount.  Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. They are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to
reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a prorate basis, if applicable.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.  For other assets, an impairment loss is
reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had
been recognized.

(g) Customer deposits

Customer deposits represent cash deposits from electricity distribution customers and retailers to
guarantee the payment of energy bills.  Interest is paid on customer deposits.

Deposits are refundable to customers who demonstrate an acceptable level of credit risk as
determined by the Corporation in accordance with policies set out by the OEB or upon termination of
their electricity distribution service.

(h) Provisions

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Corporation has a present legal or
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation.  Provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the liability.
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ERIE THAMES POWERLINES CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(i) Regulatory balances

Regulatory deferral account debit balances represent costs incurred in excess of amounts billed to the
customer at OEB approved rates.  Regulatory deferral account credit balances represent amounts
billed to the customer at OEB approved rates in excess of costs incurred by the Corporation.  

Regulatory deferral account debit balances are recognized if it is probable that future billings in an
amount at least equal to the deferred cost will result from inclusion of that cost in allowable costs for
rate-making purposes.  The offsetting amount is recognized in net movement in regulatory balances in
profit or loss or OCI.  When the customer is billed at rates approved by the OEB for the recovery of the
deferred costs, the customer billings are recognized in revenue. The regulatory debit balance is
reduced by the amount of these customer billings with the offset to net movement in regulatory
balances in profit or loss or OCI.  

The probability of recovery of the regulatory deferral account debit balances is assessed annually
based upon the likelihood that the OEB will approve the change in rates to recover the balance.  The
assessment of likelihood of recovery is based upon previous decisions made by the OEB for similar
circumstances, policies or guidelines issued by the OEB, etc.  Any resulting impairment loss is
recognized in profit or loss in the year incurred.

When the Corporation is required to refund amounts to ratepayers in the future, the Corporation
recognizes a regulatory deferral account credit balance. The offsetting amount is recognized in net
movement in regulatory balances in profit or loss or OCI.  The amounts returned to the customers are
recognized as a reduction of revenue. The credit balance is reduced by the amount of these customer
repayments with the offset to net movement in regulatory balances in profit or loss or OCI.  

(j) Post-employment benefits

(i) Pension plan

The Corporation provides a pension plan for all its full-time employees through Ontario Municipal
Employees Retirement System (“OMERS”).  OMERS is a multi-employer pension plan which
operates as the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement Fund (“the Fund”), and provides
pensions for employees of Ontario municipalities, local boards and public utilities. The Fund is a
contributory defined benefit pension plan, which is financed by equal contributions from
participating employers and employees, and by the investment earnings of the Fund.  To the extent
that the Fund finds itself in an under-funded position, additional contribution rates may be
assessed to participating employers and members.

OMERS is a defined benefit plan. However, as OMERS does not segregate its pension asset and
liability information by individual employers, there is insufficient information available to enable the
Corporation to directly account for the plan.  Consequently, the plan has been accounted for as a
defined contribution plan.  The Corporation is not responsible for any other contractual obligations
other than the contributions.  Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are
recognized as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss when they are due.
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ERIE THAMES POWERLINES CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

 (j) Post-employment benefits

(ii) Post-employment benefits, other than pension

The Corporation provides some of its retired employees with life insurance and medical benefits
beyond those provided by government sponsored plans.

The obligations for these post-employment benefit plans are actuarially determined by applying the
projected unit credit method and reflect management’s best estimate of certain underlying
assumptions.  Remeasurements of the net defined benefit obligations, including actuarial gains
and losses, are recognized immediately in other comprehensive income.  When the benefits of a
plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating to past service by employees is
recognized immediately in profit or loss.

(k) Leased assets

Leases, where the terms cause the Corporation to assume substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership, are classified as finance leases. Upon initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at
an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy
applicable to that asset.

All other leases are classified as operating leases and the leased assets are not recognized on the
Corporation’s statement of financial position. Payments made under operating leases are recognized in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

(l) Finance income and finance costs

Finance income is recognized as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method.
Finance income comprises interest earned on cash and cash equivalents and dividend income.

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, finance lease obligations and unwinding of
the discount on provisions, net interest expense on post-employment benefits and impairment losses
on financial assets. Finance costs are recognized in profit or loss unless they are capitalized as part of
the cost of qualifying assets. 

(m) Income taxes

The income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognized in
profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which case, it is
recognized in equity.

The Corporation is currently exempt from taxes under the Income Tax Act (Canada) and the Ontario
Corporations Tax Act (collectively the “Tax Acts”).  Under the Electricity Act, 1998, the Corporation
makes payments in lieu of corporate taxes to the Ontario Electricity Financial Corporation (“OEFC”).
These payments are calculated in accordance with the rules for computing taxable income and taxable
capital and other relevant amounts contained in the Tax Acts as modified by the Electricity Act, 1998,
and related regulations.  Prior to October 1, 2001, the Corporation was not subject to income or capital
taxes.  Payments in lieu of taxes are referred to as income taxes.
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ERIE THAMES POWERLINES CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(m) Income taxes (continued)

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the
year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts for accounting purposes. Deferred tax assets are recognized for
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used.  Deferred tax is
measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted, at the reporting date.

4. Standards issued but not yet adopted

Future accounting changes

There are new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations which have not been applied in
preparing these financial statements.  

(a) Annual Improvements to IFRS (2014-2016) cycle.  On December 8, 2016 the IASB issued narrow-
scope amendments to three standards as part of its annual improvements process. 

Each of the amendments has its own specific transition requirements and effective date. 

Amendments were made to the following standards:

 Clarification that IFRS 12 Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities also applies to interests

that are classified as held for sale, held for distribution, or discontinued operations,

effective retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017; 

 Removal of out-dated exemptions for first time adopters under IFRS 1 First-time Adoption

of International Financial Reporting Standards, effective for annual periods beginning on or

after January 1, 2018; and

 Clarification that the election to measure an associate or joint venture at fair value under

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures for investments held directly, or

indirectly, through a venture capital or other qualifying entity can be made on an

investment-by-investment basis. The amendments are effective retrospectively for annual

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.

The Corporation intends to adopt these amendments in its financial statements for the annual
period beginning on January 1, 2017 or 2018 as applicable. The extent of the impact of adoption of
the amendments has not yet been determined.
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ERIE THAMES POWERLINES CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

4. Standards issued but not yet adopted (continued)

(b) On December 8, 2016, the IASB issued IFRIC Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration.

The Interpretation clarifies which date should be used for translation when a foreign currency
transaction involves an advance payment or receipt. 

The Interpretation is applicable for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. Earlier
application is permitted.

The Interpretation clarifies that the date of the transaction for the purpose of determining the
exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part of it) is
the date on which an entity initially recognizes the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability
arising from the payment or receipt of advance consideration. 

The Interpretation may be applied either:

 retrospectively; or

 prospectively to all assets, expenses and income in the scope of the Interpretation initially

recognized on or after:

 the beginning of the reporting period in which the entity first applies the Interpretation; or

 the beginning of a prior reporting period presented as comparative information in the

financial statements. 

The Company intends to adopt the Interpretation in its financial statements for the annual period
beginning on January 1, 2018. The extent of the impact of adoption of the Interpretation has not yet
been determined.

(c) On May 28, 2014 the IASB issued IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.  The new
standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. Earlier application is
permitted. IFRS 15 will replace IAS 11 Construction Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue, IFRIC 13
Customer Loyalty Programs, IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18
Transfer of Assets from Customers, and SIC 31 Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving
Advertising Services.

On April 12, 2016, the IASB issued Clarifications to IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers, which is effective at the same time as IFRS 15. 

The standard contains a single model that applies to contracts with customers and two approaches
to recognizing revenue: at a point in time or over time. The model features a contract-based five-
step analysis of transactions to determine whether, how much and when revenue is recognized.
New estimates and judgmental thresholds have been introduced, which may affect the amount
and/or timing of revenue recognized.
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ERIE THAMES POWERLINES CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

4. Standards issued but not yet adopted (continued)

The new standard applies to contracts with customers. It does not apply to insurance contracts,
financial instruments or lease contracts, which fall in the scope of other IFRSs.

The clarifications to IFRS 15 provide additional guidance with respect to the five-step analysis,
transition, and the application of the Standard to licenses of intellectual property. 

The Company intends to adopt IFRS 15 and the clarifications in its financial statements for the
annual period beginning on January 1, 2018.  The extent of the impact of adoption of the standard
has not yet been determined.

(d) On July 24, 2014 the IASB issued the complete IFRS 9 (IFRS 9 (2014)).  The mandatory effective
date of IFRS 9 is for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 and must be applied
retrospectively with some exemptions. Early adoption is permitted.  The restatement of prior
periods is not required and is only permitted if information is available without the use of hindsight.

IFRS 9 (2014) introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial
assets. Under IFRS 9 (2014), financial assets are classified and measured based on the business
model in which they are held and the characteristics of their contractual cash flows. 

The standard introduces additional changes relating to financial liabilities. 

It also amends the impairment model by introducing a new ‘expected credit loss’ model for
calculating impairment.

IFRS 9 (2014) also includes a new general hedge accounting standard which aligns hedge
accounting more closely with risk management. This new standard does not fundamentally change
the types of hedging relationships or the requirement to measure and recognize ineffectiveness,
however it will provide more hedging strategies that are used for risk management to qualify for
hedge accounting and introduce more judgment to assess the effectiveness of a hedging
relationship.

Special transitional requirements have been set for the application of the new general hedging
model.

The Corporation intends to adopt IFRS 9 (2014) in its financial statements for the annual period
beginning on January 1, 2018. The extent of the impact of adoption of the standard has not yet
been determined.

(e) On January 13, 2016 the IASB issued IFRS 16 Leases.  The new standard is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Earlier application is permitted for entities that apply
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers at or before the date of initial adoption of IFRS
16. IFRS 16 will replace IAS 17 Leases.

This standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognize
assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset
is of low value. A lessee is required to recognize a right-of-use asset representing its right to use
the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments.

This standard substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements of IAS 17, while
requiring enhanced disclosures to be provided by lessors.
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ERIE THAMES POWERLINES CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

4. Standards issued but not yet adopted (continued)

Other areas of the lease accounting model have been impacted, including the definition of a lease.
Transitional provisions have been provided.

The Corporation intends to adopt IFRS 16 in its financial statements for the annual period
beginning on January 1, 2019. The extent of the impact of adoption of the standard has not yet
been determined.

(f) On January 7, 2016 the IASB issued Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 7). The
amendments apply prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017. Earlier
application is permitted.  

The amendments require disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flow
and non-cash changes. One way to meet this new disclosure requirement is to provide a
reconciliation between the opening and closing balances for liabilities from financing activities.

The Company will adopt the amendments to IAS 7 in its financial statements for the annual period
beginning on January 1, 2017. The Company does not expect the amendments to have a material
impact on the financial statements.

(g) On January 19, 2016 the IASB issued Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized Losses
(Amendments to IAS 12).  The amendments apply retrospectively for annual periods beginning on
or after January 1, 2017. Earlier application is permitted.

The amendments clarify that the existence of a deductible temporary difference depends solely on
a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset and its tax base at the end of the reporting period,
and is not affected by possible future changes in the carrying amount or expected manner of
recovery of the asset. 

The amendments also clarify the methodology to determine the future taxable profits used for
assessing the utilization of deductible temporary differences.

The Company will adopt the amendments to IAS 12 in its financial statements for the annual period
beginning on January 1, 2017. The extent of the impact of adoption of the amendments has not yet
been determined.
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5. Change in accounting policies

There are new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations which have been applied in
preparing these financial statements. 

(a) Annual Improvements to IFRS (2012-2014) cycle.  On September 25, 2014 the IASB issued
narrow-scope amendments to a total of four standards as part of its annual improvements process.
The amendments apply for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016.  Each of the
amendments has its own specific transition requirements.

Amendments were made to clarify the following in their respective standards:

 Changes in method for disposal under IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and

Discontinued Operations; 

 ‘Continuing involvement’ for servicing contracts and offsetting disclosures in condensed

interim financial statements under IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures;

 Discount rate in a regional market sharing the same currency under IAS 19 Employee

Benefits;

 Disclosure of information ‘elsewhere in the interim financial report’ under IAS 34 Interim

Financial Reporting;

The Corporation adopted these amendments in its financial statements for the annual period beginning on
January 1, 2016. The amendments did not have a material impact on the financial statements.

6. Accounts receivable

2016 2015

Trade receivables $ 5,113,712 $ 3,807,167
Billable work 731,834 1,045,750

$ 5,845,546 $ 4,852,917

7. Materials and supplies

Amounts written down due to obsolescence in 2016  was nil (2015 - nil).

8. Investments

The Corporation holds 1,812 Common shares of Sunlife Financial with a fair value at December 31, 2016
of $25,584 (2015 - $21,415).
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9. Property, plant and equipment

Land and Distribution Other fixed Construction
buildings equipment assets in progress Total

Cost or deemed cost
Balance at Jan. 1, 2016 $ 220,945 $ 32,390,048 $ 2,561,581 $ 1,198,503 $ 36,371,077

Additions 74,506 18,638 811,014 3,452,345 4,356,503
Transfers - 3,660,256 - (3,660,256) -
Disposals/retirements - (853,930) (487,093) - (1,341,023)

Balance at Dec. 31, 2016 $ 295,451 $ 35,215,012 $ 2,885,502 $ 990,592 $ 39,386,557

Balance at Jan. 1, 2015 $ 220,945 $ 28,712,833 $ 2,077,928 $ 701,998 $ 31,713,704
Additions - 3,238,593 608,981 1,198,503 5,046,077
Transfers - 701,998 - (701,998) -
Disposals/retirements - (263,376) (125,328) - (388,704)

Balance at Dec. 31, 2015 $ 220,945 $ 32,390,048 $ 2,561,581 $ 1,198,503 $ 36,371,077

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at Jan. 1, 2016 $ 6,520 $ 1,860,523 $ 424,093 $ - $ 2,291,136

Depreciation 3,260 1,226,879 372,064 - 1,602,203
Disposals/retirements - (853,930) (487,093) - (1,341,023)

Balance at Dec. 31, 2016, $ 9,780 $ 2,233,472 $ 309,064 $ - $ 2,552,316

Balance at Jan. 1, 2015 $ 3,260 $ 934,267 $ 278,988 $ - $ 1,216,515
Depreciation 3,260 1,147,220 270,432 - 1,420,912
Disposals/retirements - (220,964) (125,327) - (346,291)

Balance at Dec. 31, 2015, $ 6,520 $ 1,860,523 $ 424,093 $ - $ 2,291,136

Carrying amounts
At December 31, 2016 $ 285,671 $ 32,981,540 $ 2,576,438 $ 990,592 $ 36,834,241
At December 31, 2015 214,425 30,529,525 2,137,488 1,198,503 34,079,941

The Corporation leases equipment under a number of finance agreements.  The leased equipment
secures the lease obligations (see note 15).  At December 31, 2016, the net carrying amount of leased
equipment was $936,592 (2015 - $700,940).

At December 31, 2016 all current and future personal property carrying amount of $36,834,241 (2015 -
$34,079,941) are subject to a general security agreement.

During the year, borrowing costs of nil (2015 - nil) were capitalized as part of property, plant and
equipment.

PP&E and intangible asset purchase commitments outstanding as at December 31, 2016 are nil (2015 -
$335,995). 
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10. Intangible assets
Computer Land
software rights Goodwill Total

Cost or deemed cost
Balance at Jan. 1, 2016 $ 708,510 $ 43,879 $ 76,667 $ 829,056
Additions 27,000 1,800 - 28,800
Balance at Dec. 31, 2016 $ 735,510 $ 45,679 $ 76,667 $ 857,856

Balance at Jan. 1, 2015 $ 540,150 $ 43,879 $ 76,667 $ 660,696
Additions 168,360 - - 168,360
Balance at Dec. 31, 2015 $ 708,510 $ 43,879 $ 76,667 $ 829,056

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at Jan. 1, 2016 $ 231,206 $ - $ - $ 231,206
Depreciation 139,055 - - 139,055
Balance at Dec. 31, 2016 $ 370,261 $ - $ - $ 370,261

Balance at Jan. 1, 2015 $ 107,619 $ - $ - $ 107,619
Depreciation 123,587 - - 123,587
Balance at Dec. 31, 2015 $ 231,206 $ - $ - $ 231,206

Carrying amounts
At December 31, 2016 $ 365,249 $ 45,679 $ 76,667 $ 487,595
At December 31, 2015 477,304 43,879 76,667 597,850

11. Income tax expense

Income tax expense
2016 2015

Current tax $ 35,000 $ 28,000
Deferred tax 268,000 236,000

303,000 264,000
Net movement in regulatory balances (268,000) (236,000)

$ 35,000 $ 28,000

Reconciliation of effective tax rate
2016 2015

Income before taxes 1,116,503 982,914
Canada and Ontario statutory Income tax rates %26.5 %26.5

Expected tax provision on income at statutory rates 296,000 260,000
Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:

Permanent difference 2,000 3,000
Recognized deductible temporary differences due to/from

customers (268,000) (236,000)
Other 5,000 1,000

Income tax expense $ 35,000 $ 28,000
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11. Income tax expense (continued)

Significant components of the Corporation's deferred tax balances

2016 2015
Deferred tax assets (liabilities):

Property, plant and equipment $ (477,000) $ (209,000)
Cumulative eligible capital 42,000 47,000
Post-employment benefits 211,000 220,000
Other (7,000) (21,000)

$ (231,000) $ 37,000

12. Regulatory balances

Reconciliation of the carrying amount for each class of regulatory balances

January 1, Recovery/ December 31,
2016 Additions reversal 2016

Regulatory deferral account debit balances
Regulatory assets account $ 5,258,906 $ (61,617) $ 270,339 $ 5,467,628
PILS regulatory adjustment 308,044 - (308,044) -
Regulatory settlement  account 439,251 3,148,848 (1,772,569) 1,815,530
Smart meters (3,423) - 3,423 -
Stranded meters 9,773 - (9,773) -
LRAM 86,166 148,000 100,834 335,000
Other regulatory accounts 56,220 29,330 (725) 84,825
Deferred income tax - 231,000 - 231,000

$ 6,154,937 $ 3,495,561 $ (1,716,515) $ 7,933,983

Regulatory settlement account debit balances have a remaining recovery of 1 year.  The remaining deferral debit
balances have not yet been submitted to the OEB for recovery.

January 1, Recovery/ December 31, 
2015 Additions reversal 2015

Regulatory deferral account debit balances
Regulatory assets account $ 4,788,507 $ (1,751,904) $ 2,222,303 $ 5,258,906
PILS regulatory adjustment 118,153 - 189,891 308,044
Regulatory settlement account 55,988 1,388,982 (1,005,719) 439,251
Smart meters 13,728 (11,744) (5,407) (3,423)
Stranded meters 9,810 - (37) 9,773
LRAM - 185,977 (99,811) 86,166
Other regulatory accounts 231 55,989 - 56,220

$ 4,986,417 $ (132,700) $ 1,301,220 $ 6,154,937

All regulatory deferral account debit balances have a remaining recovery reversal of 2 years.
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12. Regulatory balances (continued)

January 1, Recovery/ December 31,
2016 Additions reversal 2016

Regulatory deferral account credit balances
Regulatory liability account $ 2,181,044 $ (3,059,457) $ 4,781,268 $ 3,902,855
Regulatory settlement account 331,527 - (331,527) -
MIFRS regulatory adjustments 962,819 (287,779) - 675,040
Other regulatory accounts 13,296 - (1,296) 12,000
Deferred income tax 37,000 - (37,000) -

$ 3,525,686 $ (3,347,236) $ 4,411,445 $ 4,589,895

The regulatory deferral credit balances have not yet been submitted to the OEB for recovery.

January 1, Recovery/ December 31, 
2015 Additions reversal 2015

Regulatory deferral account credit balances
Regulatory liability account $ 1,852,982 $ (1,893,434) $ 2,221,496 $ 2,181,044
Regulatory settlement account 122,799 - 208,728 331,527
MIFRS regulatory adjustments 758,465 204,354 - 962,819
LRAM disposition 67,181 - (67,181) -
Other regulatory accounts 45,698 - (32,402) 13,296
Deferred income tax 273,000 - (236,000) 37,000

$ 3,120,125 $ (1,689,080) $ 2,094,641 $ 3,525,686

All regulatory deferral account credit balances have a remaining recovery reversal of 2 years.

The regulatory balances are recovered or settled through rates approved by the OEB which are
determined using estimates of future consumption of electricity by its customers.  Future consumption is
impacted by various factors including the economy and weather.  The Corporation has received approval
from the OEB to establish its regulatory balances.

Settlement of the Group 1 deferral accounts is done on an annual basis through application to the OEB.
An application has been made to the OEB to recover $39,783 of the Group 1 deferral accounts.  These
balances do not produce material rates for most customer classes at this time and as such will not be
disposed until the next application.

The OEB requires the Corporation to estimate its income taxes when it files a COS application to set its
rates.  As a result, the Corporation has recognized a regulatory deferral account for the amount of
deferred taxes that will ultimately be paid back to its customers.  This balance will fluctuate as the
Corporation's deferred tax balance fluctuates.

Regulatory balances attract interest at OEB prescribed rates, which are based on Bankers Acceptances
three-month rate plus a spread of 25 basis points.  In 2016, the rate was 1.10%.

13. Demand operating loan

Through a mirror banking agreement with its parent Company the Corporation has available to its use a
$10,000,000 revolving line of credit.  The Corporation provides a guarantee on this facility, as outlined in
note 24.

14. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
2016 2015

Trade payables $ 10,843,802 $ 8,275,375
Payroll payables 105,243 98,001

$ 10,949,045 $ 8,373,376
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15. Long-term debt

   2016         2015

Demand note (a) $ 10,000,000 $ 10,000,000
Shareholder notes (b) 8,038,524 8,038,524
Shareholder demand notes (c) 2,083,391 2,083,391
Finance lease obligation (d) 811,488 289,759

20,933,403 20,411,674
Less: current portion 192,612 108,049

$ 20,740,791 $ 20,303,625

(a) Demand note

The Corporation has a demand promissory note payable to ERTH Corporation for $10,000,000 (2015 -
$10,000,000) which bears interest at 7.25%.  This note is unsecured.  There are no fixed repayments
terms associated with the principal outstanding and no principal is anticipated to be paid over the next
thirteen months.  

(b) Shareholder notes

The shareholder notes represents amounts owing to the municipal shareholders of ERTH Corporation
for purchase of the respective Municipality's Hydro Electric Commission's net assets.  The rate of
interest is currently 7.25% and is set by the Board of Directors, from time to time.  There are no fixed
repayment terms associated with the principal outstanding and no principal is anticipated to be paid
over the next thirteen months. The loan is secured by a second position General Security Agreement
covering accounts receivable, inventory and equipment, including motor vehicles.

The amounts owing to the municipalities are as follows:
2016 2015

Aylmer $ 1,694,863 $ 1,694,863
Central Elgin 806,436 806,436
East-Zorra Tavistock 569,073 569,073
Ingersoll 3,402,080 3,402,080
Norwich 763,755 763,755
South-west Oxford 192,062 192,062
Zorra 610,255 610,255

$ 8,038,524 $ 8,038,524

(c) Shareholder demand notes

The Corporation has a demand promissory note payable to the Municipality of West Perth for $900,000
(2015 - $ 900,000 ) which bears interest at 7.25% (2015 - 7%).  Interest is payable in quarterly
installments of $5,250.  This note is unsecured.  During the year, the terms were renegotiated such
that there are no fixed repayment terms associated with the principal outstanding and no principal is
anticipated to be paid over the next thirteen months.

The Corporation has a second demand promissory note payable to the Municipality of West Perth for
$1,183,391 (2015 - $1,183,391) which bears interest at 7.25%.  There are no fixed terms of
repayment.  This note is unsecured.  During the year, the terms were renegotiated such that there are
no fixed repayment terms associated with the principal outstanding and no principal is anticipated to be
paid over the next thirteen months.
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15. Long-term debt (continued)

(d) Finance lease obligations

Less than Between one and More than
one year five years five years Total

Future minimum lease payments
2016 $ 218,962 $ 668,979 $ - $ 887,941
2015 121,872 190,628 - 312,500

Interest
2016 $ 26,350 $ 50,103 $ - $ 76,453
2015 13,823 8,918 - 22,741

Present value of minimum lease payments
2016 $ 192,612 $ 618,876 $ - $ 811,488
2015 108,049 181,710 - 289,759

16. Post-employment benefits

(a) OMERS pension plan

The Corporation provides a pension plan for its employees through OMERS.  The plan is a multi-
employer, contributory defined pension plan with equal contributions by the employer and its
employees.  In 2016, the Corporation made employer contributions of $403,239 to OMERS (2015 -
$410,667).

As at December 31, 2016, OMERS had approximately 470,000 members, of whom 47 are current
employees of the Corporation.  The most recently available OMERS annual report is for the year ended
December 31, 2016, which reported that the plan was 93.4% funded, with an unfunded liability of $5.7
billion.  This unfunded liability is likely to result in future payments by participating employers and
members.

(b) Post-employment benefits other than pension

The Corporation pays certain medical and life insurance benefits on behalf of some of its retired
employees.  The Corporation recognizes these post-employment benefits in the year in which
employees' services were rendered.  The Corporation is recovering its post-employment benefits in
rates based on the expenses and remeasurements recognize for post-employment benefit plans.

Reconciliation of the obligation
2016 2015

Defined benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 829,100 $ 794,900
Included in profit or loss

Current service cost 27,100 26,100
Interest cost 32,600 31,300

888,800 852,300
Included in OCI

Actuarial gains arising from:
Changes in experience (28,300) (500)
Changes in demographic assumptions (11,900) -
Changes in financial assumptions (27,600) -

821,000 851,800
Benefits paid 23,900 22,700
Defined benefit obligation, end of year $ 797,100 $ 829,100
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16. Post-employment benefits (continued)

Actuarial assumptions
2016 2015

Discount rate 4.00% 4.00%
Salary levels 2.00% 2.50%
Medical costs 7.00% 8.00%
Dental costs 4.00% 4.50%

A 1% increase in the assumed discount rate would result in the defined benefit obligation decreasing
by $144,400 decrease in the assumed discount rate would result in the defined benefits obligation
increasing by $144,400.

17. Share capital

Authorized
Unlimited number of common shares

2016 2015

Issued capital
10,000  Common shares $ 10,855,585 $ 10,855,585

(a) Dividends

The holders of the common shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time.

The Corporation paid aggregate dividends in the year on common shares of nil per share (2015 -
$200), which amount to total dividends paid of nil during 2016 (2015 - $2,000,000).

18. Other revenue
2016 2015

Service $ 504,862 $ 454,037
Contributions received from customers 28,635 19,080

$ 533,497 $ 473,117

19. Employee salaries and benefits
2016 2015

Salaries, wages and benefits $ 2,566,071 $ 2,727,121
CPP and EI remittances 177,206 166,034
Contributions to OMERS 403,239 410,667
Post-employment benefit plans 35,800 34,700

$ 3,182,316 $ 3,338,522

The presentation of the comparative amounts has been reclassified to conform with the current year
presentation which resulted in an increase of $132,777 to salaries, wages and benefits and a respective
decrease to operating expenses.
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ERIE THAMES POWERLINES CORPORATION
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

20. Operating expenses
2016 2015

Contracting and consulting $ 425,567 $ 245,273
Materials and supplies 712,397 780,105
Vehicle recovery (141,306) (190,810)
Billing and collecting 706,184 822,342
Office administration 1,283,773 954,063
Community relations 150,231 131,404
Loss (gain) on sale of equipment (61,534) 20,829
Other 82,737 89,685

$ 3,158,049 $ 2,852,891

The presentation of the comparative amounts has been reclassified to conform with the current year
presentation which resulted in a decrease of $65,586 to contracting and consulting, $521,151 to
vehicles, $9,321 to office administration and an increase of $331,376 to materials and supplies,
$131,404 to community relations and $132,777 to employee, wages and benefits.

21. Finance costs
2016 2015

Finance costs
Interest expense on long-term debt 758,000 554,732
Shareholder interest 733,276 733,276
Interest expense on customer deposits (15,599) 1,821
Overdraft and other bank charges 83,696 30,899

Finance costs recognized in profit or loss $ 1,559,373 $ 1,320,728

The presentation of the comparative amounts has been reclassified to conform with the current year
presentation which resulted in a $20,673 movement from interest expense on long-term debt to overdraft
and other bank charges.

22. Customer deposits

The  presentation of the comparative amounts has been reclassified to account for commercial deposits
which can be held for up to seven years for customers with a good payment history as well as customer
deposits which are not anticipated to be refunded in the next twelve months.

23. Commitments and contingencies

General

From time to time, the Corporation is involved in various litigation matters arising in the ordinary course of
its business. The Corporation has no reason to believe that the disposition of any such current matter
could reasonably be expected to have a materially adverse impact on the Corporation’s financial position,
results of operations or its ability to carry on any of its business activities.

General Liability Insurance

The Corporation is a member of the Municipal Electric Association Reciprocal Insurance Exchange
(MEARIE).  MEARIE is a pooling of public liability insurance risks of many of the LDCs in Ontario.  All
members of the pool are subjected to assessment for losses experienced by the pool for the years in
which they were members, on a pro-rata basis based on the total of their respective service revenues.  As
at December 31, 2016, no assessments have been made.
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ERIE THAMES POWERLINES CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

24. Guarantee

The Corporation has guaranteed the operating and term loans of its parent Company ERTH Corporation
up to 25% of the Corporations equity or $3,386,272.  The loans are secured by a General Security
Agreement covering all assets of the Corporation and a pledge of the shares of the Corporation.  As the
Corporation does not expect to be in a position where it would need to honour this guarantee in the
foreseeable future, no liability has been recorded in these financial statements.

25. Operating leases

The Corporation is committed to lease agreements for various vehicles and equipment.

The future minimum non-cancelable annual lease payments are as follows:

2016 2015

Less than one year $ 59,686 $ 43,629
Between one and five years 70,299 25,480
More than five years - -

$ 129,985 $ 69,109

During the year ended December 31, 2016 an expense of $73,285 (2015 - $59,833) was recognized in
operating expenses in the statement of comprehensive income in respect of operating leases.

26. Related party transactions

(a) Shareholders and ultimate controlling party

The sole shareholder of the Corporation is ERTH Corporation, which in turn is wholly-owned by eight
municipalities Alymer, Central Elgin, East-Zorra-Tavistock, Ingersoll, Norwich, South-West Oxford,
Zorra and West Perth.

(b) Companies under common control

ERTH Corporation owns 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of ERTH Limited. 

ERTH Business Technologies Inc., ERTH (Holdings) Inc. and J-Mar Line Maintenance Inc. are wholly-
owned subsidiaries of ERTH Limited.

(c) Outstanding balances with related parties

The following represent due from/to in the normal course of operations:

2016 2015
Due from:

ERTH Corporation $ 30,381 $ 25,484
ERTH (Holdings) Inc. 44,164 71,544
ERTH Business Technologies Inc. 2,320 129
J-Mar Line Maintenance Inc. 64,948 -

$ 141,813 $ 97,157

2016 2015
Due to:

ERTH Corporation $ 52,446 $ 588,753
ERTH (Holdings) Inc 78,742 96,105
Town of Aylmer 219,890 218,263

$ 351,078 $ 903,121
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ERIE THAMES POWERLINES CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

26. Related party transactions (continued)

(c) Outstanding balances with related parties

The transactions between the Corporation and its related parties are measured at the exchange
amount, which is the amount of consideration paid or received as established and agreed to by the
related parties, unless otherwise noted.

The Corporation has contracted ERTH (Holdings) Inc. and ERTH Business Technologies Inc., to
provide maintenance and upgrades to the existing capital infrastructure of the Corporation and
administrative services.

(d) Transactions with parent 

The Corporation has a contract with ERTH Corporation, the parent company, for management services
and rental of facilities used by the Corporation.

During the year, the Corporation paid management services, consulting services and rental fees to its
parent in the amount of $1,078,000, $200,000 and $210,500 respectively (2015 - $1,032,069,
$222,281 and $212,820).  The Corporation also charged its parent company $155,040 (2015 -
$108,721) for operations and administrative services.

(e) Transactions with companies under common control 

During the year, the Corporation had the following transactions with related parties as follows:

 sold operations and administration services of $2,768 (2015 - nil) to ERTH Business

Technologies Inc.

 purchased capitalized items of $64,901 (2015 - $12,465) and operations, administration services

of $2,642 (2015 - nil), sold operations, administration services of $7,032 (2015 - nil) and sold

capital equipment of $29,589 (2015 – $12,000) to J-Mar Line Maintenance Inc.

 purchased capitalized items of $275,405 (2015 - $65,733), operations, maintenance and

administration services of $800,011 (2015 - $524,710), sold operations, maintenance and

admission services of $438,576 (2015 - $327,766) and sold capital assets of nil (2015 - $5,000)

to ERTH (Holdings) Inc.

In the ordinary course of business, the Corporation delivers electricity to ERTH (Holdings) Inc.
Electricity is billed to ERTH (Holdings) Inc. at prices and under terms approved by the OEB, if
applicable.

(f) Transactions with ultimate parents 

The Corporation delivers electricity to the eight municipalities throughout the year for the electricity
needs of the municipalities and their related organizations.  Electricity delivery charges are at prices
under terms approved by the OEB.  The Corporation also provides additional services to the
Municipality or Norwich, the Town of Aylmer and the Town of Ingersoll for water and waste water billing
and customer care services.

The Municipality of West Perth charges the Corporation for tree trimming and annual rent.
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27. Financial instruments and risk management

Fair value disclosure

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, unbilled revenue, due from/to
related parties and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair value because of the short
maturity of these instruments.  The carrying value of the customer deposits approximates fair value
because the amounts are payable on demand.

The fair value of the long-term debt at December 31, 2016 is $19,248,053 (2015 - $19,248,053).  The fair
value is calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at
the current rate of interest at the reporting date.  The interest rate used to calculate fair value at December
31, 2016 was 4.54% (2015 - 4.54%).

The fair value of available for sale financial assets is based on the closing value of the equity in the
publicly traded markets.

Financial risks

The Corporation understands the risks inherent in its business and defines them broadly as anything that
could impact its ability to achieve its strategic objectives.  The Corporation's exposure to a variety of risks
such as credit risk, interest rate risk, and liquidity risk, as well as related mitigation strategies are
discussed below.

(a) Credit risk

Financial assets carry credit risk that a counterparty will fail to discharge an obligation which could
result in a financial loss.  Financial assets held by the Corporation, such as accounts receivable,
expose it to credit risk.  The Corporation earns its revenue from a broad base of customers located in
the municipalities of Aylmer, Central Elgin, East-Zorra Tavistock, Ingersoll, Norwich, South-West
Oxford, Zorra and West Perth. As a result, the Corporation did not earn a significant amount of
revenue from any one individual customer.

The carrying amount of accounts receivable is reduced through the use of an allowance for impairment
and the amount of the related impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss.  Subsequent recoveries of
receivables previously provisioned are credited to profit or loss.  The balance of the allowance for
impairment at December 31, 2016 is $837,820 (2015 - $804,806).  An impairment loss of $26,204
(2015 - $87,793) was recognized during the year.

The Corporation's credit risk associated with accounts receivable is primarily related to payments from
distribution customers.  At December 31, 2016, approximately $181,221 (2015 - $174,806) is
considered 60 days past due.  The Corporation has over 18,000 customers, the majority of whom are
residential.  Credit risk is managed through collection of security deposits from customers in
accordance with directions provided by the OEB.  As at December 31, 2016, the Corporation holds
security deposits in the amount of $952,081 (2015 - $760,379).
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27. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

(b) Market risk

Market risks primarily refer to the risk of loss resulting from changes in commodity prices, foreign
exchange rates, and interest rates.  The Corporation currently does not have any material commodity
or foreign exchange risk.  The Corporation is exposed to fluctuations in interest rates as the regulated
rate of return for the Corporation's distribution business is derived using a complex formulaic approach
which is in part based on the forecast for long-term Government of Canada bond yields.  This rate of
return is approved by the OEB as part of the approval of distribution rates.

The Corporation minimizes interest rate risk by issuing long-term fixed rate debt.

(c) Liquidity risk

The Corporation monitors its liquidity risk to ensure access to sufficient funds to meet operational and
investing requirements.  The Corporation's objective is to ensure that sufficient liquidity is on hand to
meet obligations as they fall due while minimizing interest exposure.  The Corporation has access to a
$37 million credit facility and monitors cash balances daily to ensure that a sufficient level of liquidity is
on hand to meet financial commitments as they become due.  As at December 31, 2016, $31 million
has been drawn under the Corporation's credit facility.

The Corporation also has a bilateral facility for $2.3 million for the purpose of issuing letters of credit
mainly to support the prudential requirements of the IESO, of which $2,246,667 has been drawn and
posted with the IESO (2015 - $2,246,667).

The majority of accounts payable, as reported on the statement of financial position, are due within 30
days.

(d) Capital disclosures

The main objectives of the Corporation, when managing capital, are to ensure ongoing access to
funding to maintain and improve the electricity distribution system, compliance with covenants related
to its credit facilities, prudent management of its capital structure with regard for recoveries of financing
charges permitted by the OEB on its regulated electricity distribution business, and to deliver the
appropriate financial returns.

The Corporation's definition of capital includes shareholder's equity and long-term debt.  As at
December 31, 2016, shareholder's equity amounts to $14,626,592 (2015 - $13,545,089) and long-term
debt amounts to $10,740,791 (2015- $10,303,625).
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 
To the Shareholder of Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation (the 
“Entity”), which comprise the statements of financial position as at December 31, 2015, December 31, 2014 
and January 1, 2014, the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the 
years ended December 31, 2015, and December 31, 2014, and notes, comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted 
our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the  financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Erie 
Thames Powerlines Corporation as at December 31, 2015, December 31, 2014 and January 1, 2014, and 
its financial performance and its cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2015, and December 31, 
2014 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 
April 28, 2016 
London, Canada 
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ERIE THAMES POWERLINES CORPORATION 
Statements of Financial Position 
  December 31,  December 31, January 1, 
  Note 2015 2014 2014 

Assets 
Current assets 

Accounts receivable 5 $     4,852,917  $    5,056,532  $    7,928,600 
Materials and supplies 6  86,525  169,979  96,769 
Due from related parties 24  97,157  48,371  47,387 
Unbilled revenue   5,616,740  4,959,235  4,376,148 
Payments in lieu of income taxes  
 receivable   204,555  ---  190 
Prepaid expenses   82,070  112,967  122,226 

Total current assets   10,939,964  10,347,084  12,571,320 

Non-current assets  
Property, plant and equipment  8  34,079,941  30,497,189  28,066,972 
Intangible assets 9  597,851  553,077  523,138 
Investment 7  21,415  20,805  18,621 
Deferred tax assets 10  37,000  273,000  423,000 

Total non-current assets   34,736,207  31,344,071  29,031,731 
Total assets   45,676,171  41,691,155  41,603,051 

Regulatory balances  11  6,154,937  4,986,417  3,638,451 
Total assets and regulatory balances   $ 51,831,108 $ 46,677,572 $ 45,241,502 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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ERIE THAMES POWERLINES CORPORATION 
Statements of Comprehensive Income 
Year ended December 31, 2015, with comparative information for 2014 
   Note 2015 2014 

Revenue 
Sale of energy  $ 53,673,716 $ 47,432,029 
Distribution revenue  9,790,667 9,620,820 
Other 17 473,117 456,919 

   63,937,500 57,509,768 

Operating expenses  
Cost of power purchased  54,426,015 50,909,215 
Employee salaries and benefits 18 3,205,747 3,116,586 
Operating expenses 19 2,985,667 2,569,402 
Depreciation and amortization  1,544,499 1,474,236 

   62,161,928 58,069,439 
Income from operating activities  1,775,573 (559,671) 
Finance income 20 ---  22,712 
Finance costs 20 1,320,728 1,389,801 
Income before income taxes  454,845 (1,926,760) 
Income tax expense 10 264,000 397,000 
Net income for the year  190,845 (2,323,760) 

Net movement in regulatory balances, net of tax  11 762,959 3,522,280 
Net income for the year and net movement  

in regulatory balances   953,804 1,198,520 

Other comprehensive income   
Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss: 
 Change in fair value of investments  610 2,184 
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: 
 Remeasurements of post-employment benefits 15 500 (114,100) 
 Tax on remeasurements 10 --- 31,000 
 Net movement in regulatory balances, net of tax  11 --- (31,000) 

Other comprehensive income for the year  1,110  (111,916) 
Total comprehensive income for the year  $ 954,914 $ 1,086,604 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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ERIE THAMES POWERLINES CORPORATION 
Statements of Changes in Equity 
Year ended December 31, 2015, with comparative information for 2014 
      Accumulated  

    other  
    comprehensive 

  Share Retained income   
      capital earnings (loss) Total 

Balance at January 1, 2014   $10,855,585 $2,647,986 $ --- $13,503,571 
Net income and net movement 

in regulatory balances     ---   1,198,520  ---  1,198,520 
Other comprehensive loss     ---  ---  (111,916)  (111,916) 
Balance at December 31, 2014     $10,855,585 $3,846,506 $(111,916) $14,590,175 

Balance at January 1, 2015   $10,855,585 $3,846,506 $(111,916) $ 14,590,175 
Net income and net movement 
 in regulatory balances     ---      953,804  ---  953,804 
Other comprehensive income    ---  ---  1,110  1,110 
Dividends    --- (2,000,000)  ---  (2,000,000) 
Balance at December 31, 2015   $10,855,585 $2,800,310 $(110,806) $ 13,545,089 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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ERIE THAMES POWERLINES CORPORATION  
Statements of Cash Flows 
Year ended December 31, 2015, with comparative information for 2014 
  2015 2014 

Operating activities 
Net Income and net movement in regulatory balances  $ 953,804 $ 1,198,520 
Adjustments for:  

Depreciation and amortization 1,544,499 1,474,236 
Amortization of deferred revenue (19,080) (6,758) 
Post-employment benefits 34,700 30,600 
Losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment  20,829 9,843 
Net finance costs 1,320,728 1,367,089 
Income tax expense 264,000 397,000 
  4,119,480 4,470,530 

Change in non-cash operating working capital: 
Accounts receivable  203,616 2,872,068 
Due to/from related parties (82,952) 293,493 
Unbilled revenue (657,507) (583,086) 
Materials and supplies 83,454 (73,210) 
Prepaid expenses 30,897 9,259 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (979,944) 1,747,576 
Customer deposits 7,822 93,972 
  (1,394,614) 4,360,262 

Regulatory balances (762,959) (3,522,280) 
Income tax paid (398,250) (50,305) 
Net cash from operating activities 1,563,657 5,258,207 

Investing activities 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (5,046,075) (3,828,618) 
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 21,583 21,939 
Purchase of intangible assets (168,361) (137,557) 
Contributions received from customers 781,458 784,964 
Net cash used by investing activities (4,411,395) (3,159,272) 

Financing activities 
Dividends paid (2,000,000) --- 
Interest paid (1,320,728) (1,389,801) 
Interest received --- 22,712 
Proceeds from long-term debt 10,000,000 --- 
Repayment of long-term debt    (115,596) (109,823) 
Net cash from financing activities 6,563,676 (1,476,912) 

Change in bank indebtedness 3,715,938 622,023 
Bank indebtedness, beginning of year (5,411,329) (6,033,352) 
Bank indebtedness, end of year $ (1,695,391) $ (5,411,329) 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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1. Reporting entity 

Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation (the “Corporation”) is a rate regulated, municipally owned 
hydro distribution company incorporated under the laws of Ontario, Canada.  The Corporation is 
located in the Town of Ingersoll.  The address of the Corporation’s registered office is 143 Bell 
Street, PO Box 157 Ingersoll ON (Canada) N5C 3K5. 

The Corporation delivers electricity and related energy services to residential and commercial 
customers in Aylmer, Beachville, Belmont, Burgessville, Embro, Ingersoll, Norwich, Otterville, 
Port Stanley, Tavistock, Thamesford, Clinton, Mitchell and Dublin.  The Corporation is wholly 
owned by ERTH Corporation who is wholly owned by the following eight municipalities, each of 
whom has one voting common share: Aylmer, Central Elgin, East-Zorra Tavistock, Ingersoll, 
Norwich, South-West Oxford, Zorra and West Perth. 

The financial statements are for the Corporation as at and for the year ended December 31, 
2015.   

2. Basis of presentation 

(a) Statement of compliance 

The Corporation's financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"). 

(b) Adoption of IFRS 

These are the Corporation’s first financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS and 
IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards has been applied. 
An explanation of how the transition to IFRS has affected the reported financial position, 
financial performance and cash flows of the Corporation is provided in note 26. 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on April 28, 2016. 

(c) Basis of measurement 

These financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, unless otherwise 
stated. 

(d)  Functional and presentation currency 

These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Corporation's 
functional currency.  All financial information presented in Canadian dollars has been rounded 
to the nearest dollar. 
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8 
     

2. Basis of presentation (continued) 

(e) Use of estimates and judgments 

(i) Assumptions and estimation uncertainty 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting 
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.  Actual results may differ from those 
estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognized in the year in which the estimates are revised and in 
any future years affected. 

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of 
resulting in material adjustment is included in the following notes:  

(i) Note 3(b) – measurement of unbilled revenue 
(ii) Notes 8, 9 – estimation of useful lives of its property, plant and equipment and 

intangible assets 
(iii) Note 11 – recognition and measurement of regulatory balances 
(iv) Note 15 – measurement of defined benefit obligations: key actuarial assumptions 
(v) Note 21 – recognition and measurement of provisions and contingencies 

(ii) Judgements 

Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most 
significant effects on the amounts recognized in the financial statements is included in the 
following notes: 

(i) Note 8 – leases: whether an arrangement contains a lease 

(f)  Rate regulation 

The Corporation is regulated by the Ontario Energy Board (“OEB”), under the authority 
granted by the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998.  Among other things, the OEB has the power 
and responsibility to approve or set rates for the transmission and distribution of electricity, 
providing continued rate protection for electricity consumers in Ontario, and ensuring that 
transmission and distribution companies fulfill obligations to connect and service customers. 
The OEB may also prescribe license requirements and conditions of service to local 
distribution companies (“LDCs”), such as the Corporation, which may include, among other 
things, record keeping, regulatory accounting principles, separation of accounts for distinct 
businesses, and filing and process requirements for rate setting purposes. 

The Corporation is required to bill customers for the debt retirement charge set by the 
province.  The Corporation may file to recover uncollected debt retirement charges from 
Ontario Electricity Financial Corporation (“OEFC”) once each year. 
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2. Basis of presentation (continued) 

(f)   Rate regulation (continued) 

Rate setting 

Distribution revenue 

For the distribution revenue included in sale of energy, the Corporation files a “Cost of 
Service” (“COS”) rate application with the OEB every five years where rates are determined 
through a review of the forecasted annual amount of operating and capital expenditures, debt 
and shareholder’s equity required to support the Corporation’s business.  The Corporation 
estimates electricity usage and the costs to service each customer class to determine the 
appropriate rates to be charged to each customer class.  The COS application is reviewed by 
the OEB and interveners and rates are approved based upon this review, including any 
revisions resulting from that review. 

In the intervening years an Incentive Rate Mechanism application (“IRM”) is filed.  An IRM 
application results in a formulaic adjustment to distribution rates that were set under the last 
COS application.  The previous year’s rates are adjusted for the annual change in the Gross 
Domestic Product Implicit Price Inflator for Final Domestic Demand (“GDP IPI-FDD”) net of a 
productivity factor and a “stretch factor” determined by the relative efficiency of an electricity 
distributor. 

As a licensed distributor, the Corporation is responsible for billing customers for electricity 
generated by third parties and the related costs of providing electricity service, such as 
transmission services and other services provided by third parties.  The Corporation is 
required, pursuant to regulation, to remit such amounts to these third parties, irrespective of 
whether the Corporation ultimately collects these amounts from customers. 

The Corporation last filed a COS application on June 26, 2012 for rates effective January 1, 
2013 to April 30, 2013.  On September 26, 2014 an IRM application was filed with the OEB 
for rates effective May 1, 2015 until April 30, 2016. Within this application the approved GDP 
IPI-FDD is 1.60%, the Corporation’s productivity factor is 0.00% and the stretch factor is 
0.30%, resulting in a net increase of 1.30% to the previous year’s rates. 

Electricity rates 

The OEB sets electricity prices for low-volume consumers twice each year based on an 
estimate of how much it will cost to supply the province with electricity for the next year.  All 
remaining consumers pay the market price for electricity.  The Corporation is billed for the 
cost of the electricity that its customers use and passes this cost on to the customer at cost 
without a mark-up.  
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3. Significant accounting policies 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently in all years presented in 
these financial statements and in preparing the opening IFRS statement of financial position at 
January 1, 2014 for the purpose of the transition to IFRS. 

(a) Financial instruments 

All financial assets are classified as loans and receivables, except for investments which are 
classified as available for sale, and all financial liabilities are classified as other liabilities. 
These financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method less any impairment for the financial assets as described in note 3(f).  
Available for sale assets are subsequently measured at their fair value, with changes in fair 
value recognized in other comprehensive income until the asset is sold.   

The Corporation does not enter into derivative instruments.  Hedge accounting has not been 
used in the preparation of these financial statements. 

(b) Revenue recognition 

 Sale and distribution of electricity 

 Revenue from the sale and distribution of electricity is recognized as the electricity is 
delivered to customers on the basis of cyclical meter readings and estimated customer usage 
since the last meter reading date to the end of the year.  Revenue includes the cost of 
electricity supplied, distribution, and any other regulatory charges. The related cost of power 
is recorded on the basis of power used. 

 For customer billings related to electricity generated by third parties and the related costs of 
providing electricity service, such as transmission services and other services provided by 
third parties, the Corporation has determined that it is acting as a principal for these electricity 
charges and, therefore, has presented electricity revenue on a gross basis. 

 Customer billings for debt retirement charges are recorded on a net basis as the Corporation 
is acting as an agent for this billing stream.  

 Other revenue 

 Revenue earned from the provision of services is recognized as the service is rendered. 

 Certain customers and developers are required to contribute towards the capital cost of 
construction of distribution assets in order to provide ongoing service. Cash contributions are 
recorded as deferred revenue. When an asset other than cash is received as a capital 
contribution, the asset is initially recognized at its fair value, with a corresponding amount 
recognized as deferred revenue. The deferred revenue, which represents the Corporation's 
obligation to continue to provide the customers access to the supply of electricity, is 
amortized to income on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the related asset. 

Government grants and the related performance incentive payments under CDM programs 
are recognized as revenue in the year when there is reasonable assurance that the program 
conditions have been satisfied and the payment will be received. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(c) Materials and supplies 

Materials and supplies, the majority of which is consumed by the Corporation in the provision 
of its services, is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value, with cost being 
determined on an average cost basis, and includes expenditures incurred in acquiring the 
materials and supplies and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and 
condition.  

  (d)  Property, plant and equipment 

Items of property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) used in rate-regulated activities and 
acquired prior to January 1, 2014 are measured at deemed cost established on the transition 
date (see note 26(a)), less accumulated depreciation. All other items of PP&E are measured 
at cost, or, where the item is contributed by customers, its fair value, less accumulated 
depreciation.  

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  The 
cost of self-constructed assets includes contracted services, materials and transportation 
costs, direct labour, overhead costs, borrowing costs and any other costs directly attributable 
to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use. 

Borrowing costs on qualifying assets are capitalized as part of the cost of the asset based 
upon the weighted average cost of debt incurred on the Corporation’s borrowings. Qualifying 
assets are considered to be those that take in excess of 12 months to construct.  

When parts of an item of PP&E have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate 
items (major components) of PP&E. 

When items of PP&E are retired or otherwise disposed of, a gain or loss on disposal is 
determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal, if any, with the carrying amount of the 
item and is included in profit or loss. 

Major spare parts and standby equipment are recognized as items of PP&E.  

The cost of replacing a part of an item of PP&E is recognized in the net book value of the 
item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the 
Corporation and its cost can be measured reliably.  In this event, the replaced part of PP&E is 
written off, and the related gain or loss is included in profit or loss. The costs of the day-to-day 
servicing of PP&E are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. 

The need to estimate the decommissioning costs at the end of the useful lives of certain 
assets is reviewed periodically.  The Corporation has concluded it does not have any legal or 
constructive obligation to remove PP&E.  
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(d) Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of PP&E using the straight-line method 
over their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognized in profit or loss.  Depreciation 
methods, useful lives, and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted 
prospectively if appropriate.  Land is not depreciated.  Construction-in-progress assets are 
not depreciated until the project is complete and the asset is available for use.   

The estimated useful lives are as follows: 
   Years 
Buildings  55 - 60 
Automotive equipment  8 - 10 
Computer equipment  5 - 15 
Services, office and other equipment  5 - 8 
Transmission and distribution system  12 - 60 
 

(e)  Intangible assets  

Intangible assets used in rate-regulated activities and acquired prior to January 1, 2014 are 
measured at deemed cost established on the transition date (see note 26(a)), less 
accumulated amortization.  All other intangible assets are measured at cost. 

Computer software that is acquired or developed by the Corporation after January 1, 2014, 
including software that is not integral to the functionality of equipment purchased which has 
finite useful lives, is measured at cost less accumulated amortization. 

Payments to obtain rights to access land ("land rights") are classified as intangible assets.  
These include payments made for easements, right of access and right of use over land for 
which the Corporation does not hold title.  Land rights are measured at cost less 
accumulated amortization. 

Goodwill represents the excess of cost over fair value of net assets of businesses acquired.  
Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 

Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
lives of intangible assets, from the date that they are available for use.  Amortization 
methods and useful lives of all intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted prospectively if appropriate.  The estimated useful lives are: 

Years 
Computer software 5 - 10 
Land rights indefinite life 
Goodwill  indefinite life 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(f) Impairment 

(i)  Financial assets measured at amortized cost 

 A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 
objective evidence that it is impaired.  A financial asset is considered to be impaired if 
objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the 
estimated future cash flows of that asset. 

 An impairment loss is calculated as the difference between an asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original 
effective interest rate.  Interest on the impaired assets continues to be recognized 
through the unwinding of the discount. Losses are recognized in profit or loss.  An 
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss if the reversal can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized.   

 (ii) Non-financial assets 

 The carrying amounts of the Corporation's non-financial assets, other than materials and 
supplies and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, then the 
asset's recoverable amount is estimated. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest 
group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the "cash-generating 
unit" or “CGU”). The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in 
use and its fair value less costs to sell.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset.  

 The goodwill acquired in a business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, 
is allocated to CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 

 An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds 
its estimated recoverable amount.  Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. 
They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the 
CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a 
prorate basis, if applicable. 

 An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.  For other assets, an 
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 (g) Customer deposits 

Customer deposits represent cash deposits from electricity distribution customers and 
retailers to guarantee the payment of energy bills.  Interest is paid on customer deposits. 

Deposits are refundable to customers who demonstrate an acceptable level of credit risk as 
determined by the Corporation in accordance with policies set out by the OEB or upon 
termination of their electricity distribution service. 

(h) Provisions 

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Corporation has a present legal or 
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.  Provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. 

 (i) Regulatory balances 

Regulatory deferral account debit balances represent costs incurred in excess of amounts 
billed to the customer at OEB approved rates.  Regulatory deferral account credit balances 
represent amounts billed to the customer at OEB approved rates in excess of costs incurred 
by the Corporation.   

Regulatory deferral account debit balances are recognized if it is probable that future billings 
in an amount at least equal to the deferred cost will result from inclusion of that cost in 
allowable costs for rate-making purposes.  The offsetting amount is recognized in net 
movement in regulatory balances in profit or loss or OCI.  When the customer is billed at 
rates approved by the OEB for the recovery of the deferred costs, the customer billings are 
recognized in revenue. The regulatory debit balance is reduced by the amount of these 
customer billings with the offset to net movement in regulatory balances in profit or loss or 
OCI.   

The probability of recovery of the regulatory deferral account debit balances is assessed 
annually based upon the likelihood that the OEB will approve the change in rates to recover 
the balance.  The assessment of likelihood of recovery is based upon previous decisions 
made by the OEB for similar circumstances, policies or guidelines issued by the OEB, etc.  
Any resulting impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss in the year incurred. 

When the Corporation is required to refund amounts to ratepayers in the future, the 
Corporation recognizes a regulatory deferral account credit balance. The offsetting amount is 
recognized in net movement in regulatory balances in profit or loss or OCI.  The amounts 
returned to the customers are recognized as a reduction of revenue. The credit balance is 
reduced by the amount of these customer repayments with the offset to net movement in 
regulatory balances in profit or loss or OCI.   
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
(j) Post-employment benefits 

(i) Pension plan 

The Corporation provides a pension plan for all its full-time employees through Ontario 
Municipal Employees Retirement System (“OMERS”).  OMERS is a multi-employer 
pension plan which operates as the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement Fund (“the 
Fund”), and provides pensions for employees of Ontario municipalities, local boards and 
public utilities. The Fund is a contributory defined benefit pension plan, which is financed 
by equal contributions from participating employers and employees, and by the 
investment earnings of the Fund.  To the extent that the Fund finds itself in an under-
funded position, additional contribution rates may be assessed to participating employers 
and members. 

OMERS is a defined benefit plan. However, as OMERS does not segregate its pension 
asset and liability information by individual employers, there is insufficient information 
available to enable the Corporation to directly account for the plan.  Consequently, the 
plan has been accounted for as a defined contribution plan.  The Corporation is not 
responsible for any other contractual obligations other than the contributions.  Obligations 
for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognized as an employee 
benefit expense in profit or loss when they are due. 

(ii) Post-employment benefits, other than pension 

The Corporation provides some of its retired employees with life insurance and medical 
benefits beyond those provided by government sponsored plans. 

The obligations for these post-employment benefit plans are actuarially determined by 
applying the projected unit credit method and reflect management’s best estimate of 
certain underlying assumptions.  Remeasurements of the net defined benefit obligations, 
including actuarial gains and losses and the return on plan assets (excluding interest), 
are recognized immediately in other comprehensive income.  When the benefits of a plan 
are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating to past service by employees is 
recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

 (k) Leased assets 

Leases, where the terms cause the Corporation to assume substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership, are classified as finance leases. Upon initial recognition, the leased 
asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of 
the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in 
accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. 

All other leases are classified as operating leases and the leased assets are not recognized 
on the Corporation’s statement of financial position. Payments made under operating leases 
are recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(l) Finance income and finance costs 

Finance income is recognized as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest 
method.  Finance income comprises interest earned on cash and cash equivalents and 
dividend income. 

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, finance lease obligations and 
unwinding of the discount on provisions and impairment losses on financial assets. Finance 
costs are recognized in profit or loss unless they are capitalized as part of the cost of 
qualifying assets.  

(m) Income taxes 

The income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is 
recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in 
equity, in which case, it is recognized in equity. 

The Corporation is currently exempt from taxes under the Income Tax Act (Canada) and the 
Ontario Corporations Tax Act (collectively the “Tax Acts”).  Under the Electricity Act, 1998, 
the Corporation makes payments in lieu of corporate taxes to the Ontario Electricity Financial 
Corporation (“OEFC”).  These payments are calculated in accordance with the rules for 
computing taxable income and taxable capital and other relevant amounts contained in the 
Tax Acts as modified by the Electricity Act, 1998, and related regulations.  Prior to October 1, 
2001, the Corporation was not subject to income or capital taxes.  Payments in lieu of taxes 
are referred to as income taxes. 

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss 
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any 
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the tax basis of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for accounting purposes. Deferred tax assets 
are recognized for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which they can be used.  Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be 
applied to temporary differences when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted, at the reporting date. 
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4. Standards issued but not yet adopted 

Future accounting changes 

There are new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations which have not been 
applied in preparing these financial statements.   

a) Annual Improvements to IFRS (2012-2014) cycle.  On September 25, 2014 the IASB 
issued narrow-scope amendments to a total of four standards as part of its annual 
improvements process.  The amendments will apply for annual periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2016. Earlier application is permitted, in which case, the related 
consequential amendments to other IFRSs would also apply.  Each of the amendments 
has its own specific transition requirements. 

Amendments were made to clarify the following in their respective standards: 

• Changes in method for disposal under IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations;  

• ‘Continuing involvement’ for servicing contracts and offsetting disclosures in 
condensed interim financial statements under IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures; 

• Discount rate in a regional market sharing the same currency under IAS 19 
Employee Benefits; 

• Disclosure of information ‘elsewhere in the interim financial report’ under IAS 34 
Interim Financial Reporting; 

The Corporation intends to adopt these amendments in its financial statements for the 
annual period beginning on January 1, 2016. The Corporation does not expect the 
amendments to have a material impact on the financial statements. 

b) Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to IAS 1.  On December 18, 2014 the IASB issued 
amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements as part of its major initiative 
to improve presentation and disclosure in financial reports (the “Disclosure Initiative”).  
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 
Early adoption is permitted. 

These amendments will not require any significant change to current practice, but should 
facilitate improved financial statement disclosures. 

The Corporation intends to adopt these amendments in its financial statements for the 
annual period beginning on January 1, 2016. The extent of the impact of adoption of the 
amendments has not yet been determined. 
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4.  Standards issued but not yet adopted (continued) 

c) On May 28, 2014 the IASB issued IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.  
The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. 
Earlier application is permitted. IFRS 15 will replace IAS 11 Construction Contracts, IAS 
18 Revenue, IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programs, IFRIC 15 Agreements for the 
Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18 Transfer of Assets from Customers, and SIC 31 
Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services. 

The standard contains a single model that applies to contracts with customers and two 
approaches to recognizing revenue: at a point in time or over time. The model features a 
contract-based five-step analysis of transactions to determine whether, how much and 
when revenue is recognized.  New estimates and judgmental thresholds have been 
introduced, which may affect the amount and/or timing of revenue recognized. 

The new standard applies to contracts with customers. It does not apply to insurance 
contracts, financial instruments or lease contracts, which fall in the scope of other IFRSs. 

The Corporation intends to adopt IFRS 15 in its financial statements for the annual period 
beginning on January 1, 2018. The extent of the impact of adoption of the standard has 
not yet been determined. 

d) On July 24, 2014 the IASB issued the complete IFRS 9 (IFRS 9 (2014)).  The mandatory 
effective date of IFRS 9 is for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 and 
must be applied retrospectively with some exemptions. Early adoption is permitted.  The 
restatement of prior periods is not required and is only permitted if information is available 
without the use of hindsight. 

IFRS 9 (2014) introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of 
financial assets. Under IFRS 9 (2014), financial assets are classified and measured 
based on the business model in which they are held and the characteristics of their 
contractual cash flows.  

The standard introduces additional changes relating to financial liabilities.  

It also amends the impairment model by introducing a new ‘expected credit loss’ model 
for calculating impairment. 

IFRS 9 (2014) also includes a new general hedge accounting standard which aligns 
hedge accounting more closely with risk management. This new standard does not 
fundamentally change the types of hedging relationships or the requirement to measure 
and recognize ineffectiveness, however it will provide more hedging strategies that are 
used for risk management to qualify for hedge accounting and introduce more judgment 
to assess the effectiveness of a hedging relationship. 

Special transitional requirements have been set for the application of the new general 
hedging model. 

The Corporation intends to adopt IFRS 9 (2014) in its financial statements for the annual 
period beginning on January 1, 2018. The extent of the impact of adoption of the 
standard has not yet been determined. 
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4.  Standards issued but not yet adopted (continued) 

e) On January 13, 2016 the IASB issued IFRS 16 Leases.  The new standard is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Earlier application is permitted for 
entities that apply IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers at or before the date 
of initial adoption of IFRS 16. IFRS 16 will replace IAS 17 Leases. 

This standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to 
recognize assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless 
the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee is required to recognize a right-of-use asset 
representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its 
obligation to make lease payments. 

This standard substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements of IAS 17, 
while requiring enhanced disclosures to be provided by lessors. 

Other areas of the lease accounting model have been impacted, including the definition 
of a lease. Transitional provisions have been provided. 

The Corporation intends to adopt IFRS 16 in its financial statements for the annual period 
beginning on January 1, 2019. The extent of the impact of adoption of the standard has 
not yet been determined. 

All of the above standards or amendments relate to the measurement and disclosure of financial 
assets and liabilities.  The extent of the impact on adoption of these standards and amendments 
has not yet been determined. 

5. Accounts receivable 

 December 31, December 31, January 1, 
 2015 2014 2014 
 
Trade receivables  $3,807,167 $ 3,708,422 $ 6,959,489 
Billable work   1,045,750  1,348,110  969,111 
 $4,852,917 $ 5,056,532 $ 7,928,600 
 

6. Materials and supplies 

Amount written down due to obsolescence in 2015 was nil (2014 - nil). 

7. Investment 

The Corporation holds 386 Common shares of Sunlife Financial with a fair value of $21,415 at 
December 31, 2015 (2014 - $20,805). 
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8. Property, plant and equipment 

  Land and Distribution Other fixed  Construction  
  buildings equipment assets -in-Progress Total 
 
Cost or deemed cost 
Balance at January 1, 2015  $   220,945 $28,712,833 $ 2,077,928 $  701,998 $ 31,713,704 
Additions  ---     3,940,591       608,981     1,198,503  5,748,075 
Transfers  ---  ---      ---        (701,998)  (701,998) 
Disposals/retirements  ---     (263,376)    (125,328) ---     (388,704) 
Balance at December 31, 2015  $   220,945 $32,390,048  $ 2,561,581 $1,198,503 $ 36,371,077 
 
Balance at January 1, 2014  $  220,945 $24,492,643 $1,871,907 $1,481,477 $ 28,066,972 
Additions  --- 4,359,633 248,463      701,998  5,310,094 
Transfers  --- --- ---     (1,481,477)  (1,481,477) 
Disposals/retirements  --- (139,443) (42,442) --- (181,885) 
Balance at December 31, 2014  $  220,945 $28,712,833 $2,077,928 $  701,998 $ 31,713,704 
 
Accumulated depreciation 
Balance at January 1, 2015  $  3,260 $ 934,267 $278,988 $ --- $ 1,216,515 
Depreciation  3,260 1,147,220        270,432 --- 1,420,912 
Disposals/retirements  --- (220,964) (125,327) --- (346,291) 
Balance at December 31, 2015  $  6,520 $ 1,860,523 $424,093 $ --- $ 2,291,136 
 
Balance at January 1, 2014  $  --- $ --- $ --- $ --- $ --- 
Depreciation  3,260 1,056,064        307,294 ---  1,366,618 
Disposals/retirements  --- (121,797) (28,306) ---  (150,103) 
Balance at December 31, 2014  $  3,260 $ 934,267 $278,988 $ --- $ 1,216,515 
 
Carrying amounts 
At December 31, 2015  $  214,424 $30,529,524 $2,137,488 $1,198,503 $ 34,079,941 
At December 31, 2014  217,685       27,778,566   1,798,940      701,998   30,497,189 
At January 1, 2014  220,945       24,492,643     1,871,907   1,481,477   28,066,972 
 
The Corporation leases equipment under a number of finance lease agreements.  The leased 
equipment secures the lease obligations (see note 14).  At December 31, 2015 the net carrying 
amount of leased equipment was $469,934 thousand (2014 - $457,415). 

During the year, borrowing costs of nil (2014 - nil) were capitalized as part of the cost of property, 
plant and equipment.  

PP&E and intangible asset purchase commitments outstanding as at December 31, 2015 was 
$335,995 (2014 - $379,574). 
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9. Intangible assets 
 

   Computer Land    
   software  rights Goodwill Total 
 
Cost or deemed cost 
Balance at January 1, 2015     $ 540,150 $ 43,879 $ 76,667 $ 660,696 
Additions   168,360 --- --- 168,360 
Balance at December 31, 2015     $ 708,510 $ 43,879 $ 76,667 $ 829,056 
 
Balance at January 1, 2014     $ 402,592 $ 43,879 $ 76,667 $ 523,138 
Additions   137,558 --- --- 137,558 
Balance at December 31, 2014     $ 540,150 $ 43,879 $ 76,667 $ 660,696 
 
Accumulated depreciation 
Balance at January 1, 2015     $ 107,619 $ --- $ --- $ 107,619 
Depreciation   123,587 --- --- 123,587 
Balance at December 31, 2015     $ 231,206 $ --- $ --- $ 231,206 
 
Balance at January 1, 2014     $ --- $ --- $ --- $ --- 
Depreciation        107,619         ---             --- 107,619 
Balance at December 31, 2014     $ 107,619 $ --- $ --- $ 107,619 
 
Carrying amounts 
At December 31, 2015     $ 477,305 $ 43,879 $ 76,667 $ 597,851 
At December 31, 2014      432,531     43,879        76,667    553,077 
At January 1, 2014         402,592      43,879       76,667   523,138 
 

10. Income tax expense 
 
Income tax expense 

  
  2015 2014  
 
Current tax  $ 28,000 $ 216,000 
Deferred tax expense 236,000 181,000 
 264,000 397,000 
Other comprehensive income: 
  Post-employment benefits --- (31,000) 
 264,000 366,000 
Net movement in regularity balances (236,000) (150,000) 
  $    28,000  $ 216,000 
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10. Income tax expense (continued) 
 

Reconciliation of effective tax rate 
 
     2015  2014 
 
Income before taxes $ 982,914 $ 1,302,604 
 
Canada and Ontario statutory Income tax rates      26.5%  26.5% 
 
Expected tax provision on income at statutory rates  260,000  345,000 
Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:  

Permanent differences  3,000  2,000 
Recognized deductible temporary differences  
  due to/from customers  (236,000)  (150,000) 
Other  1,000  19,000 

Income tax expense  $ 28,000 $ 216,000 
 
Significant components of the Corporation’s deferred tax balances 
 
 December 31, December 31, January 1, 
 2015 2014 2014 
 
Deferred tax assets (liabilities): 

Property, plant and equipment $ (209,000) $ 30,000 $ 195,000 
Cumulative eligible capital  47,000  51,000  56,000 
Post-employment benefits  220,000  211,000  172,000 
Deferred revenue  (21,000)  (19,000)  --- 

 $ 37,000 $ 273,000 $ 423,000 
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11. Regulatory balances 

Reconciliation of the carrying amount for each class of regulatory balances 
 
      Remaining  
      recovery/ 
  January 1,   Recovery/ December 31, reversal  
Regulatory deferral account debit balances  2015 Additions reversal 2015 years 
 
Regulatory settlement account  $4,788,507 $(1,751,904)   $ 2,222,303 $5,258,906 2 
PILS regulatory adjustment  118,153 ---          189,891 308,044 2 
Regulatory assets account  55,988         1,388,982     (1,005,719) 439,251 2 
Smart meters  13,728 (11,744)           (5,407) (3,423) 2 
Stranded meters  9,810 ---                 (37) 9,773 2 
LRAM  --- 185,977          (99,811) 86,166 2 
Other regulatory accounts  231 55,989                 (---) 56,220 2 
    $4,986,417 $  (132,700) $  1,301,220 $ 6,154,937   

 
  January 1,    Recovery/ December 31, Remaining  
Regulatory deferral account debit balances  2014 Additions reversal 2014 years 
        

        Regulatory settlement account   $2,300,955 $2,487,552  $      (---)  $4,788,507  2 
PILS regulatory adjustment  --- 118,153 (---) 118,153 2 
Regulatory assets account  7,891 48,097 (---) 55,988 2 
Smart meters  75,511 --- (61,783) 13,728 2 
Stranded meters  414,505 --- (404,695) 9,810 2 
Other regulatory accounts  839,589 (839,358) (---) 231 2 
    $3,638,451 $ 1,814,444 $(466,478) $ 4,986,417  --- 

 
  January 1,    Recovery/ December 31, Remaining  
Regulatory deferral account credit balances  2015 Additions reversal 2015 years 
 
Regulatory settlement account  $1,852,982 $(1,893,434)   $2,221,496 $2,181,044 2 
Regulatory liability account  122,799 ---         208,728 331,527 2 
MIFRS regulatory adjustments  758,465 204,354                (---) 962,819 2 
LRAM disposition  67,181 --- (67,181) --- 2 
Other regulatory accounts  45,698 --- (32,402) 13,296 --- 
Deferred income tax  273,000 ---        (236,000) 37,000 --- 
     $3,120,125 $(1,689,080) $2,094,641 $ 3,525,686   
 
  January 1,    Recovery/ December 31, Remaining  
Regulatory deferral account credit balances  2014 Additions reversal 2014 years 
 
Regulatory settlement account  $3,818,342 $            --- $(1,965,360) $1,852,982 2 
Regulatory liability account  --- 122,799 (---) 122,799 2 
MIFRS regulatory adjustments  611,253 147,212 (---) 758,465 2 
LRAM disposition   67,181 (---) 67,181 2 
Other regulatory accounts  410,844 27,000 (392,146) 45,698 --- 
Deferred income tax  423,000 --- (150,000) 273,000 --- 
    $5,263,439 $ 364,192 $(2,507,506) $ 3,120,125  --- 
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11. Regulatory balances (continued) 

The regulatory balances are recovered or settled through rates approved by the OEB which are 
determined using estimates of future consumption of electricity by its customers.  Future 
consumption is impacted by various factors including the economy and weather.  The Corporation 
has received approval from the OEB to establish its regulatory balances.  

Settlement of the Group 1 deferral accounts is done on an annual basis through application to the 
OEB.  An application has been made to the OEB to recover $3,121,073 of the Group 1 deferral 
accounts.  Approval is pending.  Once approval is received, the approved account balance is 
moved to the regulatory settlement account.  The balance is to be recovered over a period of two 
years.  The OEB requires the Corporation to estimate its income taxes when it files a COS 
application to set its rates.  As a result, the Corporation has recognized a regulatory deferral 
account for the amount of deferred taxes that will ultimately be paid back to its customers.  This 
balance will fluctuate as the Corporation’s deferred tax balance fluctuates.   

Regulatory balances attract interest at OEB prescribed rates, which are based on Bankers' 
Acceptances three-month rate plus a spread of 25 basis points. In 2015 the rate was 1.10%.   

12. Demand operating loan 

Through a mirror banking agreement with its parent Company the Corporation has available to its 
use a $10,000,000 revolving line of credit.  The Corporation provides a guarantee on this facility, 
as outlined in note 21. 

13. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

 December 31, December 31, January 1, 
 2015 2014 2014 

Trade $ 8,275,376 $ 9,105,552 $ 7,326,566 
Payroll 98,001 247,769 279,179 
  $ 8,373,377 $ 9,353,321 $ 7,605,745 
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14. Long-term debt  
 December 31, December 31, January 1, 
 2015 2014 2014 
 
Finance lease obligation $ 289,759 $ 405,355 $ 514,727 
Demand note (a)  10,000,000  ---  --- 
Shareholder notes (b)  8,038,524  8,038,524  8,038,524 
Shareholder demand notes (c)  2,083,391  2,083,391  2,083,391 
Bank loans  ---  ---  451 
   20,411,674  10,527,270  10,637,093 
Less: current portion  108,049   2,199,211  2,192,675 
  $ 20,303,625 $ 8,328,059 $ 8,444,418 

(a) Demand note  

The Corporation has a demand promissory note payable to ERTH Corporation for 
$10,000,000 (2014 - nil) which bears interest at 7.25%.  This note is unsecured.  There are 
no fixed repayment terms associated with the principal outstanding and no principal amounts 
are anticipated to be paid over the next thirteen months. 

(b) Shareholder notes 

The long-term debt represents amounts owing to the municipal shareholders of ERTH 
Corporation for purchase of the respective Municipality's Hydro Electric Commission's net 
assets.  The rate of interest is currently 7.25% and is set by the Board of Directors, from time 
to time.  There are no fixed repayment terms associated with the principal outstanding and no 
principal amounts are anticipated to be paid over the next thirteen months. The loan is 
secured by a second position General Security Agreement covering accounts receivable, 
inventory and equipment, including motor vehicles. 

The amounts owing to the municipalities are as follows: 

 
  2015 2014 
Aylmer $  1,694,863 $  1,694,863 
Central Elgin    806,436  806,436 
East Zorra Tavistock    569,073  569,073 
Ingersoll    3,402,080  3,402,080 
Norwich    763,755  763,755 
Southwest Oxford    192,062  192,062 
Zorra    610,255  610,255 
   $ 8,038,524 $ 8,038,524 
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14. Long-term debt (continued) 

(c) Shareholder demand notes 

The Corporation has a demand promissory note payable to the Municipality of West Perth for 
$900,000 (2014 - $900,000) which bears interest at 7%.  Interest is payable in monthly 
instalments of $5,250.  This note is unsecured.  During the year, the terms were renegotiated 
such that there are no fixed repayment terms associated with the principal outstanding and 
no principal amounts are anticipated to be paid over the next thirteen months. 

The Corporation has a second demand promissory note payable to the Municipality of West 
Perth for $1,183,391 (2014 - $1,183,391) which bears interest at 7.25%.  There are no fixed 
terms of repayment.  This note is unsecured.  During the year, the terms were renegotiated 
such that there are no fixed repayment terms associated with the principal outstanding and 
no principal amounts are anticipated to be paid over the next thirteen months. 

(d) Contractual maturities 

 Less than Between one and  More than five 
 one year five years years            Total 

Future min lease payments   
2015 $121,872 $ 190,628 -   $312,500 
2014  136,241 312,500 -     448,741 
Jan 1, 2014  136,241 448,741 -     584,982 
 
Interest 
2015 $  13,822 $    8,967 -   $  22,741 
2014 20,421  22,965 -       43,386 
Jan 1, 2014 27,408  42,847 -       70,255 
 
Present value of min lease  
Payments 
2015 $108,049 $181,710 -   $289,759 
2014  115,820            289,535 -      405,355 
Jan 1, 2014  108,833            405,894 -     514,727 

 
15. Post-employment benefits 

(a) OMERS pension plan 

The Corporation provides a pension plan for its employees through OMERS.  The plan is a 
multi-employer, contributory defined pension plan with equal contributions by the employer 
and its employees.  In 2015, the Corporation made employer contributions of $410,667 to 
OMERS (2014 - $363,220).  As at December 31, 2015, OMERS had approximately 461,000 
members, of whom 46 are current employees of the Corporation.  The most recently available 
OMERS annual report is for the year ended December 31, 2015, which reported that the plan 
was 91.5% funded, with an unfunded liability of $7 billion. This unfunded liability is likely to 
result in future payments by participating employers and members. 
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15. Post-employment benefits (continued) 
 (b) Post-employment benefits other than pension 

The Corporation pays certain medical and life insurance benefits on behalf of some of its 
retired employees.  The Corporation recognizes these post-employment benefits in the year 
in which employees’ services were rendered.  The Corporation is recovering its post-
employment benefits in rates based on the expense and remeasurements recognized for 
post-employment benefit plans. 

Reconciliation of the obligation   2015 2014 
 
Defined benefit obligation, beginning of year   $ 794,900 $ 650,200 
Included in profit or loss 

Current service cost  26,100 19,800 
Interest cost  31,300 32,100 

   Past service cost  --- --- 
  852,300 702,100 
Included in OCI 

Actuarial (gains) losses arising from: 
      changes in experience  (500) 1,300 
      changes in financial assumptions  --- 112,800 
  (500) 114,100 

 851,800 816,200 
Benefits paid  22,700 21,300 
Defined benefit obligation, end of year   $ 829,100 $ 794,900 

 
Actuarial assumptions  2015 2014 
 
Discount (interest) rate  4.00% 4.00% 
Salary levels  2.50% 2.50% 
Medical Costs 8.00% 8.00% 
Dental Costs 4.50% 4.50% 

 

A 1% increase in the assumed discount rate would result in the defined benefit obligation 
decreasing by $150,900.  A 1% decrease in the assumed discount rate would result in the 
defined benefits obligation increasing by $150,900.   
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16. Share capital 
 
 2015 2014 
 
Authorized: 
 Unlimited number of common shares 
Issued: 

10,000 common shares $10,855,585  $10,855,585 
 
Dividends 

The holders of the common shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to 
time. 

The Corporation paid aggregate dividends in the year on common shares of $200 per share 
(2014 - nil), which amount to total dividends paid of $2,000,000 during 2015 (2014 - nil). 

 
17. Other revenue 
 

 2015 2014 
 
Service $     454,037 $    449,134 
Contributions received from customers      19,080     6,758 
Dividends --- 1,027 
 $ 473,117 $ 456,919 

 
18. Employee salaries and benefits  
 

 2015 2014 
 
Salaries, wages and benefits $ 2,629,047 $ 2,592,483 
CPP and EI remittances  166,033  160,883 
Contributions to OMERS 410,667 363,220 
 $ 3,205,747 $ 3,116,586 
 

19. Operating expenses 
 

 2015 2014 
 
Contract/consulting $ 310,859 $ 224,898 
Materials and supplies  448,729  433,129 
Vehicles  330,341 314,802 
Billing and collecting 822,342 760,321 
Office and administration 963,384 749,749 
Losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment 20,829 9,843 
Other 89,683 76,660 
 $ 2,985,667 $ 2,569,402 
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20. Finance income and costs  
 

 2015 2014 

Finance income 
 Interest income on bank deposits $ --- $ 22,712 

Finance costs 
Interest expense on long-term debt  1,308,681   1,308,400 
Interest expense on customer deposits 1,821 11,963 
Other 10,226 69,438 

  1,320,728 1,389,801 

Net finance costs recognized in profit or loss $ 1,320,728 $ 1,367,089 
 

21. Commitments and contingencies 

Contractual Obligations 

As at December 31, 2015 the Corporation has entered into various purchase agreements to 
acquire a bucket truck in the amount of $335,995 to be paid in 2016. 

General 

From time to time, the Corporation is involved in various litigation matters arising in the ordinary 
course of its business. The Corporation has no reason to believe that the disposition of any such 
current matter could reasonably be expected to have a materially adverse impact on the 
Corporation’s financial position, results of operations or its ability to carry on any of its business 
activities. 

General Liability Insurance 

The Corporation is a member of the Municipal Electric Association Reciprocal Insurance 
Exchange (MEARIE). MEARIE is a pooling of public liability insurance risks of many of the LDCs 
in Ontario. All members of the pool are subjected to assessment for losses experienced by the 
pool for the years in which they were members, on a pro-rata basis based on the total of their 
respective service revenues.  As at December 31, 2015, no assessments have been made. 

22. Guarantees 

The Corporation has guaranteed the operating and term loans of its parent Company ERTH 
Corporation up to 25% of the Corporations equity or $3,386,272.  The loans are secured by a 
General Security Agreement covering all assets of the Corporation and a pledge of the shares of 
the Corporation.  As the Corporation does not expect to be in a position where it would need to 
honour this guarantee in the foreseeable future, no liability has been recorded in these financial 
statements. 
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23. Operating leases 

The Corporation is committed to lease agreements for various vehicles and equipment. 

The future minimum non-cancellable annual lease payments are as follows: 

 December 31, December 31, January 1, 
 2015 2014 2014 
  
Less than one year $ 43,629 $ 59,833 $ 64,674 
Between one and five years  25,480  69,109  128,942 
More than five years  ---  ---  --- 
 $ 69,109 $ 128,942 $ 193,616 

During the year ended December 31, 2015 an expense of $59,833 (2014 - $64,674) was 
recognized in operating expenses in the statement of comprehensive income in respect of 
operating leases. 

24. Related party transactions 

(a) Parent and ultimate controlling party 

The sole shareholder of the Corporation is ERTH Corporation, which in turn is wholly-owned 
by eight municipalities Aylmer, Central Elgin, East-Zorra Tavistock, Ingersoll, Norwich, South-
West Oxford, Zorra and West Perth. 

(b) Companies under common control 

ERTH Corporation owns 100% of the issued and outstanding shares ERTH Limited.  

ERTH Business Technologies Inc., ERTH (Holdings) Inc. and J-Mar Line Maintenance Inc. 
are wholly-owned subsidiaries of ERTH Limited. 

(c)  Outstanding balances with related parties 

The following represents due to/from in the normal course of operations: 

 December 31, December 31, January 1, 
 2015 2014 2014 
Due from: 
  ERTH Corporation $ 25,484 $ 15,242 $ 16,372 
  ERTH (Holdings) Inc.  71,544  32,891  29,811 
  ERTH Business Technologies Inc.  129  131  1,204 
  J-Mar Line Maintenance Inc.  ---  107  --- 
 $ 97,157 $ 48,371 $ 47,387 

 
 December 31, December 31, January 1, 
 2015 2014 2014 
Due to: 
  ERTH Corporation $ 588,753 $ 412,109 $ 109,205 
  ERTH (Holdings) Inc.  96,105  326,019  142,404 
  Municipality of West Perth  ---  ---  204,019 
  Town of Aylmer  218,263  199,159  187,182 
 $ 903,121 $ 937,287 $ 642,810 
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24. Related party transactions (continued) 

(c)  Outstanding balances with related parties (continued) 

The transactions between the Corporation and its related parties are measured at the 
exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration paid or received as established and 
agreed to by the related parties, unless otherwise noted. 

The Corporation has contracted ERTH (Holdings) Inc. and ERTH Business Technologies 
Inc., to provide maintenance and upgrades to the existing capital infrastructure of the 
Corporation and administrative services. 

 (d) Transactions with parent 

The Corporation has a contract with ERTH Corporation, the parent company, for 
management services and rental of facilities used by the Corporation. 

 During the year, the Corporation paid management services, consulting services and rent 
fees to its parent in the amount of $1,032,069, $222,281 and $212,820 respectively (2014 - 
$1,645,262, $527,727 and $205,000).  The Corporation also charged its parent company 
$108,721 (2014 - $134,947) for operations and administrative services. 

(e) Transactions with companies under common control 

During the year, the Corporation had the following transactions with related parties as follows: 

• sold operations and administration services of nil (2014 - $1,508) to ERTH 
Business Technologies Inc. 

• purchased capitalized items of $12,465 (2014 - $17,248) and sold operations, 
administration services of nil (2014 - $108) and sold capital equipment of 
$12,000 (2014 – nil) to J-Mar Line Maintenance Inc. 

• purchased capitalized items of $65,733 (2014 - $142,613), operations, 
maintenance and administration services of $524,710 (2014 - $418,015), sold 
operations, maintenance and admission services of $327,766 (2014 - $220,531) 
and sold capital assets of $5,000 (2014 - nil) to ERTH (Holdings) Inc. 

In the ordinary course of business, the Corporation delivers electricity to ERTH (Holdings) 
Inc.  Electricity is billed to ERTH (Holdings) Inc. at prices and under terms approved by the 
OEB, if applicable. 

(f) Transactions with ultimate parents 
The Corporation delivers electricity to the eight municipalities throughout the year for the 
electricity needs of the municipalities and their related organizations.  Electricity delivery 
charges are at prices and under terms approved by the OEB.  The Corporation also provides 
additional services to the Municipality of Norwich, the Town of Aylmer and the Town of 
Ingersoll for water and waste water billing and customer care services. 

The Municipality of West Perth charges the Corporation for tree trimming and annual rent. 
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25. Financial instruments and risk management 

Fair value disclosure  

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, unbilled revenue, due 
from/to related parties and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair value 
because of the short maturity of these instruments.  The carrying value of the customer deposits 
approximates fair value because the amounts are payable on demand. 

The fair value of the long-term debt at December 31, 2015 is $19,248,053 (2014 - $9,661,081). 
The fair value is calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows, 
discounted at the current rate of interest at the reporting date. The interest rate used to calculate 
fair value at December 31, 2015 was 4.54% (2014 – 4.77%). 

The fair value of available for sale financial assets is based on the closing value of the equity in 
the publically traded markets. 

Financial risks 

The Corporation understands the risks inherent in its business and defines them broadly as 
anything that could impact its ability to achieve its strategic objectives. The Corporation’s 
exposure to a variety of risks such as credit risk, interest rate risk, and liquidity risk, as well as 
related mitigation strategies are discussed below.  

(a)  Credit risk 

Financial assets carry credit risk that a counterparty will fail to discharge an obligation which 
could result in a financial loss. Financial assets held by the Corporation, such as accounts 
receivable, expose it to credit risk. The Corporation earns its revenue from a broad base of 
customers located in the municipalities of Aylmer, Central Elgin, East-Zorra Tavistock, 
Ingersoll, Norwich, South-West Oxford, Zorra and West Perth. As a result, the Corporation 
did not earn a significant amount of revenue from any one individual customer.   

The carrying amount of accounts receivable is reduced through the use of an allowance for 
impairment and the amount of the related impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss.  
Subsequent recoveries of receivables previously provisioned are credited to profit or loss.  
The balance of the allowance for impairment at December 31, 2015 is $804,806 (2014 - 
$684,944).  An impairment loss of $87,793 (2014 - $22,618) was recognized during the year.  

The Corporation’s credit risk associated with accounts receivable is primarily related to 
payments from distribution customers. At December 31, 2015, approximately $174,806 (2014 
- $79,217) is considered 60 days past due. The Corporation has over 18,000 customers, the 
majority of whom are residential. Credit risk is managed through collection of security 
deposits from customers in accordance with directions provided by the OEB.  As at 
December 31, 2015, the Corporation holds security deposits in the amount of $760,379 (2014 
- $ 752,557). 
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25. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 

 (b)  Market risk 

Market risks primarily refer to the risk of loss resulting from changes in commodity prices, 
foreign exchange rates, and interest rates. The Corporation currently does not have any 
material commodity or foreign exchange risk. The Corporation is exposed to fluctuations in 
interest rates as the regulated rate of return for the Corporation’s distribution business is 
derived using a complex formulaic approach which is in part based on the forecast for 
long-term Government of Canada bond yields. This rate of return is approved by the OEB as 
part of the approval of distribution rates. 

The Corporation minimizes interest rate risk by issuing long-term fixed rate debt. 

(c) Liquidity risk 

The Corporation monitors its liquidity risk to ensure access to sufficient funds to meet 
operational and investing requirements. The Corporation’s objective is to ensure that 
sufficient liquidity is on hand to meet obligations as they fall due while minimizing interest 
exposure. The Corporation, through its parent company has access to a $38 million credit 
facility and monitors cash balances daily to ensure that a sufficient level of liquidity is on hand 
to meet financial commitments as they become due.  As at December 31, 2015, $30 million 
has been drawn under the parent company’s credit facility. 

The Corporation also has a bilateral facility for $2.3 million (the “LC” facility) for the purpose of 
issuing letters of credit mainly to support the prudential requirements of the IESO, of which 
$2,246,667 has been drawn and posted with the IESO (2014 - $2,246,667). 

The majority of accounts payable, as reported on the statement of financial position, are due 
within 30 days. 

 (d) Capital disclosures 

The main objectives of the Corporation, when managing capital, are to ensure ongoing 
access to funding to maintain and improve the electricity distribution system, compliance with 
covenants related to its credit facilities, prudent management of its capital structure with 
regard for recoveries of financing charges permitted by the OEB on its regulated electricity 
distribution business, and to deliver the appropriate financial returns. 

The Corporation’s definition of capital includes shareholder’s equity and long-term debt.  As 
at December 31, 2015, shareholder’s equity amounts to $13,545,089 (2014 - $14,590,175) 
and long-term debt amounts to $10,411,674 (2014 - $10,527,270). 
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26. Explanation of transition to IFRS 

As stated in note 2(b), these are the Corporation’s first financial statements prepared in 
accordance with IFRS.  

The accounting policies set out in note 3 have been applied in preparing the financial statements 
for the year ended December 31, 2015, the comparative information presented in these financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2014, and in the preparation of the opening IFRS 
Statement of Financial Position as at January 1, 2014 (the Corporation’s date of transition).  

In preparing its opening IFRS Statement of Financial Position, the Corporation has adjusted the 
amounts reported previously in the financial statements prepared in accordance with Canadian 
general accepted accounting principles (CGAAP). An explanation of how the transition from 
CGAAP to IFRS has affected the Corporation’s financial position, financial performance and cash 
flows is set out in the following tables and the notes accompanying the tables.  

Regulatory accounts 

IFRS14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts, permits an entity to continue to account for regulatory 
deferral account balances in its financial statements in accordance with its previous GAAP when 
it adopts IFRS. An entity is permitted to apply the requirements of this standard in its first IFRS 
financial statements if and only if it conducts rate-regulated activities and recognized amounts 
that qualify as regulatory deferral account balances in its financial statements in accordance with 
its previous GAAP. This standard exempts an entity from applying paragraph 11 of IAS8: 
Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors, to its accounting policies for the 
recognition, measurement, impairment and derecognition of regulatory deferral account balances.   

IFRS 14 is effective from periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, however, early 
application is permitted.  The Corporation has elected to apply this Standard in its first IFRS 
financial statements.  

IFRS 1 Exemptions 

IFRS 1 First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards sets out the procedures 
that the Corporation must follow when it adopts IFRS for the first time as the basis for preparing 
its financial statements. The Corporation is required to establish its IFRS accounting policies as at 
December 31, 2015 and, in general, apply these retrospectively to determine the IFRS opening 
statement of financial position as its date of transition, January 1, 2014. This standard provides a 
number of mandatory and optional exemptions to this general principle. These are set out below, 
together with a description in each case of the exemption adopted by the Corporation.  
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26. Explanation of transition to IFRS (continued) 
(a) Business combinations 

IFRS 1 provides an optional exemption whereby a first-time adopter may elect not to apply 
IFRS 3 Business Combinations retrospectively to business combinations that occurred prior 
to the date of transition.  The Corporation has elected this exemption and did not restate 
business combinations that occurred prior to the date of transition.  

(b) Deemed cost 

IFRS 1 provides an optional exemption for a first-time adopter with rate-regulated activities to 
use the carrying amount of PP&E and intangible assets as deemed cost on transition date 
when the carrying amount includes costs that do not qualify for capitalization in accordance 
with IFRS.  The Corporation elected this exemption and used the carrying amount of the 
PP&E and intangible assets under CGAPP as deemed cost on transition date.  The carrying 
amount used as deemed cost is $28,066,972 for PP&E and $523,138 for intangible assets.   

If an entity applies this exemption, at the date of transition to IFRS, it shall test for impairment 
each item for which this exemption is used.  The assets were tested for impairment at the 
date of transition and it was determined that the assets were not impaired. 

(c) Transfer of assets from customers 

The corporation has elected to apply the transitional provisions in IFRIC 18 Transfers of 

Assets from Customers.  This provision states that the effective date of this standard should 
be July 1, 2009 or the date of transition to IFRS whichever is the later. 
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26. Explanation of transition to IFRS (continued) 

Reconciliation of statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity 

    Measurement  
   Presentation & recognition  
January 1, 2014 Note CGAAP differences differences IFRS 
Accounts receivable - $12,304,748 $(4,376,148) $          --- $ 7,928,600 
Due from related parties - 1,204 46,183 --- 47,387 
Unbilled revenue - --- 4,376,148 --- 4,376,148 
Materials and supplies - 96,769 --- --- 96,769 
Prepaid expenses - 122,226 --- --- 122,226 
Current regulatory balances - 1,766,074 (1,766,074) --- --- 
Property, plant and equipment    (a),(c),(d) 28,513,443 (446,471) --- 28,066,972 
Intangible assets (a) 76,667 446,471 --- 523,138 
Investments - 18,621 --- --- 18,621 
Long-term regulatory balances - 1,872,377 (1,872,377) --- --- 
Deferred tax assets (e) 566,000 (150,000) 7,000 423,000 
Payment in lieu of taxes receivable  --- 190 --- 190 
Total assets - 45,338,129 (3,735,078) 7,000 41,603,051 

Regulatory balances - --- 3,638,451 --- 3,638,451 
Total assets and regulatory balances - $45,338,129 $       (96,627) $       7,000 $45,241,502 

Bank overdraft - $ 6,033,352 $                 --- $            --- $ 6,033,352 
Accounts payable and accrued 
 liabilities - 7,605,555 190 --- 7,605,745 

Due to related parties - 596,627 46,183 --- 642,810 
Related party notes payable - 2,083,391 (2,083,391) --- --- 
Current portion of long-term debt - 109,284 (109,284) --- --- 
Long-term debt due within a year - --- 2,192,675 --- 2,192,675 
Customer deposits (c) 905,292 (246,707) --- 658,585 
Deferred revenue (c) --- 246,707 --- 246,707 
Current regulatory balances - 1,084,879 (1,084,879) --- --- 
Long-term debt - 405,894 8,038,524 --- 8,444,418 
Long-term related party - 8,038,524 (8,038,524) --- --- 
Post-employment benefits (f) 622,500 --- 27,700 650,200 
Deferred tax liabilities - 566,000 (566,000) --- --- 
Long-term regulatory balances - 3,755,560 (3,755,560) --- --- 
Total liabilities - 31,806,858 (5,360,066) 27,700 26,474,492 

Share capital - 10,855,585 --- --- 10,855,585 
Retained earnings (f) 2,675,686 --- (27,700) 2,647,986 
Total liabilities and equity - 13,531,271 --- (27,700) 13,503,571 

Regulatory balances  - --- 5,256,439 7,000 5,263,439 
Total liabilities, equity and  
 regulatory balances - $45,338,129 $     (96,627) $         7,000 $45,241,502 
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26. Explanation of transition to IFRS (continued): 

Reconciliation of statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity 

    Measurement  
   Presentation & recognition  
December 31, 2014 Note CGAAP differences differences IFRS 
 
Accounts receivable - $10,015,767 $(4,959,235) $                 --- $ 5,056,532 
Due from related parties - 238 48,133 --- 48,371 
Unbilled revenue - --- 4,959,235 --- 4,959,235 
Material and supplies - 169,979 --- --- 169,979 
Prepaid expenses - 112,967 --- --- 112,967 
Current regulatory - 1,617,398 (1,617,398) --- --- 
Property, plant and equipment           (c),(d) 30,169,411 327,778 --- 30,497,189 
Intangible assets - 76,667 476,410 --- 553,077 
Investment - 20,805 --- --- 20,805 
Long-term regulatory balances - 3,369,019 (3,369,019) --- --- 
Deferred tax assets (e) 339,000 (104,000) 38,000 273,000 
Total assets - 45,891,251 (4,200,096) 38,000 41,660,155 
 
Regulatory balances - --- 4,986,417 --- 4,986,417 
Total assets and regulatory balances - $45,891,251 $     786,321 $         38,000 $46,677,572 
 
Bank overdraft - $5,411,329 $             --- $                 --- $5,411,329 
Accounts payable and accrued  
 liabilities - 9,353,321 --- --- 9,353,321 

Due to related parties - 889,154 48,133 --- 937,287 
Related parties notes payable - 2,083,391 (2,083,391) --- --- 
Current portion of long-term debt - 115,820 (115,820) --- --- 
Long-term debt due within one year - --- 2,199,211 --- 2,199,211 
Customer deposits (c) 973,282 (220,725) --- 752,557 
Deferred revenue (c) --- 347,415 --- 347,415 
Current regulatory balances - 2,312,479 (2,312,479) --- --- 
Payment in lieu of income taxes - 165,694 --- --- 165,694 
Long-term debt - 289,535 8,038,524 --- 8,328,059 
Long-term related party - 8,038,524 (8,038,524) --- --- 
Post-employment benefits (f) 653,100 --- 141,800 794,900 
Deferred revenue - --- 677,498 --- 677,498 
Deferred tax liabilities - 339,000 (339,000) --- ---- 
Lont-term regulatory balances - 534,646 (534,646) --- --- 
Total liabilities - 31,159,276 (2,333,804) 141,800 28,967,272 
 
Share capital - 10,855,585 --- --- 10,855,585 
Retained earnings (f) 3,876,390 --- (29,884) 3,846,506 
Accumulated OCI (f) --- --- (111,916) (111,916) 
Total liabilities and equity - 45,891,251 (2,333,804) --- 43,557,447 
 
Regulatory balances - --- 3,082,125 38,000 3,120,125 
Total liabilities, equity and  
 regulatory balances - $45,891,251 $     786,321 $          38,000 $46,677,572 
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26. Explanation of transition to IFRS (continued) 
Reconciliation of net income for 2014 

    Measurement  
   Presentation  & recognition  
 Note CGAAP differences differences IFRS 

Revenue 
Sale of energy - $49,839,585 $(2,407,556) $           --- $47,432,029 
Distribution revenue - 9,620,820 --- --- 9,620,820 
Service income - 449,135 (449,135) --- --- 
Interest income - 3,210 (3,210) --- --- 
Other (c) --- 456,919 --- 456,919 

Operating expenses 
Cost of power purchased - 49,839,585 1,069,630 --- 50,909,215 
Billing and collecting - 1,095,410 (1,095,410) --- --- 
Community relations - 34,599 (34,599) --- --- 
Direct operations - 3,605,188 (3,605,188) --- --- 
Office and administration  - 715,150 (715,150) --- --- 
Regulatory and professional  - 225,798 (225,798) --- --- 
Employee salaries and benefits - --- 3,116,586 --- 3,116,586 
Operating expenses - --- 2,569,402 --- 2,569,402 
Depreciation and amortization (c) 1,467,478 6,758 --- 1,474,236 
MIFRS regulatory adjustment - 147,212 (147,212) --- --- 
Finance income - 69,802 (47,090) --- 22,712 
Finance costs - 1,425,585 (35,784) --- 1,389,801 
Income tax expense - 216,000 181,000 --- 397,000 
Loss on sale of equipment (d) 9,843 (9,843) --- --- 

Net income for the year - 1,200,704 (3,524,464) --- (2,323,760) 
 
Net movement in regulatory balances,  
 net of tax - --- 3,522,280 --- 3,522,280 

 
Net income and net movement 
 in regulatory balances - 1,200,704 (2,184) --- 1,198,520 

Other comprehensive income 

  Fair value instruments - --- 2,184 --- 2,184 
 Remeasurement of post- 

employment benefits (f) --- --- (114,100) (114,100) 
Tax on remeasurements (e) --- ---     31,000    31,000 
Net movement in regulatory  

 balances, net of tax  (e) ---                  --- (31,000)  (31,000) 
Total comprehensive income  
 for the year - $ 1,200,704 $            --- $   (114,100) $ 1,086,604 
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26. Explanation of transition to IFRS (continued) 

Notes to the reconciliations  

The impact on deferred tax of the adjustments described below is set out in note (e). 

(a) The Corporation has elected under IFRS 1 to use the carrying value of items of PP&E and 
intangible assets as the deemed cost at the date of transition.  Therefore, there has been no 
change to the net PP&E and intangible assets at January 1, 2014.  The effect of this 
transitional adjustment is a decrease to the original cost and accumulated depreciation of the 
affected PP&E and intangible assets by $17,365,438 and $760,874 respectively, the CGAAP 
accumulated depreciation amount, on January 1, 2014. 

(b) IFRS requires that borrowing costs related to the construction of the qualifying assets be 
capitalized.  The Corporation has applied IAS 23 to all qualifying assets that were in progress 
or commenced since January 1, 2014.  No qualifying assets were identified and therefore no 
borrowing costs were capitalized for the year ended December 31, 2014. 

(c) Under CGAAP, customer contributions were netted against the cost of PP&E and amortized 
to profit or loss as an offset to depreciation expense, on the same basis as the related assets.  
Under IFRS, customer contributions are recognized as deferred revenue, not netted against 
PP&E, and amortized into profit or loss over the life of the related asset. 

The effect of the above is to increase deferred revenue by $246,707 at January 1, 2014 and 
by $911,739 at December 31, 2014; to decrease construction deposits by $246,707 at 
January 1, 2014 and by $220,725 at December 31, 2014; to increase PP&E by $810,946 at 
December 31, 2014 and to increase other revenue and decrease depreciation expense by 
$119,932 for the year ended December 31, 2014.   

(d) Under CGAAP for rate regulated entities, the Corporation removed assets from the accounts 
at the end of their estimated useful lives.  IFRS requires assets to be removed from the 
accounts when they have been removed from service. 

The effect is to decrease PP&E by $31,785 at December 31, 2014 and to increase loss on 
retirement of PP&E by $9,843 for the year ended December 31, 2014.   

(e) The Corporation adopted the revised Employee Benefits standard effective January 1, 2014.  
This revised standard requires recognition of actuarial gains and losses through other 
comprehensive income.  This increased post-employment benefits and decreased retained 
earnings by $27,700 respectively at January 1, 2014 and increased post-employment 
benefits by $141,800 at December 31, 2014 with a corresponding decrease to retained 
earnings of $27,700 and an increase to OCI of $144,100. 
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26. Explanation of transition to IFRS (continued) 

(f) The above changes increased the deferred tax asset as follows based on a tax rate of 26.5%: 
 
   December 31, January 1, 
  Note 2014 2014 
 
Post-employment benefits  (e) $ 31,000 $ 7,000 
 
The effect on the statement of comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2014 
was to decrease the previously reported income taxes by nil. 

Explanation of material adjustments to the statement of cash flows for 2014 

There are no material differences between the statement of cash flows presented under IRFS 
and the statement of cash flows presented under CGAAP.  
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MERGED LDC PRO FORMA FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 



Combined

ASSETS Proforma

Current Assets

Cash 1,034,172     

Accounts Recievable 5,926,838     

Due from Related Parties 191,813         

Materials and supplies 133,158         

Unbilled Revenue 9,042,761     

Prepaid Expenses 167,951         

Payments in lieu of tax 45,202           

Total Current assets 16,541,895   

Non‐current assets

Property, plant and equipment 50,251,630   

Intangible Assets 902,056         

Investments 25,584           

Total Non‐current assets 51,179,270   

Total Assets 67,721,165   

Regulatory balances 8,874,654     

Total assets and regulatory balances 76,595,819   

ETPL, WCHE LDC Co.

2018



Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable  14,917,645   

Due to related parties 776,078         

Long term debt due within one year 2,897,898     

Customer deposits 621,866         

Deferred Revenue 692,724         

Total current liabilities 19,906,211   

Non‐current liabilities

Long‐term debt 23,261,449   

Post‐employment benefits 1,244,061     

Customer deposits 784,408         

Deferred revenue 4,451,106     

Deferred tax liability 329,409         

Total  non‐current liabilities 30,070,433   

Total liabilities 49,976,644   

Equity

Share Capital 14,265,677   

Retained Earnings 8,642,086     

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 128,087‐          

Total Equity 22,779,676   

Total Liabilities and Equity 72,756,320   

Regulatory Balances 3,839,499     

Total Liabilities Equity and regulatory balances 76,595,819   



Combined

Proforma

Distribution Revenue 12,961,228      

Service Revenue 604,448           

Total Revenue from Operations 13,565,676      

Expenses

Billing and collecting 1,646,803        

Community relations 37,726             

Direct Expenses 4,377,208        

Office and administration 1,471,583        

Regulatory and professional 680,827           

8,214,147        

Income from Operations  5,351,529        

‐                     

Amortization 2,106,680        

Interest expense 1,101,757        

Regulatory interest income (62,059)            

3,146,378        

Income Before Income Tax 2,205,151        

Payments in Lieu of Income Taxes

Current  287,580           

Future tax benefit

Income Taxes 287,580           

Net Income 1,917,571      

2018

ETPL, WCHE LDC Co.
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1 INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY 
This is the Decision and Rate Order (Decision) for Erie Thames Powerlines 
Corporation’s Incentive Regulation Mechanism (IRM) application for 2017 rates. 

Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation (Erie Thames Powerlines) serves about 18,000 
mostly residential and commercial electricity customers in the municipalities of Aylmer, 
Port Stanley, Belmont, Ingersoll, Thamesford, Otterville, Norwich, Burgessville, 
Beachville, Embro, Tavistock, Clinton, Mitchell, and Dublin. The company is seeking the 
Ontario Energy Board’s approval for the rates it charges to distribute electricity to its 
customers, as is required of licenced and rate-regulated distributors in Ontario. 

Distributors may choose one of three Ontario Energy Board (OEB) rate-setting 
methods. Erie Thames Powerlines has selected the Price Cap Incentive Rate-setting 
(Price Cap IR) option that has a five-year term. Rates are set through a cost of service 
rebasing application for the first year and are adjusted mechanistically through an IRM 
application for each of the ensuing four years. The price cap adjustment is based on 
inflation and the OEB’s assessment of a distributor’s efficiency.  

Erie Thames Powerlines filed an IRM application with the OEB on October 17, 2016 to 
seek approval for changes to its distribution rates to be effective May 1, 2017. Erie 
Thames Powerlines last appeared before the OEB with a cost of service rebasing 
application for 2012 rates in the EB-2012-0121 proceeding.  

The OEB addresses the following issues with respect to Erie Thames Powerlines’ IRM 
application in this Decision. 

• Price Cap Adjustment  
• Regulatory Charges 
• Shared Tax Adjustments 
• Retail Transmission Service Rates 
• Group 1 Deferral and Variance Accounts 
• Residential Rate Design 
• Implementation and Order 

Erie Thames Powerlines applied for a rate increase of 1.60% in accordance with the 
OEB-approved 2017 parameters for inflation and productivity. The 1.60% price cap 
adjustment applies to distribution rates (fixed and variable charges) uniformly across all 
customer classes; it does not apply to the rates and charges listed in Schedule B. 

Erie Thames Powerlines also applied to change the composition of its distribution 
service rates. Residential distribution service rates currently include a fixed monthly 
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charge and a variable usage charge. In 2015, the OEB issued a policy to transition 
these rates to a fully fixed structure over a four-year period beginning in 2016.1 
Accordingly, the fixed monthly charge for 2017 has once again been adjusted upward in 
this Decision by more than the mechanistic adjustment alone. The variable usage rate is 
commensurately lower. This policy change does not affect the total revenue that 
distributors collect from residential customers. 

This Decision on Erie Thames Powerlines' IRM application will result in a monthly bill 
decrease of $0.22 for a residential customer consuming 750 kWh.  

The OEB approves the adjustments made to Erie Thames Powerlines'  application, and 
the associated rates calculated, as a result of this proceeding. 

 

2 THE PROCESS 
Erie Thames Powerlines filed an application with the OEB on October 17, 2016 under 
section 78 of the OEB Act and under the OEB’s Chapter 3 Filing Requirements for 
Incentive Rate-Setting Applications seeking approval for changes to its electricity 
distribution rates to be effective May 1, 2017. 

The OEB follows a standard, streamlined process for IRM applications under Price Cap 
IR. This Decision is being issued by delegated authority under section 6 of the Ontario 
Energy Board Act, 1998.  

The OEB first prepares a rate model that includes information from past proceedings 
and annual reporting requirements. The distributor then reviews and updates the model 
and includes it with its application.  

Erie Thames Powerlines' IRM application was supported by written evidence and a 
completed rate model. Questions were asked and answers were provided by Erie 
Thames Powerlines through emails and phone calls. Based on this information, a 
decision was drafted and provided to Erie Thames Powerlines on February 14, 2017. 
Erie Thames Powerlines was given the opportunity to provide its comments on the draft 
for consideration prior to the OEB issuing this Decision. 

 

 

 
                                                           
1 Board Policy: A New Distribution Rate Design for Residential Electricity Customers, EB-2012-0410, April 2, 2015 
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3 ORGANIZATION OF THE DECISION 
The OEB has organized this Decision into sections to reflect the issues that were 
considered in making its findings.2 Each section outlines the OEB’s reasons for 
approving or denying the proposals included in the application and affecting 2017 rates. 
The last section addresses the steps to implement the final rates that flow from this 
Decision. 

 

4  PRICE CAP ADJUSTMENT 

The price cap adjustment follows an OEB-approved formula that includes annually 
updated components for inflation and the OEB’s expectations of efficiency and 
productivity gains.3 The formula is an inflation minus X-factor rate adjustment, which is 
intended to incent innovation and efficiency. The OEB has set the inflation factor for 
2017 rates at 1.9% based on its established formula.4 

The X-factors for individual distributors have two parts: a productivity element 
established from a historical analysis of industry cost performance; and a stretch factor 
based on a distributor’s efficiency relative to its expected costs. Subtracting the X-factor 
from inflation ensures that rates decline in real, constant-dollar terms, providing 
distributors an incentive to improve efficiency or else experience declining net income.  

Based on industry conditions over the historical study period, the productivity factor has 
been set at 0.0%. A stretch factor is assigned to each distributor based on the individual 
distributor's total cost performance as benchmarked relative to other distributors in 
Ontario. For Price Cap IR applications, there are five stretch factor groupings that have 
each been assigned a stretch factor in the range from 0.0% to 0.6%.5 The most efficient 
distributor, based on the cost evaluation ranking, would be assigned the lowest stretch 
factor of 0.0%. Higher stretch factors are applied to distributors in accordance with their 
cost performance relative to expected levels, to reflect the incremental productivity 
gains that distributors are expected to achieve.   

Findings 

The OEB assigned Erie Thames Powerlines a stretch factor of 0.30% based on the 

                                                           
2 See list of issues in the Introduction, p.1 
3 Report on Rate Setting Parameters and Benchmarking under the Renewed Regulatory Framework for Ontario’s Electricity 
Distributors (December 4, 2013) 
4 As outlined in the Report cited at footnote 3 above 
5 Report to the Ontario Energy Board – “Empirical Research in Support of Incentive Rate-Setting: 2015 Benchmarking Update.” 
Pacific Economics Group LLC. July 2016 
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updated benchmarking study for use for rates effective in 2017.6 The resulting net price 
cap adjustment for Erie Thames Powerlines is 1.60% (i.e. 1.9% - (0% + 0.30%)). 

The 1.60% adjustment applies to distribution rates (fixed and variable charges) 
uniformly across all customer classes; it does not apply to the rates and charges listed 
in Schedule B. 

 

5 REGULATORY CHARGES 
Customers are charged a number of fees to cover the costs associated with various 
programs and wholesale market services. 

The Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection (RRRP) program is designed to 
partially offset the relatively high cost of electricity distribution to eligible customers 
located in rural or remote areas of Ontario. The funding level is established by the 
government of Ontario and is recovered from all electricity customers in the province 
through a charge that is set annually by the OEB.  

Wholesale market service (WMS) charges recover the cost of the services provided by 
the Independent Electricity System Operator (IESO) to operate the electricity system 
and administer the wholesale market. These charges may include costs associated 
with: operating reserve, system congestion and imports, and losses on the IESO-
controlled grid. Distributors recover the WMS charges from their customers through the 
WMS kWh rate. 

In addition, the costs of the IESO WMS Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) initiative are 
recovered by distributors from Class B customers through a separate kWh charge, and 
from Class A customers through their share of the actual CBR charge based on their 
contribution to peak demand. 

These regulatory charges are components of the Regulatory Charge on customers’ bills 
and are established annually by the OEB through a separate order. 

The OEB has set the RRRP charge for 2017 at $0.0021 per kWh. 

The WMS rate used by distributors to bill their Class A and B customers remains at 
$0.0032 per kWh. An additional component is billed to Class B customers for the CBR 
of $0.0004 per kWh.7 

                                                           
6 As outlined in the Report cited at footnote 5 above 
7 Decision and Rate Order, EB-2016-0362, December 15, 2016 
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These changes are effective January 1, 2017 for all distributors as a result of the 
generic order that was part of a separate OEB decision.8  

The Ontario Electricity Support Program (OESP) is a program to deliver on-bill rate 
assistance to low income electricity customers. This program was funded by all Ontario 
customers through the OESP Charge.  

On March 23, 2017, the OEB issued a Decision and Order rescinding the OESP charge 
effective May 1, 20179 until further notice.  

The OEB has updated the Tariff of Rates and Charges flowing from the above, listed in 
Schedule A, to reflect these changes. Although the OEB has also, for administrative 
convenience, removed the OESP credits from the attached tariff, distributors must 
continue until further notice to apply the OESP credits on bills issued to eligible low-
income customers, as set by the OEB’s December 21, 2016 Order.10 

 

6  SHARED TAX ADJUSTMENTS 

The OEB approves an amount for taxes in a distributor’s cost of service proceeding 
based on the tax rates in place at the time. The OEB has determined that a 50/50 
sharing of the impact of legislated tax changes between shareholders and ratepayers is 
appropriate in the period between cost of service proceedings. The shared tax change 
amount will be assigned to customer rate classes in the same proportions as the OEB-
approved distribution revenue by rate class from a distributor’s last cost of service 
proceeding.  

The application identified a total tax change of $55,549, resulting in a shared amount of 
$27,775 to be charged to rate payers. Since the allocated tax sharing amount does not 
produce a rate rider in one or more rate classes the rate generator model does not 
compute rate riders and distributors are expected to transfer the entire OEB-approved 
tax sharing amount into account 1595 for disposition at a later date.11 Erie Thames 
Powerlines has accordingly requested to record the amount in a deferral account for 
future disposition.12   

 

                                                           
8 Ibid 
9 EB-2017-0135 
10 EB-2016-0376 
11 Chapter 3 Filing Requirements for Electricity Distribution Rate Applications, Appendix B 
12 Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation, Application filed October 17, 2016, Manager’s Summary  
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Findings 

The OEB agrees with Erie Thames Powerlines request to record this amount in the 
variance account for future disposition. Accordingly, the OEB directs Erie Thames 
Powerlines to record the tax sharing of $27,775  in variance Account 1595 by June 30, 
2017 for disposition at a future date. 

 

7 RETAIL TRANSMISSION SERVICE RATES   
Electricity distributors use Retail Transmission Service Rates (RTSRs) to pass along the 
cost of transmission service to their distribution customers. The RTSRs are adjusted 
annually to reflect the revised costs as calculated by the application of the current 
Uniform Transmission Rates (UTRs) to historical transmission deliveries. The UTRs are 
established annually by a separate OEB order. Partially embedded distributors, such as 
Erie Thames Powerlines, must also adjust their RTSRs to reflect any changes to the 
applicable RTSRs of their host distributor, which in this case is Hydro One Networks 
Inc.  Distributors may apply to the OEB annually to approve the RTSRs they propose to 
charge their customers, as Erie Thames Powerlines has done in this application.  

Findings 

The OEB approves the RTSRs as adjusted in this Application to reflect current 
applicable rates. The RTSRs are based on the previous years’ UTRs as the OEB has 
not yet approved the adjustment of UTRs for 2017. The OEB has approved the 2017 
Sub-Transmission Class RTSRs for Hydro One Networks Inc. to use for billing 
embedded distributors. These rate changes have been incorporated into the 2017 IRM 
Rate Generator Model (RTSR filing module) to adjust the RTSRs that Erie Thames 
Powerlines will charge its customers.13 The differences between the previous and the 
new 2017 UTRs, once approved, will be captured in Accounts 1584 and 1586 for future 
disposition. 

The applicable UTRs and Sub-Transmission Class RTSRs for Hydro One Networks Inc. 
are shown in the following tables: 

 

 

 

                                                           
13 Rate Order, EB-2016-0081, issued December 21, 2016 
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Current Applicable Uniform Transmission Rates 

Network Service Rate $3.66 per kW 

Connection Service Rates 

Line Connection Service Rate 

Transformation Connection Service Rate 

 

$0.87 per kW 

$2.02 per kW 

 

2017 Sub-Transmission RTSRs 

Network Service Rate $3.19 per kW 

Connection Service Rates 

Line Connection Service Rate 

Transformation Connection Service Rate 

 

$0.77 per kW 

$1.75 per kW 

 

 

8 GROUP 1 DEFERRAL AND VARIANCE ACCOUNT 
BALANCES  

Group 1 deferral and variance accounts (Group 1 accounts) track the differences 
between the costs that a distributor is billed for certain IESO and host distributor 
services (including the cost of power) and the associated revenues that the distributor 
receives from its customers for these services. The total net difference between these 
costs and revenues is disposed to customers through a temporary charge or credit 
known as a rate rider. 

The OEB’s policy14 is to review and dispose of the distributor’s Group 1 account 
balances if they exceed (as a debit or credit) the pre-set disposition threshold of $0.001 
per kWh during the term of an incentive ratemaking plan. The distributor must justify 
why any account balance in excess of the threshold should not be disposed. The 
distributor may propose to dispose of balances below this threshold. 

Erie Thames Powerlines’ 2015 actual year-end total balance for Group 1 accounts 
including interest projected to April 30, 2017 is a debit of $39,783. This amount results 
                                                           
14 Report of the Board on Electricity Distributors’ Deferral and Variance Account Review Initiative (July 31, 2009) 
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in a total debit claim of $0.0001 per kWh, which does not exceed the preset disposition 
threshold. Erie Thames Powerlines did not seek disposition of balances in its 
application. 

Findings 

The OEB finds that no disposition is required at this time as the disposition threshold 
has not been exceeded.  

 

9  RESIDENTIAL RATE DESIGN 

All residential distribution rates currently include a fixed monthly charge and a variable 
usage charge. The OEB residential rate design policy15 stipulates that electricity 
distributors will transition residential customers to a fully fixed monthly distribution 
service charge over a four-year period starting in 2016. The OEB requires that 
distributors filing IRM applications this year continue with this transition by once again 
adjusting their distribution rates to increase the fixed monthly service charge and 
decrease the variable charge consistent with the policy. 

The OEB expects the applicant to apply two tests to evaluate whether mitigation 
(generally a lengthening of the transition period) for customers in the transition is 
required. The first test is to calculate the change in the monthly fixed charge  and to 
consider mitigation if it exceeds $4. The second is to calculate the total bill impact of the 
proposals in the application for low volume residential customers (defined as those 
residential RPP customers whose consumption is at the 10th percentile for the class). 
Mitigation may be required if the bill impact related to the application exceeds 10% for 
these customers. 

Erie Thames Powerlines’ implementation of the transition results in an increase to the 
fixed charge prior to the price cap adjustment of $3.47. The bill impacts arising from the 
proposals in this application, including the fixed rate change, are below 10% for low 
volume residential customers.  

Findings 

The OEB finds that the proposed 2017 increase to the monthly fixed charge is in 
accordance with the OEB's residential rate design policy. The results of the monthly 
fixed charge and total bill impact for low consumption residential consumers show that 

                                                           
15 Ibid page 2 
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no mitigation is required. The OEB approves the increase as proposed by the applicant 
and calculated in the final rate model. 

 

10  IMPLEMENTATION AND ORDER 
Rate Model 

This Decision and Rate Order is accompanied by a rate model, applicable supporting 
model and a Tariff of Rates and Charges (Schedule A). Entries in the models were 
reviewed to ensure that they are in accordance with Erie Thames Powerlines’ EB-2012-
0121 cost of service decision, and that the 2016 OEB-approved Tariff of Rates and 
Charges as well as the cost, revenue and consumption results from 2015 are as 
reported by Erie Thames Powerlines to the OEB. The rate model was adjusted, where 
applicable, to correct any discrepancies. 

 

THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD ORDERS THAT 

1. The Tariff of Rates and Charges set out in Schedule A of this Decision and Rate 
Order is approved effective May 1, 2017 for electricity consumed or estimated to 
have been consumed on and after such date. Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation 
shall notify its customers of the rate changes no later than the delivery of the first bill 
reflecting the new rates. 

 

 

ADDRESS 

Ontario Energy Board 
P.O. Box 2319 
2300 Yonge Street, 27th Floor 
Toronto ON   M4P 1E4 
Attention: Board Secretary 
 

E-mail: boardsec@oeb.ca 
Tel: 1-888-632-6273 (Toll free) 
Fax: 416-440-7656 
 

 

mailto:boardsec@oeb.ca
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DATED at Toronto, March 30, 2017 

ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD 

 
Original Signed By 
 
Kirsten Walli  
Board Secretary 



 

 

Schedule A 

To Decision and Rate Order 

Tariff of Rates and Charges 

OEB File No:  EB-2016-0068 

DATED:  March 30, 2017 
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$ 23.22

$ 0.79

$/kWh 0.0094

$/kWh 0.0021

$/kWh 0.0074

$/kWh 0.0063

$/kWh 0.0056

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR $/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0021

$ 0.25

RESIDENTIAL SERVICE CLASSIFICATION
This classification refers to the supply of electrical energy to customers residing in residential dwelling units.  Class B 

consumers are defined in in accordance with O. Reg. 429/04. Further servicing details are available in the distributor's 

Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 

the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to 

the administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 

for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 

Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 

Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 

Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 

RATES AND CHARGES -- Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 

market participant.

Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2017
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors

EB-2016-0068

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 

by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 

Adjustment and the HST.

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge

Distribution Volumetric Rate

Low Voltage Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Rate Rider for Smart Metering Entity Charge - effective until October 31, 2018

Rate Rider for Disposition of Global Adjustment Account (2016) - effective until April 30, 2018

      Applicable only for Non-RPP Customers

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

Issued March 30, 2017
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Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2017
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors

EB-2016-0068

$ 22.29

$ 0.79

$/kWh 0.0145

$/kWh 0.0020

$/kWh 0.0074

$/kWh 0.0059

$/kWh 0.0052

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0021

$ 0.25

GENERAL SERVICE LESS THAN 50 KW SERVICE CLASSIFICATION

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge

Distribution Volumetric Rate

Low Voltage Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

This classification refers to the supply of electrical energy to General Service buildings requiring a connection with a 

connected load less than 50 kW, and, Town Houses and Condominiums described in section 3.1.9 of the Distributor's 

Conditions of Service that require centralized bulk metering.  General Service buildings are defined as buildings that are used 

for purposes other than single family dwellings. Class B consumers are defined in in accordance with O. Reg. 429/04. Further 

servicing details are available in the distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 

the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to 

the administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 

for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 

Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 

Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 

Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 

RATES AND CHARGES -- Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 

market participant.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 

by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 

Adjustment and the HST.

Rate Rider for Smart Metering Entity Charge - effective until October 31, 2018

Rate Rider for Disposition of Global Adjustment Account (2016) - effective until April 30, 2018

      Applicable only for Non-RPP Customers

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

Issued March 30, 2017
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Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2017
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors

EB-2016-0068

$ 127.91

$/kW 3.1024

$/kW 0.7099

$/kW 2.2875

$/kW 2.6482

$/kW 1.8703

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0021

$ 0.25

This classification refers to the supply of electrical energy to General Service customers requiring a connection with a 

connected load, or whose average monthly maximum demand used for billing purposes, is equal to or greater than 50 kW but 

less than 1000 kW. Class B consumers are defined in in accordance with O. Reg. 429/04. Further servicing details are 

available in the distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 

the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to 

the administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 

for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 

Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 

Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 

Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 

RATES AND CHARGES -- Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 

market participant.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 

by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 

Adjustment and the HST.

GENERAL SERVICE 50 TO 999 KW SERVICE CLASSIFICATION

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge

Distribution Volumetric Rate

Low Voltage Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

Rate Rider for Disposition of Global Adjustment Account (2016) - effective until April 30, 2018

      Applicable only for Non-RPP Customers

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

Issued March 30, 2017
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Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2017
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors

EB-2016-0068

$ 2,537.23

$/kW 4.2161

$/kW 0.7635

$/kW 3.6800

$/kW 2.8748

$/kW 2.0036

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0021

$ 0.25

GENERAL SERVICE 1,000 TO 4,999 KW SERVICE CLASSIFICATION

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge

Distribution Volumetric Rate

Low Voltage Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

This classification refers to the supply of electrical energy to General Service Customers requiring a connection with a 

connected load or whose average monthly maximum demand used for billing purposes is equal to or greater than 1000 kW 

but less than 5000 kW. Class A and Class B consumers are defined in in accordance with O. Reg. 429/04. Further servicing 

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 

the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to 

the administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 

for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 

Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 

Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 

Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 

RATES AND CHARGES -- Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 

market participant.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 

by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 

Adjustment and the HST.

Rate Rider for Disposition of Global Adjustment Account (2016) - effective until April 30, 2018

      Applicable only for Non-RPP Customers

The rate rider for the disposition of Global Adjustment is only applicable to non-RPP Class B customers. It is not applicable to 

WMP, customers that transitioned between Class A and Class B during the variance account accumulation period, or to 

customers that were in Class A for the entire period. Customers who transitioned are to be charged or refunded their share of 

the variance disposed through customer specific billing adjustments. This rate rider is to be consistently applied for the entire 

period to the sunset date of the rate rider. In addition, this rate rider is applicable to all new non-RPP Class B customers.

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

Issued March 30, 2017
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Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2017
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors

EB-2016-0068

$ 10,362.66

$/kW 1.9046

$/kW 0.0733

$/kW 3.1869

$/kW 2.2727

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0021

$ 0.25

This classification refers to the supply of electrical energy to General Service Customers requiring a connection with a 

connected load or whose average monthly maximum demand used for billing purposes is equal to or greater than, or is 

forecast to be equal to or great than, 5000 kW. Class A and Class B consumers are defined in in accordance with O. Reg. 

429/04. Further servicing details are available in the distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 

the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to 

the administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 

for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 

Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 

Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 

Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 

RATES AND CHARGES -- Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 

market participant.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 

by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 

Adjustment and the HST.

LARGE USE SERVICE CLASSIFICATION

The rate rider for the disposition of Global Adjustment is only applicable to non-RPP Class B customers. It is not applicable to 

WMP, customers that transitioned between Class A and Class B during the variance account accumulation period, or to 

customers that were in Class A for the entire period. Customers who transitioned are to be charged or refunded their share of 

the variance disposed through customer specific billing adjustments. This rate rider is to be consistently applied for the entire 

period to the sunset date of the rate rider. In addition, this rate rider is applicable to all new non-RPP Class B customers.

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge

Distribution Volumetric Rate

Low Voltage Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

Issued March 30, 2017
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Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2017
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors

EB-2016-0068

$ 3.20

$/kWh 0.1142

$/kWh 0.0020

$/kWh 0.0074

$/kWh 0.0059

$/kWh 0.0052

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0021

$ 0.25

UNMETERED SCATTERED LOAD SERVICE CLASSIFICATION

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge

Distribution Volumetric Rate

Low Voltage Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

This classification refers to an account taking electricity at 750 volts or less whose average monthly peak demand is less than, 

or is forecast to be less than, 50 kW and the consumption is unmetered. Such connections include cable TV power packs, bus 

shelters, telephone booths, traffic lights, railway crossings, etc. The level of consumption will be agreed to by the distributor 

and the customer, based on detailed manufacturer information/documentation with regard to electrical consumption of 

unmetered load or periodic monitoring of actual consumption. Class B consumers are defined in in accordance with O. Reg. 

429/04. Further servicing details are available in the distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 

the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to 

the administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 

for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 

Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 

Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 

Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable. In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 

RATES AND CHARGES -- Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 

market participant.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 

by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 

Adjustment and the HST.

Rate Rider for Disposition of Global Adjustment Account (2016) - effective until April 30, 2018

      Applicable only for Non-RPP Customers

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

Issued March 30, 2017
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Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2017
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors

EB-2016-0068

$ 5.59

$/kW 15.6727

$/kW 0.5482

$/kW 2.0441

$/kW 1.4388

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0021

$ 0.25

This classification refers to accounts that are an unmetered lighting load supplied to a sentinel light. Class B consumers are 

defined in in accordance with O. Reg. 429/04. Further servicing details are available in the distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 

the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to 

the administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 

for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 

Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 

Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 

Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 

RATES AND CHARGES -- Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 

market participant.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 

by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 

Adjustment and the HST.

SENTINEL LIGHTING SERVICE CLASSIFICATION

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge (per connection)

Distribution Volumetric Rate

Low Voltage Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

Issued March 30, 2017
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Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2017
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors

EB-2016-0068

$ 4.04

$/kW 23.5048

$/kW 0.5482

$/kW 2.7392

$/kW 2.0441

$/kW 2.3780

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0021

$ 0.25

STREET LIGHTING SERVICE CLASSIFICATION

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge (per connection)

Distribution Volumetric Rate

Low Voltage Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

This Classification refers to an account for roadway lighting with a Municipality, Regional Municipality, Ministry of 

Transportation and private roadway lighting, controlled by photo cells. The consumption for these customers will be based on 

the calculated connection load times the required lighting times established in the approved Ontario Energy Board street 

lighting load shape template. Class B consumers are defined in in accordance with O. Reg. 429/04. Further servicing details 

are available in the distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 

the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to 

the administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 

for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 

Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 

Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 

Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 

RATES AND CHARGES -- Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 

market participant.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 

by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 

Adjustment and the HST.

Rate Rider for Disposition of Global Adjustment Account (2016) - effective until April 30, 2018

      Applicable only for Non-RPP Customers

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

Issued March 30, 2017
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Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2017
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors

EB-2016-0068

$ 2,361.50

$/kW 4.0623

$/kW 3.4671

$/kW 3.8460

$/kW 2.6423

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0021

$ 0.25

This classification refers to an electricity distributor licensed by the Ontario Energy Board that is provided electricity by means 

of this distributors' facilities. Further servicing details are available in the distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 

the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to 

the administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 

for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 

Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 

Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 

Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 

RATES AND CHARGES -- Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 

market participant.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 

by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 

Adjustment and the HST.

EMBEDDED DISTRIBUTOR SERVICE CLASSIFICATION

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge

Distribution Volumetric Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Rate Rider for Disposition of Global Adjustment Account (2016) - effective until April 30, 2018

      Applicable only for Non-RPP Customers

Issued March 30, 2017
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Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2017
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors

EB-2016-0068

$ 5.40

microFIT SERVICE CLASSIFICATION
This classification applies to an electricity generation facility contracted under the Independent Electricity System Operator's 

microFIT program and connected to the distributor's distribution system. Further servicing details are available in the 

distributor's Conditions of Service.

Service Charge

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 

the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to 

the administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 

for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 

Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 

Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 

Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 

by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 

Adjustment and the HST.

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Issued March 30, 2017
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Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2017
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors

EB-2016-0068

ALLOWANCES
$/kW (0.60)

% (1.00)

SPECIFIC SERVICE CHARGES

Customer Administration

$ 15.00

$ 15.00

$ 15.00

$ 15.00

$ 30.00

$ 30.00

$ 30.00

Non-Payment of Account

% 1.50

% 19.56

$ 30.00

$ 165.00

$ 65.00

$ 185.00

$ 185.00

Other

$ 500.00

$ 300.00

$ 22.35

Transformer Allowance for Ownership - per kW of billing demand/month

Primary Metering Allowance for transformer losses - applied to measured demand and energy

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 

the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to 

the administration of this schedule.

No charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be 

made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario 

Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, or as specified herein.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 

by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 

Adjustment and the HST.

Meter dispute charge plus Measurement Canada fees (if meter found correct)

Late payment - per month

Late payment - per annum

Collection of account charge - no disconnection - during regular business hours

Collection of account charge - no disconnection - after regular hours

Disconnect/reconnect at meter - during regular hours

Arrears certificate

Easement letter

Credit reference/credit check (plus credit agency costs)

Returned cheque (plus bank charges)

Account set up charge/change of occupancy charge (plus credit agency costs if applicable)

Special meter reads

Disconnect/reconnect at meter - after regular hours

Disconnect/reconnect at pole - during regular hours

Temporary service - install & remove - overhead - no transformer

Temporary service - install & remove - underground - no transformer

Specific charge for access to the power poles - $/pole/year

(with the exception of wireless attachments)

Issued March 30, 2017
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Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2017
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors

EB-2016-0068

RETAIL SERVICE CHARGES (if applicable)

$ 100.00

$ 20.00

$/cust. 0.50

$/cust. 0.30

$/cust. (0.30)

$ 0.25

$ 0.50

$ no charge

$ 2.00

LOSS FACTORS

1.0451

1.0161

1.0347

1.0060

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 

by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 

Adjustment and the HST.

Retail Service Charges refer to services provided by a distributor to retailers or customers related to the supply of competitive 

electricity.
One-time charge, per retailer, to establish the service agreement between the distributor and the retailer

If the distributor is not capable of prorating changed loss factors jointly with distribution rates, the revised loss factors will be implemented 

upon the first subsequent billing for each billing cycle.
Total Loss Factor - Secondary Metered Customer < 5,000 kW

Total Loss Factor - Secondary Metered Customer > 5,000 kW

Total Loss Factor - Primary Metered Customer < 5,000 kW

Total Loss Factor - Primary Metered Customer > 5,000 kW

Processing fee, per request, applied to the requesting party

Request for customer information as outlined in Section 10.6.3 and Chapter 11 of the Retail

Settlement Code directly to retailers and customers, if not delivered electronically through the

Electronic Business Transaction (EBT) system, applied to the requesting party

Up to twice a year

More than twice a year, per request (plus incremental delivery costs)

Monthly Fixed Charge, per retailer

Monthly Variable Charge, per customer, per retailer

Distributor-consolidated billing monthly charge, per customer, per retailer

Retailer-consolidated billing monthly credit, per customer, per retailer

Service Transaction Requests (STR)

Request fee, per request, applied to the requesting party

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 

the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to 

the administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 

for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 

Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 

Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 

Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.

Issued March 30, 2017
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To Decision and Rate Order 

List of Rates and Charges Not Affected by the Price Cap or Annual IR Index 

OEB File No:  EB-2016-0068 

DATED:  March 30, 2017 



 

 

 
The following rates and charges are not affected by the Price Cap or Annual IR Index: 

 
• Rate riders 
• Rate adders 
• Low voltage service charges 
• Retail transmission service rates 
• Wholesale market service rate 
• Rural or remote electricity rate protection charge 
• Standard supply service – administrative charge 
• Transformation and primary metering allowances 
• Loss factors 
• Specific service charges 
• microFIT charge 
• Retail service charges 
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Decision and Rate Order  1 
March 30, 2017 

 

1 INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY 
This is the Decision and Rate Order (Decision) for West Coast Huron Energy Inc.’s 
Incentive Regulation Mechanism (IRM) application for 2017 rates. 

West Coast Huron Energy Inc. (West Coast Huron Energy) serves about 3,800 mostly 
residential and commercial electricity customers in the Town of Goderich. The company 
is seeking the Ontario Energy Board’s approval for the rates it charges to distribute 
electricity to its customers, as is required of licenced and rate-regulated distributors in 
Ontario. 

Distributors may choose one of three Ontario Energy Board (OEB) rate-setting 
methods. West Coast Huron Energy has selected the Price Cap Incentive Rate-setting 
(Price Cap IR) option that has a five-year term. Rates are set through a cost of service 
rebasing application for the first year and are adjusted mechanistically through an IRM 
application for each of the ensuing four years. The price cap adjustment is based on 
inflation and the OEB’s assessment of a distributor’s efficiency.  

West Coast Huron Energy filed an IRM application with the OEB on November 7, 2016 
to seek approval for changes to its distribution rates to be effective May 1, 2017. West 
Coast Huron Energy last appeared before the OEB with a cost of service rebasing 
application for 2013 rates in the EB-2012-0275 proceeding.  

The OEB addresses the following issues with respect to West Coast Huron Energy’s 
IRM application in this Decision. 

• Price Cap Adjustment  
• Regulatory Charges 
• Shared Tax Adjustments 
• Retail Transmission Service Rates 
• Group 1 Deferral and Variance Accounts 
• Residential Rate Design 
• Implementation and Order 

West Coast Huron Energy applied for a rate increase of 1.30% in accordance with the 
OEB-approved 2017 parameters for inflation and productivity. The 1.30% price cap 
adjustment applies to distribution rates (fixed and variable charges) uniformly across all 
customer classes; it does not apply to the rates and charges listed in Schedule B. 
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West Coast Huron Energy also applied to change the composition of its distribution 
service rates. Residential distribution service rates currently include a fixed monthly 
charge and a variable usage charge. In 2015, the OEB issued a policy to transition 
these rates to a fully fixed structure over a four-year period beginning in 2016.1 
Accordingly, the fixed monthly charge for 2017 has once again been adjusted upward in 
this Decision by more than the mechanistic adjustment alone. The variable usage rate is 
commensurately lower. This policy change does not affect the total revenue that 
distributors collect from residential customers. 

This Decision on West Coast Huron Energy's IRM application will result in a monthly bill 
increase of $0.58 for a residential customer consuming 750 kWh.  

The OEB approves the adjustments made to West Coast Huron Energy's application, 
and the associated rates calculated, as a result of this proceeding. 

 

2 THE PROCESS 
West Coast Huron Energy filed an application with the OEB on November 7, 2016 
under section 78 of the OEB Act and under the OEB’s Chapter 3 Filing Requirements 
for Incentive Rate-Setting Applications seeking approval for changes to its electricity 
distribution rates to be effective May 1, 2017. 

The OEB follows a standard, streamlined process for IRM applications under Price Cap 
IR. This Decision is being issued by delegated authority under section 6 of the Ontario 
Energy Board Act, 1998.  

The OEB first prepares a rate model that includes information from past proceedings 
and annual reporting requirements. The distributor then reviews and updates the model 
and includes it with its application.  

West Coast Huron Energy's IRM application was supported by written evidence and a 
completed rate model. Questions were asked and answers were provided by West 
Coast Huron Energy through emails and phone calls. Based on this information, a 
decision was drafted and provided to West Coast Huron Energy on February 13, 2017. 
West Coast Huron Energy was given the opportunity to provide its comments on the 
draft for consideration prior to the OEB issuing this Decision. 

 
                                                           
1 Board Policy: A New Distribution Rate Design for Residential Electricity Customers, EB-2012-0410, April 2, 2015 
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3 ORGANIZATION OF THE DECISION 
The OEB has organized this Decision into sections to reflect the issues that were 
considered in making its findings.2 Each section outlines the OEB’s reasons for 
approving or denying the proposals included in the application and affecting 2017 rates. 
The last section addresses the steps to implement the final rates that flow from this 
Decision. 

 

4  PRICE CAP ADJUSTMENT 

The price cap adjustment follows an OEB-approved formula that includes annually 
updated components for inflation and the OEB’s expectations of efficiency and 
productivity gains.3 The formula is an inflation minus X-factor rate adjustment, which is 
intended to incent innovation and efficiency. The OEB has set the inflation factor for 
2017 rates at 1.9% based on its established formula.4 

The X-factors for individual distributors have two parts: a productivity element 
established from a historical analysis of industry cost performance; and a stretch factor 
based on a distributor’s efficiency relative to its expected costs. Subtracting the X-factor 
from inflation ensures that rates decline in real, constant-dollar terms, providing 
distributors an incentive to improve efficiency or else experience declining net income.  

Based on industry conditions over the historical study period, the productivity factor has 
been set at 0.0%. A stretch factor is assigned to each distributor based on the individual 
distributor's total cost performance as benchmarked relative to other distributors in 
Ontario. For Price Cap IR applications, there are five stretch factor groupings that have 
each been assigned a stretch factor in the range from 0.0% to 0.6%.5 The most efficient 
distributor, based on the cost evaluation ranking, would be assigned the lowest stretch 
factor of 0.0%. Higher stretch factors are applied to distributors in accordance with their 
cost performance relative to expected levels, to reflect the incremental productivity 
gains that distributors are expected to achieve.   

 

                                                           
2 See list of issues in the Introduction, p.1 
3 Report on Rate Setting Parameters and Benchmarking under the Renewed Regulatory Framework for Ontario’s Electricity 
Distributors (December 4, 2013) 
4 As outlined in the Report cited at footnote 3 above 
5 Report to the Ontario Energy Board – “Empirical Research in Support of Incentive Rate-Setting: 2015 Benchmarking Update.” 
Pacific Economics Group LLC. July 2016 
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Findings 

The OEB assigned West Coast Huron Energy a stretch factor of 0.60% based on the 
updated benchmarking study for use for rates effective in 2017.6 The resulting net price 
cap adjustment for West Coast Huron Energy is 1.30% (i.e. 1.9% - (0% + 0.60%)). 

The 1.30% adjustment applies to distribution rates (fixed and variable charges) 
uniformly across all customer classes; it does not apply to the rates and charges listed 
in Schedule B. 

 

5 REGULATORY CHARGES 
Customers are charged a number of fees to cover the costs associated with various 
programs and wholesale market services. 

The Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection (RRRP) program is designed to 
partially offset the relatively high cost of electricity distribution to eligible customers 
located in rural or remote areas of Ontario. The funding level is established by the 
government of Ontario and is recovered from all electricity customers in the province 
through a charge that is set annually by the OEB.  

Wholesale market service (WMS) charges recover the cost of the services provided by 
the Independent Electricity System Operator (IESO) to operate the electricity system 
and administer the wholesale market. These charges may include costs associated 
with: operating reserve, system congestion and imports, and losses on the IESO-
controlled grid. Distributors recover the WMS charges from their customers through the 
WMS kWh rate. 

In addition, the costs of the IESO WMS Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) initiative are 
recovered by distributors from Class B customers through a separate kWh charge, and 
from Class A customers through their share of the actual CBR charge based on their 
contribution to peak demand. 

These regulatory charges are components of the Regulatory Charge on customers’ bills 
and are established annually by the OEB through a separate order. 

The OEB has set the RRRP charge for 2017 at $0.0021 per kWh. 

                                                           
6 As outlined in the Report cited at footnote 5 above 
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The WMS rate used by distributors to bill their Class A and B customers remains at 
$0.0032 per kWh. An additional component is billed to Class B customers for the CBR 
of $0.0004 per kWh.7 

These changes are effective January 1, 2017 for all distributors as a result of the 
generic order that was part of a separate OEB decision.8  

The Ontario Electricity Support Program (OESP) is a program to deliver on-bill rate 
assistance to low income electricity customers. This program was funded by all Ontario 
customers through the OESP Charge.  

On March 23, 2017, the OEB issued a Decision and Order rescinding the OESP charge 
effective May 1, 20179 until further notice.  

The OEB has updated the Tariff of Rates and Charges flowing from the above, listed in 
Schedule A, to reflect these changes. Although the OEB has also, for administrative 
convenience, removed the OESP credits from the attached tariff, distributors must 
continue until further notice to apply the OESP credits on bills issued to eligible low-
income customers, as set by the OEB’s December 21, 2016 Order.10 

 

6  SHARED TAX ADJUSTMENTS 

The OEB approves an amount for taxes in a distributor’s cost of service proceeding 
based on the tax rates in place at the time. The OEB has determined that a 50/50 
sharing of the impact of legislated tax changes between shareholders and ratepayers is 
appropriate in the period between cost of service proceedings. The shared tax change 
amount will be assigned to customer rate classes in the same proportions as the OEB-
approved distribution revenue by rate class from a distributor’s last cost of service 
proceeding.  

The application identified a total tax change of $1,018, resulting in a shared amount of 
$509 to be distributed to rate payers. Since the allocated tax sharing amount does not 
produce a rate rider in one or more rate classes the rate generator model does not 
compute rate riders and distributors are required to transfer the entire OEB-approved 

                                                           
7 Decision and Rate Order, EB-2016-0362, December 15, 2016 
8 Ibid 
9 EB-2017-0135 
10 EB-2016-0376 
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tax sharing amount into account 1595 for disposition at a later date. 11   

Findings 

The OEB directs West Coast Huron Energy to record the tax sharing of $509  in 
variance Account 1595 by June 30, 2017 for disposition at a future date. 

 

7 RETAIL TRANSMISSION SERVICE RATES   
Electricity distributors use Retail Transmission Service Rates (RTSRs) to pass along the 
cost of transmission service to their distribution customers. The RTSRs are adjusted 
annually to reflect the revised costs as calculated by the application of the current 
Uniform Transmission Rates (UTRs) to historical transmission deliveries. The UTRs are 
established annually by a separate OEB order.  Distributors may apply to the OEB 
annually to approve the RTSRs they propose to charge their customers, as West Coast 
Huron Energy has done in this application.  

Findings 

The OEB approves the RTSRs as adjusted in this Application to reflect current 
applicable rates. The RTSRs are based on the previous years' UTRs as the OEB has 
not yet approved the adjustment of UTRs for 2017. The differences between the 
previous and the new 2017 UTRs, once approved, will be captured in Accounts 1584 
and 1586 for future disposition. The current applicable UTRs are shown in the following 
table: 

Current Applicable Uniform Transmission Rates 

Network Service Rate $3.66 per kW 

Connection Service Rates 

Line Connection Service Rate 

Transformation Connection Service Rate 

 

$0.87 per kW 

$2.02 per kW 
 

 

 

                                                           
11 Chapter 3 Filing Requirements for Electricity Distribution Rate Applications, Appendix B 
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8 GROUP 1 DEFERRAL AND VARIANCE ACCOUNT 
BALANCES  

Group 1 deferral and variance accounts (Group 1 accounts) track the differences 
between the costs that a distributor is billed for certain IESO and host distributor 
services (including the cost of power) and the associated revenues that the distributor 
receives from its customers for these services. The total net difference between these 
costs and revenues is disposed to customers through a temporary charge or credit 
known as a rate rider. 

The OEB’s policy12 is to review and dispose of the distributor’s Group 1 account 
balances if they exceed (as a debit or credit) the pre-set disposition threshold of $0.001 
per kWh during the term of an incentive ratemaking plan. The distributor must justify 
why any account balance in excess of the threshold should not be disposed. The 
distributor may propose to dispose of balances below this threshold. 

West Coast Huron Energy’s 2015 actual year-end total balance for Group 1 accounts 
including interest projected to April 30, 2017 is a debit of $118,047. This amount results 
in a total debit claim of $0.0008 per kWh, which does not exceed the preset disposition 
threshold. West Coast Huron Energy did not seek disposition of balances in its 
application. 

Findings 

The OEB finds that no disposition is required at this time as the disposition threshold 
has not been exceeded.  

 

9  RESIDENTIAL RATE DESIGN 

All residential distribution rates currently include a fixed monthly charge and a variable 
usage charge. The OEB residential rate design policy13 stipulates that electricity 
distributors will transition residential customers to a fully fixed monthly distribution 
service charge over a four-year period starting in 2016. The OEB requires that 
distributors filing IRM applications this year continue with this transition by once again 
adjusting their distribution rates to increase the fixed monthly service charge and 
decrease the variable charge consistent with the policy. 
                                                           
12 Report of the Board on Electricity Distributors’ Deferral and Variance Account Review Initiative (July 31, 2009) 
13 Ibid page 2 
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The OEB expects the applicant to apply two tests to evaluate whether mitigation 
(generally a lengthening of the transition period) for customers in the transition is 
required. The first test is to calculate the change in the monthly fixed charge, and to 
consider mitigation if it exceeds $4. The second is to calculate the total bill impact of the 
proposals in the application for low volume residential customers (defined as those 
residential RPP customers whose consumption is at the 10th percentile for the class). 
Mitigation may be required if the bill impact related to the application exceeds 10% for 
these customers. 

West Coast Huron Energy’s implementation of the transition results in an increase to 
the fixed charge prior to the price cap adjustment of $3.72. The bill impacts arising from 
the proposals in this application, including the fixed rate change, are below 10% for low 
volume residential customers.  

Findings 

The OEB finds that the proposed 2017 increase to the monthly fixed charge is in 
accordance with the OEB's residential rate design policy. The results of the monthly 
fixed charge, and total bill impact for low consumption residential consumers show that 
no mitigation is required. The OEB approves the increase as proposed by the applicant 
and calculated in the final rate model. 

 

10  IMPLEMENTATION AND ORDER 
Rate Model 

This Decision and Rate Order is accompanied by a rate model, applicable supporting 
models and a Tariff of Rates and Charges (Schedule A). Entries in the models were 
reviewed to ensure that they are in accordance with West Coast Huron Energy’s EB-
2012-0275 cost of service decision, and that the 2016 OEB-approved Tariff of Rates 
and Charges as well as the cost, revenue and consumption results from 2015 are as 
reported by West Coast Huron Energy to the OEB. The rate model was adjusted, where 
applicable, to correct any discrepancies. 
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THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD ORDERS THAT 

1. The Tariff of Rates and Charges set out in Schedule A of this Decision and Rate 
Order is approved effective May 1, 2017 for electricity consumed or estimated to 
have been consumed on and after such date. West Coast Huron Energy Inc. shall 
notify its customers of the rate changes no later than the delivery of the first bill 
reflecting the new rates. 

 

ADDRESS 

Ontario Energy Board 
P.O. Box 2319 
2300 Yonge Street, 27th Floor 
Toronto ON   M4P 1E4 
Attention: Board Secretary 
 

E-mail: boardsec@oeb.ca 
Tel: 1-888-632-6273 (Toll free) 
Fax: 416-440-7656 
 

DATED at Toronto, March 30, 2017 

ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD 

Original Signed By 

 

Kirsten Walli  
Board Secretary 

mailto:boardsec@oeb.ca


 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Schedule A 
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Tariff of Rates and Charges 

OEB File No:  EB-2016-0112 
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$ 25.65

$ 0.80

$ 1.17

$ 0.79

$/kWh 0.0116

$/kWh 0.0067

$/kWh 0.0058

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0021

$ 0.25

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)

Distribution Volumetric Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Rate Rider for Recovery of Stranded Meter Assets - effective until August 31, 2017

Rate Rider for Recovery of Storm Damage Costs - effective until August 31, 2017

Rate Rider for Smart Metering Entity Charge - effective until October 31, 2018

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

RESIDENTIAL SERVICE CLASSIFICATION
This classification refers to the supply of electrical energy to customers residing in residential dwelling units. Class B 

consumers are defined in accordance with O. Reg. 429/04. Further servicing details are available in the distributor's 

Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 

the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to the 

administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 

for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 

Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 

Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 

Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 

RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 

market participant.

West Coast Huron Energy Inc.
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2017
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors

EB-2016-0112

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 

by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 

Adjustment and the HST.

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge

Issued March 30, 2017
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West Coast Huron Energy Inc.
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2017
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors

EB-2016-0112

$ 32.17

$ 2.05

$ 3.02

$ 0.79

$/kWh 0.0110

$/kWh 0.0061

$/kWh 0.0051

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0021

$ 0.25

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge

Rate Rider for Recovery of Stranded Meter Assets - effective until August 31, 2017

Rate Rider for Recovery of Storm Damage Costs - effective until August 31, 2017

Rate Rider for Smart Metering Entity Charge - effective until October 31, 2018

Distribution Volumetric Rate

This classification applies to the supply of electrical energy to General Service Buildings requiring a connection with a 

connected load less than 50 kW and, Town Houses and Condominiums described in section 3.1.8 of the distributor's 

Conditions of Service that require centralized bulk metering.  General Service Buildings are defined as buildings that are used 

for purposes other than single family dwellings. Class B consumers are defined in accordance with O. Reg. 429/04. Further 

servicing details are available in the distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 

the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to the 

administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 

for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 

Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 

Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 

Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 

RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 

market participant.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 

by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 

Adjustment and the HST.

GENERAL SERVICE LESS THAN 50 KW SERVICE CLASSIFICATION

Issued March 30, 2017
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West Coast Huron Energy Inc.
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2017
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors

EB-2016-0112

$ 154.18

$ 28.87

$/kW 2.4101

$/kW 2.4325

$/kW 2.0569

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0021

$ 0.25

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 

Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 

RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 

market participant.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 

by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 

Adjustment and the HST.

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge

Rate Rider for Recovery of Storm Damage Costs - effective until August 31, 2017

Distribution Volumetric Rate

GENERAL SERVICE 50 TO 499 KW SERVICE CLASSIFICATION
This classification applies to the supply of electrical energy to General Service Customers requiring a connection with a 

connected load, whose average monthly maximum demand used, for billing purposes, is, or is forecast to be, equal to or 

greater than 50 kW but less than 500 kW. Class B consumers are defined in accordance with O. Reg. 429/04. Further 

servicing details are available in the distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 

the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to the 

administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 

for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 

Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 

Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Issued March 30, 2017
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West Coast Huron Energy Inc.
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2017
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors

EB-2016-0112

$ 1,635.23

$ 188.72

$/kW 1.1222

$/kW 2.5836

$/kW 2.2551

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0021

$ 0.25

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 

Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 

RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 

market participant.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 

by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 

Adjustment and the HST.

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge

Rate Rider for Recovery of Storm Damage Costs - effective until August 31, 2017

Distribution Volumetric Rate

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

The rate rider for the disposition of Global Adjustment is only applicable to non-RPP Class B customers. It is not applicable to 

WMP, customers that transitioned between Class A and Class B during the variance account accumulation period, or to 

customers that were in Class A for the entire period. Customers who transitioned are to be charged or refunded their share of 

the variance disposed through customer specific billing adjustments. This rate rider is to be consistently applied for the entire 

period to the sunset date of the rate rider. In addition, this rate rider is applicable to all new non-RPP Class B customers.

GENERAL SERVICE 500 TO 4,999 KW SERVICE CLASSIFICATION
This classification applies to the supply of electrical energy to General Service Customers requiring a connection with a 

connected load, whose average monthly maximum demand used, for billing purposes, is, or is forecast to be, equal to or 

greater than 500 kW but less than 5,000 kW. Class A and Class B consumers are defined in accordance with O. Reg. 429/04. 

Further servicing details are available in the distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 

the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to the 

administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 

for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 

Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 

Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Issued March 30, 2017
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West Coast Huron Energy Inc.
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2017
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors

EB-2016-0112

$ 9,836.55

$ 985.78

$/kW 1.7707

$/kW 2.8610

$/kW 2.5785

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0021

$ 0.25

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 

Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 

RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 

market participant.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 

by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 

Adjustment and the HST.

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge

Rate Rider for Recovery of Storm Damage Costs - effective until August 31, 2017

Distribution Volumetric Rate

LARGE USE SERVICE CLASSIFICATION
This classification refers to the supply of electrical energy to General Service Customers requiring a connection with a 

connected load or whose average monthly maximum demand used for billing purposes is equal to or greater than, or is 

forecast to be equal to or greater than 5,000 kW. Class A and Class B consumers are defined in accordance with O. Reg. 

429/04. Further servicing details are available in the distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 

the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to the 

administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 

for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 

Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 

Energy Board, or as specified herein.

The rate rider for the disposition of Global Adjustment is only applicable to non-RPP Class B customers. It is not applicable to 

WMP, customers that transitioned between Class A and Class B during the variance account accumulation period, or to 

customers that were in Class A for the entire period. Customers who transitioned are to be charged or refunded their share of 

the variance disposed through customer specific billing adjustments. This rate rider is to be consistently applied for the entire 

period to the sunset date of the rate rider. In addition, this rate rider is applicable to all new non-RPP Class B customers.

Issued March 30, 2017
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West Coast Huron Energy Inc.
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2017
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors

EB-2016-0112

$ 75.26

$ 6.00

$/kWh 0.0668

$/kWh 0.0061

$/kWh 0.0051

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0021

$ 0.25

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 

Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 

RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 

market participant.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 

by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 

Adjustment and the HST.

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge (per connection)

Rate Rider for Recovery of Storm Damage Costs - effective until August 31, 2017

Distribution Volumetric Rate

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

UNMETERED SCATTERED LOAD SERVICE CLASSIFICATION
This classification refers to an account taking electricity at 750 volts or less whose monthly average peak demand is less than, 

or is forecast to be less than, 50 kW and the consumption is unmetered.  Such connections include cable TV power packs, 

bus shelters, telephone booths, traffic lights, railway crossings, decorative street lighting, bill boards, etc.  The level of 

consumption will be agreed to by the distributor and the customer, based on detailed manufacturer information/documentation 

with regard to electrical consumption of unmetered load or periodic monitoring of actual consumption. Class B consumers are 

defined in accordance with O. Reg. 429/04. Further servicing details are available in the distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 

the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to the 

administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 

for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 

Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 

Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Issued March 30, 2017
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West Coast Huron Energy Inc.
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2017
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors

EB-2016-0112

$ 36.89

$ 1.46

$/kW 1.8446

$/kW 1.6233

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0021

$ 0.25

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 

Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 

RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 

market participant.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 

by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 

Adjustment and the HST.

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge (per connection)

Rate Rider for Recovery of Storm Damage Costs - effective until August 31, 2017

SENTINEL LIGHTING SERVICE CLASSIFICATION
This classification refers to accounts that are an unmetered lighting load supplied to a sentinel light. Class B consumers are 

defined in accordance with O. Reg. 429/04. Further servicing details are available in the distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 

the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to the 

administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 

for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 

Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 

Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Issued March 30, 2017
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West Coast Huron Energy Inc.
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2017
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors

EB-2016-0112

$ 4.51

$ 0.16

$/kW 24.6893

$/kW 1.8346

$/kW 1.6233

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0021

$ 0.25

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 

Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 

RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 

market participant.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 

by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 

Adjustment and the HST.

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge (per connection)

Rate Rider for Recovery of Storm Damage Costs - effective until August 31, 2017

Distribution Volumetric Rate

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

STREET LIGHTING SERVICE CLASSIFICATION
This classification applies to an account for roadway lighting with a Municipality, Regional Municipality, Ministry of 

Transportation and private roadway lighting, controlled by photo cells.  The consumption for these customers will be based on 

the calculated connection load times the required lighting times established in the approved Ontario Energy Board street 

lighting load shape template.  Street lighting plant, facilities or equipment owned by the customer are subject to the ESA 

requirements. Class B consumers are defined in accordance with O. Reg. 429/04. Further servicing details are available in the 

distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 

the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to the 

administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 

for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 

Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 

Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Issued March 30, 2017
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West Coast Huron Energy Inc.
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2017
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors

EB-2016-0112

$ 5.40

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 

Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 

RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 

market participant.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 

by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 

Adjustment and the HST.

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge

microFIT SERVICE CLASSIFICATION
This classification applies to an electricity generation facility contracted under the Independant Electricity System Operator's 

microFIT program and connected to the distributor's distribution system.  Further servicing details are available in the 

distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 

the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to the 

administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 

for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 

Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 

Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Issued March 30, 2017
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West Coast Huron Energy Inc.
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2017
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors

EB-2016-0112

ALLOWANCES
$/kW (0.60)

% (1.00)

SPECIFIC SERVICE CHARGES

Customer Administration

$ 15.00

$ 30.00

$ 15.00

$ 30.00

Non-Payment of Account

% 1.50

% 19.56

$ 30.00

$ 65.00

$ 185.00

$ 185.00

Other

$ 22.35

Disconnect/reconnect at pole - during regular hours

Specific charge for access to the power poles - $/pole/year

 (with the exception of wireless attachments) 

Meter dispute charge plus Measurement Canada fees (if meter found correct)

Late payment - per month

Late payment - per annum

Collection of account charge - no disconnection

Disconnect/reconnect at meter - during regular hours

Disconnect/reconnect at meter - after regular hours

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 

the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to the 

administration of this schedule.

No charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be 

made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario 

Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, or as specified herein.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 

by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 

Adjustment and the HST.

Arrears certificate

Account set up charge/change of occupancy charge (plus credit agency costs if applicable)

Special meter reads

Transformer Allowance for Ownership - per kW of billing demand/month

Primary Metering Allowance for transformer losses - applied to measured demand and energy

Issued March 30, 2017
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West Coast Huron Energy Inc.
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2017
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors

EB-2016-0112

RETAIL SERVICE CHARGES (if applicable)

$ 100.00

$ 20.00

$/cust. 0.50

$/cust. 0.30

$/cust. (0.30)

$ 0.25

$ 0.50

$ no charge

$ 2.00

LOSS FACTORS

1.0467

1.0145

1.0362

1.0045

Total Loss Factor - Primary Metered Customer < 5,000 kW

Total Loss Factor - Primary Metered Customer > 5,000 kW

Electronic Business Transaction (EBT) system, applied to the requesting party

Up to twice a year

More than twice a year, per request (plus incremental delivery costs)

If the distributor is not capable of prorating changed loss factors jointly with distribution rates, the revised loss factors will be implemented upon 

the first subsequent billing for each billing cycle.

Total Loss Factor - Secondary Metered Customer < 5,000 kW

Total Loss Factor - Secondary Metered Customer > 5,000 kW

Retailer-consolidated billing monthly credit, per customer, per retailer

Service Transaction Requests (STR)

Request fee, per request, applied to the requesting party

Processing fee, per request, applied to the requesting party

Request for customer information as outlined in Section 10.6.3 and Chapter 11 of the Retail

Settlement Code directly to retailers and customers, if not delivered electronically through the

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 

by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 

Adjustment and the HST.

Retail Service Charges refer to services provided by a distributor to retailers or customers related to the supply of competitive 

electricity.
One-time charge, per retailer, to establish the service agreement between the distributor and the retailer

Monthly fixed charge, per retailer

Monthly variable charge, per customer, per retailer

Distributor-consolidated billing monthly charge, per customer, per retailer

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 

the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to the 

administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 

for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 

Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 

Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 

Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.

Issued March 30, 2017
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To Decision and Rate Order 

List of Rates and Charges Not Affected by the Price Cap or Annual IR Index 

OEB File No:  EB-2016-0112 

DATED:  March 30, 2017 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  



 

 

 
 
 

The following rates and charges are not affected by the Price Cap or Annual IR Index: 
 
• Rate riders 
• Rate adders 
• Low voltage service charges 
• Retail transmission service rates 
• Wholesale market service rate 
• Rural or remote electricity rate protection charge 
• Standard supply service – administrative charge 
• Transformation and primary metering allowances 
• Loss factors 
• Specific service charges 
• microFIT charge 
• Retail service charges 
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$ 29.3700

$/kWh 0.0053

$ 0.7900
Rate Rider for the Disposition of Group 1 Variance Accounts Excluding GA Applicable to 
RPP customers Effective unitl April 30th 2019 $/kWh

0.0008

Rate Rider for the Disposition of Group 1 Variance Accounts GA applicable to Non-RPP 
customers only Effective unitl April 30th 2019 $/kWh

0.0065

Rate Rider for Account 1580 sub-account CBDR Class B Effective until April 30th 2019 $/kWh
0.0003

Rate rider for recovery of LRAM account 1568 Effective until April 30th 2019 $/kWh
0.0007

Rate Rider for the Disposition of Group 2 Variance Accounts  Effective unitl April 30th 
2019

$
0.4700

Rate Rider for the Disposition of CGAAP to IFRS Transition Variance Accounts  Effective 
unitl April 30th 2019

$
(1.4498)

$/kWh 0.0021

$/kWh 0.0053

$/kWh 0.0048

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

Rate Rider for Smart Metering Entity Charge - effective until October 31, 2018

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

Distribution Volumetric Rate

Low Voltage Service Rate

Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2017
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors
EB-2017-0038

RESIDENTIAL SERVICE CLASSIFICATION
This classification refers to the supply of electrical energy to customers residing in residential dwelling units.  Class B 
consumers are defined in in accordance with O. Reg. 429/04. Further servicing details are available in the distributor's 
Conditions of Service.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 
Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 
RATES AND CHARGES -- Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 
market participant.

APPLICATION

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 
for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 
Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 
Energy Board, or as specified herein.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 
by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 
Adjustment and the HST.

Service Charge

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 
the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to the 
administration of this schedule.

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

4.2‐TS Tariff Schedule Page 1
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$/kWh 0.0003

$ 0.25

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)

4.2‐TS Tariff Schedule Page 2
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$ 26.95

$/kWh 0.0175

$/kWh 0.0020

$ 0.79

Rate Rider for the Disposition of Group 1 Variance Accounts Excluding GA Applicable to 
RPP customers Effective unitl April 30th 2019

$/kWh
0.0010

Rate Rider for the Disposition of Group 1 Variance Accounts GA applicable to Non-RPP 
customers only Effective unitl April 30th 2019 $/kWh

0.0065

Rate Rider for Account 1580 sub-account CBDR Class B Effective until April 30th 2019 $/kWh
0.0003

Rate rider for recovery of LRAM account 1568 Effective until April 30th 2019 $/kWh
0.0019

Rate Rider for the Disposition of Group 2 Variance Accounts  Effective unitl April 30th 
2019

$/kWh
0.0007

Rate Rider for the Disposition of CGAAP to IFRS Transition Variance Accounts  Effective 
unitl April 30th 2019

$/kWh
-0.0022

$/kWh 0.0050

$/kWh 0.0045

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0003

$ 0.25

Rate Rider for Smart Metering Entity Charge - effective until October 31, 2018

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

Service Charge

Low Voltage Service Rate

GENERAL SERVICE LESS THAN 50 KW SERVICE CLASSIFICATION

This classification refers to the supply of electrical energy to General Service buildings requiring a connection with a connected 
load less than 50 kW, and, Town Houses and Condominiums described in section 3.1.9 of the Distributor's Conditions of 
Service that require centralized bulk metering.  General Service buildings are defined as buildings that are used for purposes 
other than single family dwellings. Class B consumers are defined in in accordance with O. Reg. 429/04. Further servicing 
details are available in the distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 
the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to the 
administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 
for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 
Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 
Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 
Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 
RATES AND CHARGES -- Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 
market participant.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 
by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 
Adjustment and the HST.

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Distribution Volumetric Rate

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)
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$ 82.28

$/kW 2.0674

$/kW 0.7099

$ 0.79

Rate Rider for the Disposition of Group 1 Variance Accounts Excluding GA Applicable to 
RPP customers Effective unitl April 30th 2019

$/kW
0.5968

Rate Rider for the Disposition of Group 1 Variance Accounts GA applicable to Non-RPP 
customers only Effective unitl April 30th 2019

$/kWh
0.0065

Rate Rider for Account 1580 sub-account CBDR Class B Effective until April 30th 2019
$/kW

0.1124

Rate rider for recovery of LRAM account 1568 Effective until April 30th 2019 $/kW
0.1663

Rate Rider for the Disposition of Group 2 Variance Accounts  Effective unitl April 30th 
2019 $/kW

0.2909
Rate Rider for the Disposition of CGAAP to IFRS Transition Variance Accounts  Effective 
unitl April 30th 2019 $/kW

-0.8988

$/kW 2.2471

$/kW 1.6037

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0003

$ 0.25

Rate Rider for Smart Metering Entity Charge - effective until October 31, 2018

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 
Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 
RATES AND CHARGES -- Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 
market participant.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 
by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 
Adjustment and the HST.

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

Distribution Volumetric Rate

Low Voltage Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)

GENERAL SERVICE 50 TO 999 KW SERVICE CLASSIFICATION

APPLICATION

This classification refers to the supply of electrical energy to General Service customers requiring a connection with a 
connected load, or whose average monthly maximum demand used for billing purposes, is equal to or greater than 50 kW but 
less than 1000 kW. Class B consumers are defined in in accordance with O. Reg. 429/04. Further servicing details are 
available in the distributor's Conditions of Service.

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 
the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to the 
administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 
for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 
Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 
Energy Board, or as specified herein.
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$ 2,537.23

$/kW 2.5270

$/kW 0.7635

$ 0.79
Rate Rider for the Disposition of Group 1 Variance Accounts Excluding GA Applicable to 
RPP customers Effective unitl April 30th 2019 $/kWh

0.1511
Rate Rider for the Disposition of Group 1 Variance Accounts GA applicable to Non-RPP 
customers only Effective unitl April 30th 2019 $/kWh

0.0065

Rate Rider for Account 1580 sub-account CBDR Class B Effective until April 30th 2019 $/kW
0.0786

Rate rider for recovery of LRAM account 1568 Effective until April 30th 2019 $/kW
0.6700

Rate Rider for the Disposition of Group 2 Variance Accounts  Effective unitl April 30th 
2019 $/kW

0.2035
Rate Rider for the Disposition of CGAAP to IFRS Transition Variance Accounts  Effective 
unitl April 30th 2019 $/kW

-0.6287

$/kW 2.4394

$/kW 1.7180

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0003

Rate Rider for Smart Metering Entity Charge - effective until October 31, 2018

The rate rider for the disposition of Global Adjustment is only applicable to non-RPP Class B customers. It is not applicable to 
WMP, customers that transitioned between Class A and Class B during the variance account accumulation period, or to 
customers that were in Class A for the entire period. Customers who transitioned are to be charged or refunded their share of 
the variance disposed through customer specific billing adjustments. This rate rider is to be consistently applied for the entire 
period to the sunset date of the rate rider. In addition, this rate rider is applicable to all new non-RPP Class B customers.

GENERAL SERVICE 1,000 TO 4,999 KW SERVICE CLASSIFICATION

APPLICATION

This classification refers to the supply of electrical energy to General Service Customers requiring a connection with a 
connected load or whose average monthly maximum demand used for billing purposes is equal to or greater than 1000 kW but 
less than 5000 kW determined on a Gross Load Basis. Class A and Class B consumers are defined in in accordance with O. 
Reg. 429/04. Further servicing details are available in the distributor's Conditions of Service. For those customers who install 
behind the meter generation they will be billed on a Gross Load basis for the distribution variable charge.

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 
the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to the 
administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 
for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 
Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 
Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 
Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 
RATES AND CHARGES -- Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 
market participant.

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 
by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 
Adjustment and the HST.

Service Charge

Distribution Volumetric Rate

Low Voltage Service Rate

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate
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$ 0.25Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)
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$ 10,362.66

$/kW 2.5716

$/kW 0.0733

$ 0.79
Rate Rider for the Disposition of Group 1 Variance Accounts Excluding GA Applicable to 
RPP customers Effective unitl April 30th 2019 $/kW

0.4350

Rate rider for recovery of LRAM account 1568 Effective until April 30th 2019 $/kW
0.5789

Rate Rider for the Disposition of Group 2 Variance Accounts  Effective unitl April 30th 
2019 $/kW

0.4303
Rate Rider for the Disposition of CGAAP to IFRS Transition Variance Accounts  Effective 
unitl April 30th 2019 $/kW

-1.3296

$/kW 2.7042

$/kW 1.9488

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0003

$ 0.25

Rate Rider for Smart Metering Entity Charge - effective until October 31, 2018

Service Charge

Distribution Volumetric Rate

This classification refers to the supply of electrical energy to General Service Customers requiring a connection with a 
connected load or whose average monthly maximum demand used for billing purposes is equal to or greater than, or is forecast 
to be equal to or great than, 5000 kW. Class A and Class B consumers are defined in in accordance with O. Reg. 429/04. 
Further servicing details are available in the distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 
the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to the 
administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 
for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 
Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 
Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 
Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 
RATES AND CHARGES -- Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 
market participant.

LARGE USE SERVICE CLASSIFICATION

The rate rider for the disposition of Global Adjustment is only applicable to non-RPP Class B customers. It is not applicable to 
WMP, customers that transitioned between Class A and Class B during the variance account accumulation period, or to 
customers that were in Class A for the entire period. Customers who transitioned are to be charged or refunded their share of 
the variance disposed through customer specific billing adjustments. This rate rider is to be consistently applied for the entire 
period to the sunset date of the rate rider. In addition, this rate rider is applicable to all new non-RPP Class B customers.

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 
by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 
Adjustment and the HST.

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

Low Voltage Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 
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$ 2.10

$/kWh 0.0749

$/kWh 0.0020

$ 0.79
Rate Rider for the Disposition of Group 1 Variance Accounts Excluding GA Applicable to 
RPP customers Effective unitl April 30th 2019 $/kWh

-0.0007
Rate Rider for the Disposition of Group 1 Variance Accounts GA applicable to Non-RPP 
customers only Effective unitl April 30th 2019 $/kWh

0.0065

Rate Rider for Account 1580 sub-account CBDR Class B Effective until April 30th 2019 $/kWh
0.0003

Rate Rider for the Disposition of Group 2 Variance Accounts  Effective unitl April 30th 
2019 $/kWh

0.0007
Rate Rider for the Disposition of CGAAP to IFRS Transition Variance Accounts  Effective 
unitl April 30th 2019 $/kWh

-0.0022

$/kWh 0.0050

$/kWh 0.0045

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0003

$ 0.25

Rate Rider for Smart Metering Entity Charge - effective until October 31, 2018

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)

UNMETERED SCATTERED LOAD SERVICE CLASSIFICATION

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

This classification refers to an account taking electricity at 750 volts or less whose average monthly peak demand is less than, 
or is forecast to be less than, 50 kW and the consumption is unmetered. Such connections include cable TV power packs, bus 
shelters, telephone booths, traffic lights, railway crossings, etc. The level of consumption will be agreed to by the distributor and 
the customer, based on detailed manufacturer information/documentation with regard to electrical consumption of unmetered 
load or periodic monitoring of actual consumption. Class B consumers are defined in in accordance with O. Reg. 429/04. 
Further servicing details are available in the distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 
for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 
Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 
Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 
Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable. In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 
RATES AND CHARGES -- Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 
market participant.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 
by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 
Adjustment and the HST.

Low Voltage Service Rate

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 
the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to the 
administration of this schedule.

Service Charge

Distribution Volumetric Rate
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$ 12.31

$/kWh 0.0893

$/kWh 0.0018

$ 0.79
Rate Rider for the Disposition of Group 1 Variance Accounts Excluding GA Applicable to 
RPP customers Effective unitl April 30th 2019 $/kWh

-0.0007
Rate Rider for the Disposition of Group 1 Variance Accounts GA applicable to Non-RPP 
customers only Effective unitl April 30th 2019 $/kWh

0.0065

Rate Rider for Account 1580 sub-account CBDR Class B Effective until April 30th 2019 $/kWh
0.0003

Rate Rider for the Disposition of Group 2 Variance Accounts  Effective unitl April 30th 
2019 $/kWh

0.0007
Rate Rider for the Disposition of CGAAP to IFRS Transition Variance Accounts  Effective 
unitl April 30th 2019 $/kWh

-0.0022

$/kW 1.7345

$/kW 1.2337

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0003

$ 0.25

Rate Rider for Smart Metering Entity Charge - effective until October 31, 2018

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)

Service Charge (per connection)

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 
for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 
Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 
Energy Board, or as specified herein.

SENTINEL LIGHTING SERVICE CLASSIFICATION
This classification refers to accounts that are an unmetered lighting load supplied to a sentinel light. Class B consumers are 
defined in in accordance with O. Reg. 429/04. Further servicing details are available in the distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 
the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to the 
administration of this schedule.

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Distribution Volumetric Rate

Low Voltage Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 
Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 
RATES AND CHARGES -- Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 
market participant.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 
by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 
Adjustment and the HST.

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component
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$ 2.25

$/kW 13.1162

$/kW 0.5482

$ 0.79
Rate Rider for the Disposition of Group 1 Variance Accounts Excluding GA Applicable to 
RPP customers Effective unitl April 30th 2019 $/kW

0.4878
Rate Rider for the Disposition of Group 1 Variance Accounts GA applicable to Non-RPP 
customers only Effective unitl April 30th 2019 $/kWh

0.0065

Rate Rider for Account 1580 sub-account CBDR Class B Effective until April 30th 2019 $/kW
0.0980

Rate rider for recovery of LRAM account 1568 Effective until April 30th 2019 $/kW
-19.0371

Rate Rider for the Disposition of Group 2 Variance Accounts  Effective unitl April 30th 
2019 $/kW

0.2537
Rate Rider for the Disposition of CGAAP to IFRS Transition Variance Accounts  Effective 
unitl April 30th 2019 $/kW

-0.7839

$/kW 1.7345

$/kW 2.0391

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0003

$ 0.25

Rate Rider for Smart Metering Entity Charge - effective until October 31, 2018

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 
for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 
Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 
Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 
Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 
RATES AND CHARGES -- Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 
market participant.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 
by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 
Adjustment and the HST.

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

Distribution Volumetric Rate

Low Voltage Service Rate

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Service Charge (per connection)

STREET LIGHTING SERVICE CLASSIFICATION
This Classification refers to an account for roadway lighting with a Municipality, Regional Municipality, Ministry of Transportation 
and private roadway lighting, controlled by photo cells. The consumption for these customers will be based on the calculated 
connection load times the required lighting times established in the approved Ontario Energy Board street lighting load shape 
template. Class B consumers are defined in in accordance with O. Reg. 429/04. Further servicing details are available in the 
distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 
the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to the 
administration of this schedule.

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)
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$ 978.34

$/kW 1.6829

$ 0.79

Rate Rider for the Disposition of Group 1 Variance Accounts Excluding GA Applicable to 
RPP customers Effective unitl April 30th 2019 $/kW

0.2881

Rate Rider for the Disposition of Group 1 Variance Accounts GA applicable to Non-RPP 
customers only Effective unitl April 30th 2019 $/kWh

0.0065

Rate Rider for Account 1580 sub-account CBDR Class B Effective until April 30th 2019 $/kW
0.1207

Rate rider for recovery of LRAM account 1568 Effective until April 30th 2019 $/kW -0.0324
Rate Rider for the Disposition of Group 2 Variance Accounts  Effective unitl April 30th 
2019 $/kW

0.3125

Rate Rider for the Disposition of CGAAP to IFRS Transition Variance Accounts  Effective 
unitl April 30th 2019 $/kW

0.9656

$/kW 3.2635

$/kW 2.2657

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0021

$ 0.25

Rate Rider for Smart Metering Entity Charge - effective until October 31, 2018

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge

Distribution Volumetric Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - Not including CBR

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers

EMBEDDED DISTRIBUTOR SERVICE CLASSIFICATION
This classification refers to an electricity distributor licensed by the Ontario Energy Board that is provided electricity by means of 
this distributors' facilities. Further servicing details are available in the distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 
the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to the 
administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 
for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 
Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 
Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 
Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 
RATES AND CHARGES -- Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 
market participant.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 
by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 
Adjustment and the HST.

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)
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$ 5.40

microFIT SERVICE CLASSIFICATION
This classification applies to an electricity generation facility contracted under the Independent Electricity System Operator's 
microFIT program and connected to the distributor's distribution system. Further servicing details are available in the 
distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 
the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to the 
administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 
for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 
Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 
Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 
Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 
by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 
Adjustment and the HST.

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge
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ALLOWANCES
$/kW (0.60)

% (1.00)

Transformer Allowance for Ownership - per kW of billing demand/month

Primary Metering Allowance for Transformer Losses - applied to measured demand & energy
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SPECIFIC SERVICE CHARGES

Customer Administration

$ 15.00

$ 15.00

$ 15.00

$ 15.00

$ 30.00

$ 30.00

$ 30.00

Non-Payment of Account

% 1.50

% 19.56

$ 30.00

$ 165.00

$ 65.00

$ 185.00

$ 185.00

Other

$ 500.00

$ 300.00

$ 22.35

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 
the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to the 
administration of this schedule.

No charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be 
made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario 
Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, or as specified herein.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 
by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 
Adjustment and the HST.

Arrears certificate

Easement Letter

Credit reference/credit check (plus credit agency costs)

Returned Cheque (plus bank charges)

Account set up charge/change of occupancy charge (plus credit agency costs if applicable)

Special meter reads

Meter dispute charge plus Measurement Canada fees (if meter found correct)

Late Payment - per month

Late Payment - per annum

Collection of account charge - no disconnection - during regular business hours

Collection of account charge - no disconnection - after regular hours

Disconnect/Reconnect at Meter - during regular hours

Disconnect/Reconnect at Meter - after regular hours

Disconnect/Reconnect at Pole - during regular hours

Temporary service - install & remove - overhead - no transformer

Temporary service - install & remove - underground - no transformer

Specific charge for access to the power poles - $/pole/year

(with the exception of wireless attachments)
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RETAIL SERVICE CHARGES (if applicable)

$ 100.00

$ 20.00

$/cust. 0.50

$/cust. 0.30

$/cust. (0.30)

$ 0.25

$ 0.50

$ no charge

$ 2.00

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order of 
the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to the 
administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 
for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 
Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 
Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 
Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 
by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 
Adjustment and the HST.

Retail Service Charges refer to services provided by a distributor to retailers or customers related to the supply of competitive 
electricity.

One-time charge, per retailer, to establish the service agreement between the distributor and the retailer

Monthly Fixed Charge, per retailer

Monthly Variable Charge, per customer, per retailer

Distributor-consolidated billing monthly charge, per customer, per retailer

Retailer-consolidated billing monthly credit, per customer, per retailer

Service Transaction Requests (STR)

Request fee, per request, applied to the requesting party

Processing fee, per request, applied to the requesting party

Request for customer information as outlined in Section 10.6.3 and Chapter 11 of the Retail

Settlement Code directly to retailers and customers, if not delivered electronically through the

Electronic Business Transaction (EBT) system, applied to the requesting party

Up to twice a year

More than twice a year, per request (plus incremental delivery costs)
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LOSS FACTORS

1.0338

1.0142

1.0380

1.0042

Total Loss Factor - Secondary Metered Customer > 5,000 kW

Total Loss Factor - Primary Metered Customer < 5,000 kW

Total Loss Factor - Primary Metered Customer > 5,000 kW

If the distributor is not capable of prorating changed loss factors jointly with distribution rates, the revised loss factors will be implemented upon 
the first subsequent billing for each billing cycle.

Total Loss Factor - Secondary Metered Customer < 5,000 kW
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$ 29.77

$ 0.79

$/kWh 0.0059

$/kWh 0.0022

$/kWh (0.0031)

$/kWh 0.0068

$/kWh 0.0058

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0003

$ 0.25

West Coast Huron Energy Inc.
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2018
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors
EB-2017-0083

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 
by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 
Adjustment and the HST.

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge

Rate Rider for Smart Metering Entity Charge - effective until October 31, 2018

Distribution Volumetric Rate
Rate Rider for Disposition of Global Adjustment Account (2018) - effective until April 30, 2019
      Applicable only for Non-RPP Customers

RESIDENTIAL SERVICE CLASSIFICATION
This classification refers to the supply of electrical energy to customers residing in residential dwelling units. Class B 
consumers are defined in accordance with O. Reg. 429/04. Further servicing details are available in the distributor's 
Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order 
of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to 
the administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 
for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 
Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 
Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 
Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 
RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 
market participant.

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)

Rate Rider for Disposition of Deferral/Variance Accounts (2018) - effective until April 30, 2019

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 



West Coast Huron Energy Inc.
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2018
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors
EB-2017-0083

$ 32.59

$ 0.79

$/kWh 0.0111

$/kWh 0.0022

$/kWh (0.0031)

$/kWh 0.0062

$/kWh 0.0051

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0003

$ 0.25

GENERAL SERVICE LESS THAN 50 KW SERVICE CLASSIFICATION
This classification applies to the supply of electrical energy to General Service Buildings requiring a connection with a 
connected load less than 50 kW and, Town Houses and Condominiums described in section 3.1.8 of the distributor's 
Conditions of Service that require centralized bulk metering.  General Service Buildings are defined as buildings that are used 
for purposes other than single family dwellings. Class B consumers are defined in accordance with O. Reg. 429/04. Further 
servicing details are available in the distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order 
of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to 
the administration of this schedule.

Distribution Volumetric Rate
Rate Rider for Disposition of Global Adjustment Account (2018) - effective until April 30, 2019
      Applicable only for Non-RPP Customers

Rate Rider for Disposition of Deferral/Variance Accounts (2018) - effective until April 30, 2019

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 
for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 
Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 
Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 
Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 
RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 
market participant.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 
by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 
Adjustment and the HST.

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge

Rate Rider for Smart Metering Entity Charge - effective until October 31, 2018

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)



West Coast Huron Energy Inc.
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2018
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors
EB-2017-0083

$ 156.18

$/kW 2.4414

$/kWh 0.0022

$/kW (1.0320)

$/kW 2.4759

$/kW 2.0412

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0003

$ 0.25

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order 
of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to 
the administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 
for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 
Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 
Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 
Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 
RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 
market participant.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 
by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 
Adjustment and the HST.

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

GENERAL SERVICE 50 TO 499 KW SERVICE CLASSIFICATION
This classification applies to the supply of electrical energy to General Service Customers requiring a connection with a 
connected load, whose average monthly maximum demand used, for billing purposes, is, or is forecast to be, equal to or 
greater than 50 kW but less than 500 kW. Class B consumers are defined in accordance with O. Reg. 429/04. Further 
servicing details are available in the distributor's Conditions of Service.

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)

Service Charge

Distribution Volumetric Rate
Rate Rider for Disposition of Global Adjustment Account (2018) - effective until April 30, 2019
      Applicable only for Non-RPP Customers

Rate Rider for Disposition of Deferral/Variance Accounts (2018) - effective until April 30, 2019

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate



West Coast Huron Energy Inc.
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2018
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors
EB-2017-0083

$ 1,656.49

$/kW 1.1368

$/kWh 0.0022

$/kW (1.3396)

$/kW 2.6297

$/kW 2.2379

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0003

$ 0.25

GENERAL SERVICE 500 TO 4,999 KW SERVICE CLASSIFICATION

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 
by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 
Adjustment and the HST.

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge

Distribution Volumetric Rate
Rate Rider for Disposition of Global Adjustment Account (2018) - effective until April 30, 2019
      Applicable only for Non-RPP Customers

Rate Rider for Disposition of Deferral/Variance Accounts (2018) - effective until April 30, 2019

This classification applies to the supply of electrical energy to General Service Customers requiring a connection with a 
connected load, whose average monthly maximum demand used, for billing purposes, is, or is forecast to be, equal to or 
greater than 500 kW but less than 5,000 kW. Class A and Class B consumers are defined in accordance with O. Reg. 429/04. 
Further servicing details are available in the distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order 
of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to 
the administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 
for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 
Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 
Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 
Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 
RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 
market participant.

The rate rider for the disposition of Global Adjustment is only applicable to non-RPP Class B customers. It is not applicable to 
WMP, customers that transitioned between Class A and Class B during the variance account accumulation period, or to 
customers that were in Class A for the entire period. Customers who transitioned are to be charged or refunded their share of 
the variance disposed through customer specific billing adjustments. This rate rider is to be consistently applied for the entire 
period to the sunset date of the rate rider. In addition, this rate rider is applicable to all new non-RPP Class B customers.

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)



West Coast Huron Energy Inc.
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2018
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors
EB-2017-0083

$ 9,964.43

$/kW 1.7937

$/kW (0.1168)

$/kW 2.9121

$/kW 2.5588

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0003

$ 0.25

LARGE USE SERVICE CLASSIFICATION
This classification refers to the supply of electrical energy to General Service Customers requiring a connection with a 
connected load or whose average monthly maximum demand used for billing purposes is equal to or greater than, or is 
forecast to be equal to or greater than 5,000 kW. Class A and Class B consumers are defined in accordance with O. Reg. 
429/04. Further servicing details are available in the distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order 
of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to 
the administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 
for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 
Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 
Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Rate Rider for Disposition of Deferral/Variance Accounts (2018) - effective until April 30, 2019

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 
Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 
RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 
market participant.

The rate rider for the disposition of Global Adjustment is only applicable to non-RPP Class B customers. It is not applicable to 
WMP, customers that transitioned between Class A and Class B during the variance account accumulation period, or to 
customers that were in Class A for the entire period. Customers who transitioned are to be charged or refunded their share of 
the variance disposed through customer specific billing adjustments. This rate rider is to be consistently applied for the entire 
period to the sunset date of the rate rider. In addition, this rate rider is applicable to all new non-RPP Class B customers.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 
by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 
Adjustment and the HST.

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge

Distribution Volumetric Rate

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)



West Coast Huron Energy Inc.
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2018
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors
EB-2017-0083

$ 76.24

$/kWh 0.0677

$/kWh (0.0030)

$/kWh 0.0062

$/kWh 0.0051

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0003

$ 0.25

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 
for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 
Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 
Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 
Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 
RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 
market participant.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 
by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 
Adjustment and the HST.

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge (per connection)

Distribution Volumetric Rate

UNMETERED SCATTERED LOAD SERVICE CLASSIFICATION
This classification refers to an account taking electricity at 750 volts or less whose monthly average peak demand is less 
than, or is forecast to be less than, 50 kW and the consumption is unmetered.  Such connections include cable TV power 
packs, bus shelters, telephone booths, traffic lights, railway crossings, decorative street lighting, bill boards, etc.  The level of 
consumption will be agreed to by the distributor and the customer, based on detailed manufacturer information/documentation 
with regard to electrical consumption of unmetered load or periodic monitoring of actual consumption. Class B consumers are 
defined in accordance with O. Reg. 429/04. Further servicing details are available in the distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order 
of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to 
the administration of this schedule.

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)

Rate Rider for Disposition of Deferral/Variance Accounts (2018) - effective until April 30, 2019

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 



West Coast Huron Energy Inc.
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2018
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors
EB-2017-0083

$ 37.37

$/kW (1.3832)

$/kW 1.8763

$/kW 1.6119

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0003

$ 0.25

SENTINEL LIGHTING SERVICE CLASSIFICATION
This classification refers to accounts that are an unmetered lighting load supplied to a sentinel light. Class B consumers are 
defined in accordance with O. Reg. 429/04. Further servicing details are available in the distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order 
of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to 
the administration of this schedule.

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 
for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 
Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 
Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 
Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 
RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 
market participant.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 
by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 
Adjustment and the HST.

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge (per connection)

Rate Rider for Disposition of Deferral/Variance Accounts (2018) - effective until April 30, 2019

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)



West Coast Huron Energy Inc.
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2018
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors
EB-2017-0083

$ 4.57

$/kW 25.0103

$/kWh 0.0022

$/kW (1.3400)

$/kW 1.8674

$/kW 1.6109

$/kWh 0.0032

$/kWh 0.0004

$/kWh 0.0003

$ 0.25

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 
Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 
RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 
market participant.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 
by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 
Adjustment and the HST.

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge (per connection)

Distribution Volumetric Rate
Rate Rider for Disposition of Global Adjustment Account (2018) - effective until April 30, 2019
      Applicable only for Non-RPP Customers

STREET LIGHTING SERVICE CLASSIFICATION
This classification applies to an account for roadway lighting with a Municipality, Regional Municipality, Ministry of 
Transportation and private roadway lighting, controlled by photo cells.  The consumption for these customers will be based on 
the calculated connection load times the required lighting times established in the approved Ontario Energy Board street 
lighting load shape template.  Street lighting plant, facilities or equipment owned by the customer are subject to the ESA 
requirements. Class B consumers are defined in accordance with O. Reg. 429/04. Further servicing details are available in 
the distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order 
of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to 
the administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 
for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 
Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 
Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Rural or Remote Electricity Rate Protection Charge (RRRP)

Standard Supply Service - Administrative Charge (if applicable)

Rate Rider for Disposition of Deferral/Variance Accounts (2018) - effective until April 30, 2019

Retail Transmission Rate - Network Service Rate

Retail Transmission Rate - Line and Transformation Connection Service Rate

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component

Wholesale Market Service Rate (WMS) - not including CBR

Capacity Based Recovery (CBR) - Applicable for Class B Customers 



West Coast Huron Energy Inc.
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2018
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors
EB-2017-0083

$ 5.40

microFIT SERVICE CLASSIFICATION
This classification applies to an electricity generation facility contracted under the Independant Electricity System Operator's 
microFIT program and connected to the distributor's distribution system.  Further servicing details are available in the 
distributor's Conditions of Service.

APPLICATION

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order 
of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to 
the administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 
for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 
Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 
Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 
Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.  In addition, the charges in the MONTHLY 
RATES AND CHARGES - Regulatory Component of this schedule do not apply to a customer that is an embedded wholesale 
market participant.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 
by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 
Adjustment and the HST.

MONTHLY RATES AND CHARGES - Delivery Component

Service Charge



West Coast Huron Energy Inc.
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2018
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors
EB-2017-0083

ALLOWANCES
$/kW (0.60)

% (1.00)Primary Metering Allowance for Transformer Losses - applied to measured demand & energy

Transformer Allowance for Ownership - per kW of billing demand/month



West Coast Huron Energy Inc.
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2018
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors
EB-2017-0083

SPECIFIC SERVICE CHARGES

Customer Administration
$ 15.00

$ 30.00

$ 15.00

$ 30.00

Non-Payment of Account
% 1.50

% 19.56

$ 30.00

$ 65.00

$ 185.00

$ 185.00

Other
$ 22.35

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order 
of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to 
the administration of this schedule.

No charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be 
made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario 
Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, or as specified herein.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 
by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 
Adjustment and the HST.

Arrears certificate

Account set up charge/change of occupancy charge (plus credit agency costs if applicable)

Disconnect/Reconnect at Meter - after regular hours

Disconnect/Reconnect at Pole - during regular hours

Specific charge for access to the power poles - $/pole/year

 (with the exception of wireless attachments) 

Special meter reads

Meter dispute charge plus Measurement Canada fees (if meter found correct)

Late Payment - per month

Late Payment - per annum

Collection of account charge - no disconnection

Disconnect/Reconnect at Meter - during regular hours



West Coast Huron Energy Inc.
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2018
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors
EB-2017-0083

RETAIL SERVICE CHARGES (if applicable)

$ 100.00

$ 20.00

$/cust. 0.50

$/cust. 0.30

$/cust. (0.30)

$ 0.25

$ 0.50

$ no charge

$ 2.00

The application of these rates and charges shall be in accordance with the Licence of the Distributor and any Code or Order 
of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario Energy Board, which may be applicable to 
the administration of this schedule.

No rates and charges for the distribution of electricity and charges to meet the costs of any work or service done or furnished 
for the purpose of the distribution of electricity shall be made except as permitted by this schedule, unless required by the 
Distributor’s Licence or a Code or Order of the Ontario Energy Board, and amendments thereto as approved by the Ontario 
Energy Board, or as specified herein.

Distributor-consolidated billing monthly charge, per customer, per retailer

Retailer-consolidated billing monthly credit, per customer, per retailer

Service Transaction Requests (STR)

Request fee, per request, applied to the requesting party

Processing fee, per request, applied to the requesting party

Request for customer information as outlined in Section 10.6.3 and Chapter 11 of the Retail

Unless specifically noted, this schedule does not contain any charges for the electricity commodity, be it under the Regulated 
Price Plan, a contract with a retailer or the wholesale market price, as applicable.

It should be noted that this schedule does not list any charges, assessments, or credits that are required by law to be invoiced 
by a distributor and that are not subject to Ontario Energy Board approval, such as the Debt Retirement Charge, the Global 
Adjustment and the HST.

Retail Service Charges refer to services provided by a distributor to retailers or customers related to the supply of competitive 
electricity.
One-time charge, per retailer, to establish the service agreement between the distributor and the retailer

Monthly Fixed Charge, per retailer

Monthly Variable Charge, per customer, per retailer

Settlement Code directly to retailers and customers, if not delivered electronically through the

Electronic Business Transaction (EBT) system, applied to the requesting party

Up to twice a year

More than twice a year, per request (plus incremental delivery costs)



West Coast Huron Energy Inc.
TARIFF OF RATES AND CHARGES

Effective and Implementation Date May 1, 2018
This schedule supersedes and replaces all previously

approved schedules of Rates, Charges and Loss Factors
EB-2017-0083

LOSS FACTORS

1.0467

1.0145

1.0362

1.0045

Total Loss Factor - Secondary Metered Customer > 5,000 kW

Total Loss Factor - Primary Metered Customer < 5,000 kW

Total Loss Factor - Primary Metered Customer > 5,000 kW

If the distributor is not capable of prorating changed loss factors jointly with distribution rates, the revised loss factors will be implemented 
upon the first subsequent billing for each billing cycle.
Total Loss Factor - Secondary Metered Customer < 5,000 kW
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